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                                 PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
                                                 MCGRATH RENTCORP 
                                       CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
                                                   (unaudited) 
 
 
 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
                                                           THREE MONTHS ENDED          NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 
                                                              SEPTEMBER 30,                        30, 
                                                      ----------------------------    ---------------------------- 
                                                          1998            1997            1998             1997 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
                                                                                                    
REVENUES 
   Rental                                             $ 18,385,026    $ 16,067,741    $ 52,705,894    $ 45,138,552 
   Rental Related Services                               4,061,774       3,357,762       9,011,659       8,131,644 
                                                      ------------    ------------    ------------    ------------ 
     Rental Operations                                  22,446,800      19,425,503      61,717,553      53,270,196 
   Sales                                                21,787,334      25,675,496      42,973,129      51,621,927 
   Other                                                   244,360         251,130         612,450         760,524 
                                                      ------------    ------------    ------------    ------------ 
            Total Revenues                              44,478,494      45,352,129     105,303,132     105,652,647 
                                                      ------------    ------------    ------------    ------------ 
 
COSTS AND EXPENSES 
   Direct Costs of Rental Operations 
     Depreciation                                        4,617,674       3,649,571      12,274,597      10,537,344 
     Rental Related Services                             1,942,766       1,638,057       5,151,252       4,875,059 
     Other                                               3,655,957       2,649,772      10,216,041       7,494,923 
                                                      ------------    ------------    ------------    ------------ 
           Total Direct Costs of Rental Operations      10,216,397       7,937,400      27,641,890      22,907,326 
   Costs of Sales                                       15,580,968      17,878,601      29,553,147      35,533,649 
                                                      ------------    ------------    ------------    ------------ 
            Total Costs                                 25,797,365      25,816,001      57,195,037      58,440,975 
                                                      ------------    ------------    ------------    ------------ 
              Gross Margin                              18,681,129      19,536,128      48,108,095      47,211,672 
   Selling and Administrative                            4,560,456       4,962,291      12,103,999      12,008,656 
                                                      ------------    ------------    ------------    ------------ 
     Income from Operations                             14,120,673      14,573,837      36,004,096      35,203,016 
   Interest                                              1,685,905       1,042,716       4,719,635       2,905,047 
                                                      ------------    ------------    ------------    ------------ 
     Income Before Provision for Income Taxes           12,434,768      13,531,121      31,284,461      32,297,969 
   Provision for Income Taxes                            4,899,299       5,445,015      12,326,078      12,796,659 
                                                      ------------    ------------    ------------    ------------ 
     Income Before Minority Interest                     7,535,469       8,086,106      18,958,383      19,501,310 
   Minority Interest in Income of Subsidiary               447,125         383,752         928,004         797,821 
                                                      ------------    ------------    ------------    ------------ 
     Net Income                                       $  7,088,344    $  7,702,354    $ 18,030,379    $ 18,703,489 
                                                      ============    ============    ============    ============ 
 
Earnings Per Share: 
   Basic                                              $       0.50    $       0.51    $       1.27    $       1.25 
                                                      ============    ============    ============    ============ 
   Diluted                                            $       0.50    $       0.51    $       1.25    $       1.23 
                                                      ============    ============    ============    ============ 
Shares Used in Per Share Calculation: 
   Basic                                                14,062,112      15,015,918      14,217,977      15,001,462 
                                                      ============    ============    ============    ============ 
   Diluted                                              14,231,078      15,242,764      14,405,525      15,192,887 
                                                      ============    ============    ============    ============ 
 
 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
                           CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
                                   (unaudited) 
 
 
 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
                                                           SEPTEMBER 30,      DECEMBER 31, 
                                                           -------------     ------------- 
                                                                1998               1997 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                  
ASSETS 
Cash                                                       $     546,775     $     537,875 
Accounts Receivable, less allowance for doubtful 
   accounts of $650,000 in 1998 and 1997                      26,720,545        21,794,028 
 
Rental Equipment, at cost: 
   Relocatable Modular Offices                               209,507,315       196,132,895 
   Electronic Test Instruments                                60,747,136        50,350,777 
                                                           -------------     ------------- 
                                                             270,254,451       246,483,672 
   Less Accumulated Depreciation                             (79,793,338)      (72,398,374) 
                                                           -------------     ------------- 
   Rental Equipment, net                                     190,461,113       174,085,298 
                                                           -------------     ------------- 
 
Land, at cost                                                 20,495,975        20,495,975 
Buildings, Land Improvements, Equipment and Furniture, 
   at cost, less accumulated depreciation of $3,983,826 
   in 1998 and $3,177,213 in 1997                             31,566,195        28,921,513 
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets                              5,140,947         6,557,534 
                                                           -------------     ------------- 
           Total Assets                                    $ 274,931,550     $ 252,392,223 
                                                           =============     ============= 
 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Liabilities: 
   Notes Payable                                           $ 100,000,000     $  82,000,000 
   Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities                   21,312,813        27,047,173 
   Deferred Income                                             7,347,482         6,928,532 
   Minority Interest in Subsidiary                             2,507,403         1,523,058 
   Deferred Income Taxes                                      42,714,887        36,247,956 
                                                           -------------     ------------- 
           Total Liabilities                                 173,882,585       153,746,719 
                                                           -------------     ------------- 
 
Shareholders' Equity: 
   Common Stock, no par value - 
     Authorized -- 40,000,000 shares 
     Outstanding -- 14,000,862 shares in 1998 and 
                    14,521,790 shares in 1997                  7,648,364         7,756,054 
   Retained Earnings                                          93,400,601        90,889,450 
                                                           -------------     ------------- 
           Total Shareholders' Equity                        101,048,965        98,645,504 
                                                           -------------     ------------- 
           Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity      $ 274,931,550     $ 252,392,223 
                                                           =============     ============= 
 
 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
                      CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
                                   (unaudited) 
 
 
 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                       NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 
                                                       ------------------------------- 
                                                            1998             1997 
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                             
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net Income                                           $ 18,030,379     $ 18,703,489 
   Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash 
      Provided by Operating Activities: 
      Depreciation and Amortization                       13,380,816       11,191,451 
      Gain on Sale of Rental Equipment                    (4,396,941)      (5,453,700) 
      Proceeds from Sale of Rental Equipment              11,247,675       14,756,222 
      Change In: 
        Accounts Receivable                               (4,926,517)      (5,929,848) 
        Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets                  1,416,587       (4,097,182) 
        Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities          (4,988,358)       7,313,283 
        Deferred Income                                      418,950        2,086,436 
        Deferred Income Taxes                              6,466,931          757,389 
                                                        ------------     ------------ 
           Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities      36,649,522       39,327,499 
                                                        ------------     ------------ 
 
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
   Purchase of Rental Equipment                          (35,501,146)     (41,240,592) 
   Purchase of Land, Buildings, Land Improvements, 
      Equipment and Furniture                             (3,750,901)      (6,498,689) 
                                                        ------------     ------------ 
           Net Cash Used in Investing Activities         (39,252,047)     (47,739,281) 
                                                        ------------     ------------ 
 
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
   Net Borrowings Under Lines of Credit                   18,000,000       11,950,000 
   Net Proceeds from the Exercise of Stock Options           214,632          556,894 
   Repurchase of Common Stock                            (11,617,155)              -- 
   Payment of Dividends                                   (3,986,052)      (3,439,447) 
                                                        ------------     ------------ 
           Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing 
             Activities                                    2,611,425        9,067,447 
                                                        ------------     ------------ 
 
           Net Increase in Cash                                8,900          655,665 
Cash Balance, Beginning of Period                            537,875          686,333 
                                                        ------------     ------------ 
Cash Balance, End of Period                             $    546,775     $  1,341,998 
                                                        ============     ============ 
Interest Paid During the Period                         $  4,442,593     $  2,859,790 
                                                        ============     ============ 
Income Taxes Paid During the Period                     $  5,523,542     $  8,274,674 
                                                        ============     ============ 
Dividends Declared but not yet Paid                     $  1,400,086     $  1,201,753 
                                                        ============     ============ 
 
 
 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
                               SEPTEMBER 30, 1998 
 
NOTE 1.   CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
        The consolidated financial information for the nine months ended 
September 30, 1998 has not been audited, but in the opinion of management, all 
adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring accruals, consolidation and 
eliminating entries) necessary for the fair presentation of the consolidated 
results of operations, financial position, and cash flows of McGrath RentCorp 
(the "Company") have been made. The consolidated results of the nine months 
ended September 30, 1998 should not be considered as necessarily indicative of 
the consolidated results for the entire year. It is suggested that these 
consolidated financial statements be read in conjunction with the financial 
statements and notes thereto included in the Company's latest Form 10-K. 
 
NOTE 2.  NOTES PAYABLE 
 
        On July 31, 1998, the Company restructured a portion of its debt to a 
fixed rate by completing a private placement of $40,000,000 of 6.44% senior 
notes due in 2005 through BancAmerica Robertson Stephens. Interest on the notes 
is due semi-annually in arrears and the principal is due in 5 equal installments 
commencing on July 31, 2001. Upon completion of the private placement, the 
Company repaid a $15,000,000 interim loan with one of its banks. The remainder 
of the proceeds was applied to reduce the existing revolver. 
 
        In August 1998, the Company reduced its capacity to borrow under its 
unsecured line of credit with its banks from $90,000,000 to $75,000,000. All 
other terms and conditions under this facility remained the same. In addition, 
the Company extended the expiration date of its $3,000,000 committed line of 
credit facility related to its cash management services to June 30, 1999 and 
allowed the $10,000,000 of uncommitted optional facilities to expire. 
 
NOTE 3.  STOCK OPTIONS 
 
        The Company adopted a 1998 Stock Option Plan (the "1998 Plan"), 
effective March 9, 1998, under which 2,000,000 shares are reserved for the grant 
of options to purchase common stock to directors, officers, key employees and 
advisors of the Company. The plan provides for the award of options at a price 
not less than the fair market value of the stock as determined by the Board of 
Directors on the date the options are granted. Under the 1998 Plan, 242,000 
options have been granted with exercise prices ranging from $20.25 to $20.81. Of 
the 242,000 options granted, key employees received 192,000. The options become 
exercisable during term of the related option agreement and expire ten years 
after grant. 
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 
        OF OPERATIONS 
 
THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1998 AND 1997 
 
         Rental revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 1998 
increased $2,317,285 (14%) and $7,567,342 (17%), respectively, over the 
comparative periods in 1997. Of the nine-month increase, Mobile Modular 
Management Corporation ("MMMC") contributed $5,046,487 (67%) increasing from 
$30,311,031 to $35,357,518 and ELECTRONICS contributed $2,520,855 (33%) 
increasing from $14,827,521 to $17,348,376. The significant rental revenue 
increase by MMMC resulted from the large quantities of equipment shipped to 
schools in the latter part of 1997 and the ELECTRONICS rental revenue increase 
resulted in part from market penetration by telemarketing and regional sales 
efforts on the East Coast. As of September 30, 1998, rental equipment on rent 
increased for MMMC by $19,224,379 and for ELECTRONICS increased by $4,961,500 
compared to a year earlier. Average utilization for ELECTRONICS during the first 
nine months increased from 54.7% in 1997 to 55.0% in 1998 and increased for 
modulars from 81.0% in 1997 to 82.7% in 1998, exclusive of new equipment not 
previously rented. 
 
         Rental related services revenues for the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 1998 increased $704,102 (21%) and $880,015 (11%), respectively, as 
compared to the same periods in 1997. Gross margins increased from 40% to 43% in 
1998 for the comparative nine-month period. 
 
         Sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 1998 declined 
$3,888,162 (15%) and $8,648,798 (17%), respectively, as compared to the same 
periods in 1997 due to fewer new classroom sales to school districts by MMMC. 
Enviroplex and ELECTRONICS sales volumes increased 9% and 6%, respectively, over 
the 1997 comparative nine-month period which partially offset MMMC's expected 
decline in new classroom sales. (See 1997 Form 10-K Management Discussion and 
Analysis for Fiscal Years 1997 and 1996.) Consolidated gross margin on sales 
remained constant at 31% for 1997 and 1998. The single largest sale was for 
$6,109,692 by MMMC to a school district during the third quarter of 1998 
consisting of new classrooms of which 69% of the total contract was the 
demolition of existing buildings, site improvements and installation of the new 
classrooms. This sale was unique as to the volume of new classrooms sold in 
conjunction with the amount of site work performed and is not likely to be 
repeated in the future. Sales continue to occur routinely as a normal part of 
the Company's rental business; however, these sales can fluctuate from quarter 
to quarter and year to year depending on customer demands and requirements. 
 
         Depreciation on rental equipment for the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 1998 increased $968,103 (27%) and $1,737,253 (16%) over the 
comparative periods in 1997 as a result of additions to the rental equipment of 
both modulars and electronics. Rental equipment, at cost, increased 18% between 
September 30, 1997 and September 30, 1998. Other direct costs of rental 
operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 1998 increased 
$1,006,185 (38%) and $2,721,118 (36%) over the comparative periods in 1997 
primarily due to increased maintenance and repair expenses of the modular fleet. 
Additionally, during 1997, a significant number of customers opted to include 
upfront charges in the rental rate resulting in higher amortization expense of 
these related upfront costs over the lease term in the subsequent periods. 
 
         Selling and administrative expenses for the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 1998 decreased $401,835 (8%) and increased $95,343 (1%), 
respectively, compared to the same periods in 1997. Even though selling and 
administrative expenses for the nine month comparative period were approximately 
the same, the three-month comparative period declined by 8% primarily due to 
higher expenses for facility and equipment depreciation ($174,819) and personnel 
and benefit costs ($176,883) offset by reduced performance and incentive bonuses 
($528,384), fewer bad debt writeoffs ($114,023), and eliminated facility rental, 
cleanup and moving expenses ($114,215). 
 
         Interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 1998 
increased $643,189 (62%) and $1,814,588 (62%) over the comparative periods in 
1997 as a result of higher average borrowing  
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levels in 1998. The debt increase was primarily due to rental equipment 
purchases made during 1997 and 1998. 
 
         Net income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 1998 
decreased slightly as compared to the comparative periods in 1997. Earnings per 
share decreased slightly for the three-month and increased for the nine-month 
periods in 1998 to $0.50 per share and $1.27 per share, respectively, due to 
fewer shares outstanding. 
 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
        The Company had total liabilities to equity ratio of 1.72 to 1 and 1.56 
to 1 as of September 30, 1998 and December 31, 1997, respectively. The debt 
(notes payable) to equity ratio was 0.99 to 1 and 0.83 to 1 as of September 30, 
1998 and December 31, 1997, respectively. 
 
        The Company has made purchases of shares of its common stock from time 
to time in the over-the-counter market (NASDAQ) and/or through privately 
negotiated, large block transactions under an authorization of the Board of 
Directors. Shares repurchased by the Company are cancelled and returned to the 
status of authorized but unissued stock. As of November 5, 1998, the Company has 
repurchased 587,050 shares of its outstanding common stock during the year for 
an aggregate purchase price of $11,617,155 (or an average price of $19.79 per 
share). As of November 5, 1998, 852,400 shares remain authorized for repurchase. 
 
        The Company believes that its needs for working capital and capital 
expenditures through 1998 and beyond will adequately be met by cash flow and 
bank borrowings. 
 
 
PART II OTHER INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 3.  OTHER INFORMATION 
 
        On September 18, 1998, the Company declared a quarterly dividend on its 
Common Stock; the dividend was $0.10 per share. Subject to its continued 
profitability and favorable cash flow, the Company intends to continue the 
payment of quarterly dividends. 
 
ITEM 4.  EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
        (a)  Exhibits. 
 
 
 
NUMBER  DESCRIPTION                                             METHOD OF FILING 
- ------  -----------                                             ---------------- 
                                                            
 4.1    Facility Reduction Letter for the Restated Credit 
          Agreement                                              Filed herewith. 
 
 4.2    Second Extension to the $3,000,000 Committed 
          Credit Facility                                        Filed herewith. 
 
 4.3    Note Purchase Agreement                                  Filed herewith. 
 
10.1    The 1998 Stock Option Plan                               Filed herewith. 
 
10.2    Examplar of Incentive Stock Option for 
          Employees Under the 1998 Stock Option Plan             Filed herewith. 
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NUMBER  DESCRIPTION                                             METHOD OF FILING 
- ------  -----------                                             ---------------- 
                                                            
 
10.3    Examplar of Non-Qualified Stock Option for 
          Directors under the 1998 Stock Option Plan             Filed herewith. 
 
10.4    Schedule of Options Granted to Members of 
          the Board of Directors                                 Filed herewith. 
 
10.5    Examplar Form of Indemnification Agreement               Filed herewith. 
 
27      Financial Data Schedule                                  Filed herewith. 
 
 
 
 
        (b) Reports on Form 8-K. 
 
            No reports on Form 8-K have been filed during the quarter for which 
        this report is filed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                   SIGNATURES 
 
 
        PURSUANT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, THE REGISTRANT HAS DULY CAUSED THIS REPORT TO BE SIGNED ON 
ITS BEHALF BY THE UNDERSIGNED, THEREUNTO DULY AUTHORIZED. 
 
Date:  November 5, 1998                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
                                       by: /s/  Delight Saxton 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
                                           Delight Saxton 
                                           Senior Vice President, Chief 
                                           Financial Officer (Chief Accounting 
                                           Officer) and Secretary 
 
 
 
                                       8 
 
 



   9 
 
 
ITEM 4. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
        (a) Exhibits 
 
 
                                 EXHIBIT INDEX 
 
 
 
 
NUMBER  DESCRIPTION                                             METHOD OF FILING 
- ------  -----------                                             ---------------- 
                                                            
 4.1    Facility Reduction Letter for the Restated Credit 
          Agreement                                              Filed herewith. 
 
 4.2    Second Extension to the $3,000,000 Committed 
          Credit Facility                                        Filed herewith. 
 
 4.3    Note Purchase Agreement                                  Filed herewith. 
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                                                                     EXHIBIT 4.1 
 
August 19, 1998 
 
 
Mr. Robert Vernagallo 
Vice President 
Union Bank of California 
350 California Street, 6th Floor 
San Francisco, California 94104 
 
        Fax # - (415) 705-7566 
        Re: $90,000,000 Line of Credit 
 
Dear Bob: 
 
        This letter is the notice required for the following items: 
 
        1. Under section 2.8 of the Credit Agreement dated July 10, 1997, as 
amended, to permanently reduce the credit facility from $90,000,000 to 
$75,000,000 effective August 24, 1998 (3 business days from August 19, 1998). 
 
        2. Under section 2.7.3 of the Credit Agreement dated July 10, 1997, as 
amended, to suspend $15,000,000 from the status of Activated Reserve Commitment 
Amount to Reserve Commitment Amount effective August 24, 1998 (3 business days 
from August 19, 1998). 
 
        After implementing the above, the Company will have a $75,000,000 credit 
facility ($60,000,000 Activated and $15,000,000 Reserve). 
 
        If you have any questions, please let me know. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
Tom Sauer 
Vice President and Treasurer 
 
 
Cc: Delight Saxton 
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                                                                     EXHIBIT 4.2 
 
 
                                                              September 30, 1998 
 
Mr. Thomas J. Sauer 
Vice President and Treasurer/Controller 
McGrath RentCorp. 
5700 Las Positas Road 
Livermore, CA 94550 
 
        Re: Credit extended to Borrower pursuant to that certain $3,000,000 
Committed Credit Facility Letter ("Facility Letter") from Union Bank of 
California, N.A., ("Bank") to McGrath RentCorp, a California corporation 
("Borrower") dated July 24, 1997, amended by that certain Extension Letter dated 
June 23, 1998, and further evidenced by that certain Credit Line Note dated July 
24, 1997, executed by Borrower to the order of Bank ("Credit Line Note"). 
Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings given to them in the 
Facility Letter. 
 
Dear Tom: 
 
This letter is to confirm that Union Bank of California, N.A., has agreed to 
extend the maturity date of that certain facility ("Committed Credit Facility") 
in the maximum principal amount of $3,000,000 granted by Bank to Borrower 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Facility Letter and Credit Line 
Note. References in the Facility Letter to the Credit Line Note shall mean the 
Facility Letter as amended from time to time. A copy of the note is attached to 
this letter. 
 
The maturity date of the Committed Credit Facility is hereby extended to June 
30, 1999 ("New Maturity Date"). The Facility Letter and the Credit Line Note 
shall be deemed modified as of the date of this letter to reflect the New 
Maturity Date. All other terms and conditions of the Facility Letter and Credit 
Line Note remain in full force and effect, without waiver or notification. This 
extension is further conditioned on (i) Borrower's continued payment of interest 
as provided in the Facility Letter and Credit Line Note, and (ii) any principal 
instalments which Borrower was obligated to make prior to the extension provided 
for herein. 
 
Each advance request, or Borrower's continued payments of principal or interest 
on the outstanding balance of any loan, constitutes Borrower's warranty that no 
event of default as defined in the Facility Letter or Credit Line Note and no 
condition, event or act which, with the giving of notice or the passage of time 
or both, would constitute such an event of default, shall have occurred and be 
continuing or shall exist. 
 
BANK HAS NOT COMMITTED TO MAKE ANY FURTHER EXTENSION OF THE MATURITY DATE, OR TO 
RENEW THE COMMITTED CREDIT FACILITY OR CREDIT LINE NOTE BEYOND THE NEW MATURITY 
DATE. ANY FURTHER EXTENSION OR RENEWAL REMAINS IN THE SOLE AND ABSOLUTE 
DISCRETION OF THE BANK. 
 
Except as specifically provided herein, all terms and conditions of the Facility 
Letter and the Credit Line Note shall remain in full force and effect and are 
hereby ratified and confirmed. This letter shall not constitute a waiver of any 
existing or future default or a waiver of a breach of a condition or covenant 
unless specified herein. 
 
Very Truly Yours, 
 
UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, NA 
 
By: /s/ 
   ------------------------------ 
        Robert John Vernagallo 
        Vice President 
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                                                                     EXHIBIT 4.3 
 
 
 
                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
                    CONFORMED COPY OF NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
                                       Re: 
 
                $40,000,000 6.44% Senior Notes due July 15, 2005 
 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
        Separate and several Note Purchase Agreements each dated as of July 1, 
1998, in the form attached hereto, were entered into between McGrath RentCorp 
and each of the institutions listed below. Each of said Note Purchase Agreements 
was executed on behalf of McGrath RentCorp by Delight Saxton, Chief Financial 
Officer. The separate and several Note Purchase Agreements were addressed to 
each of the institutions as shown on Schedule A attached to said Note Purchase 
Agreements and were accepted by the officers of the respective institutions as 
shown below: 
 
        CONNECTICUT GENERAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
        By:    CIGNA Investments, Inc. 
 
        By:    /s/    Denise T. Duffee 
                      Managing Director 
 
        CONNECTICUT GENERAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, ON BEHALF OF ONE OR MORE 
        SEPARATE ACCOUNTS 
 
        By:    CIGNA Investments, Inc. 
 
        By:    /s/    Denise T. Duffee 
                      Managing Director 
 
        ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
        By     /s/    Ronald C. Mendel 
 
        By     /s/    Patricia W. Wilson 
                      Authorized Signatories 
 
        ALLSTATE LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
        By     /s/    Ronald C. Mendel 
 
        By     /s/    Patricia W. Wilson 
                      Authorized Signatories 
 
        NATIONWIDE LIFE INSURANCE 
         COMPANY 
 
        By:    /s/    Mark W. Poeppelman 
                      Investment Officer 
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================================================================================ 
 
                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
 
                                   $40,000,000 
 
 
                      6.44% Senior Notes due July 15, 2005 
 
 
                                 -------------- 
 
 
                             NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
                                 -------------- 
 
 
                            DATED AS OF JULY 1, 1998 
 
 
 
 
================================================================================ 
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                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
                              5700 LAS POSITAS ROAD 
                           LIVERMORE, CALIFORNIA 94550 
 
                      6.44% Senior Notes due July 15, 2005 
 
                                                                     Dated as of 
                                                                    July 1, 1998 
 
TO THE PURCHASER LISTED IN THE ATTACHED  
SCHEDULE A WHO IS A SIGNATORY HERETO: 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
        MCGRATH RENTCORP, a California corporation (the "Company"), agrees with 
you as follows: 
 
 
SECTION 1. AUTHORIZATION OF NOTES. 
 
        The Company will authorize the issue and sale of $40,000,000 aggregate 
principal amount of its 6.44% Senior Notes due July 15, 2005 (the "Notes," such 
term to include any such notes issued in substitution therefor pursuant to 
SECTION 13 of this Agreement or the Other Agreements (as hereinafter defined)). 
The Notes shall be substantially in the form set out in EXHIBIT 1, with such 
changes therefrom, if any, as may be approved by you and the Company. Certain 
capitalized terms used in this Agreement are defined in SCHEDULE B; references 
to a "Schedule" or an "Exhibit" are, unless otherwise specified, to a Schedule 
or an Exhibit attached to this Agreement. 
 
 
 
SECTION 2. SALE AND PURCHASE OF NOTES. 
 
        Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Company will 
issue and sell to you and you will purchase from the Company, at the Closing 
provided for in SECTION 3, Notes in the principal amount specified opposite your 
name in SCHEDULE A at the purchase price of 100% of the principal amount 
thereof. Contemporaneously with entering into this Agreement, the Company is 
entering into other separate Note Purchase Agreements (the "Other Agreements") 
identical with this Agreement with each of the other purchasers named in 
SCHEDULE A (the "Other Purchasers"), providing for the sale at such Closing to 
each of the Other Purchasers of Notes in the principal amount specified opposite 
its name in SCHEDULE A. Your obligation hereunder, and the obligations of the 
Other Purchasers under the Other Agreements, are several and not joint 
obligations, and you shall have no obligation under any Other Agreement and no 
liability to any Person for the performance or nonperformance by any Other 
Purchaser thereunder. 
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SECTION 3. CLOSING. 
 
        The sale and purchase of the Notes to be purchased by you and the Other 
Purchasers shall occur at the offices of Chapman and Cutler, 111 West Monroe 
St., Chicago, IL, at 10:00 a.m. Chicago time, at a closing (the "Closing") on 
July 31, 1998 or on such other Business Day thereafter on or prior to August 7, 
1998 as may be agreed upon by the Company and you and the Other Purchasers. At 
the Closing, the Company will deliver to you the Notes to be purchased by you in 
the form of a single Note (or such greater number of Notes in denominations of 
at least $100,000 as you may request) dated the date of the Closing and 
registered in your name (or in the name of your nominee), against delivery by 
you to the Company or its order of immediately available funds in the amount of 
the purchase price therefor by wire transfer of immediately available funds for 
the account of the Company to account number 001-2016481 at Union Bank of 
California, San Francisco, CA 94104, Routing #1220-0049-6. If at the Closing the 
Company shall fail to tender such Notes to you as provided above in this SECTION 
3, or any of the conditions specified in SECTION 4 shall not have been fulfilled 
to your satisfaction, you shall, at your election, be relieved of all further 
obligations under this Agreement, without thereby waiving any rights you may 
have by reason of such failure or such nonfulfillment. 
 
 
SECTION 4. CONDITIONS TO CLOSING. 
 
        Your obligation to purchase and pay for the Notes to be sold to you at 
the Closing is subject to the fulfillment to your satisfaction, prior to or at 
the Closing, of the following conditions: 
 
 
      Section 4.1. Representations and Warranties. The representations and 
warranties of the Company in this Agreement shall be correct when made and at 
the time of the Closing. 
 
 
      Section 4.2. Performance; No Default. The Company shall have performed and 
complied with all agreements and conditions contained in this Agreement required 
to be performed or complied with by it prior to or at the Closing, and after 
giving effect to the issue and sale of the Notes (and the application of the 
proceeds thereof as contemplated by SCHEDULE 5.14), no Default or Event of 
Default shall have occurred and be continuing. Neither the Company nor any 
Subsidiary shall have entered into any transaction since the date of the 
Memorandum that would have been prohibited by SECTION 10 hereof had such SECTION 
applied since such date. 
 
 
      Section 4.3. Compliance Certificates. 
 
        (a) Officer's Certificate. The Company shall have delivered to you an 
Officer's Certificate, dated the date of the Closing, certifying that the 
conditions specified in SECTIONS 4.1, 4.2 and 4.9 have been fulfilled. 
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        (b) Secretary's Certificate. The Company shall have delivered to you a 
certificate certifying as to the resolutions attached thereto and other 
corporate proceedings relating to the authorization, execution and delivery of 
the Notes and this Agreement and the Other Agreements. 
 
        (c) ERISA Certificate. If you shall have made the disclosures referred 
to in SECTION 6.2(c), (d) or (f), you shall have received the certificate from 
the Company described in the penultimate paragraph of SECTION 6.2 and such 
certificate shall state that (1) the Company is neither a "party in interest" 
nor a "disqualified person" (as defined in Section 4975(e)(2) of the Code), with 
respect to any plan identified pursuant to SECTION 6.2(c) or (f) or (2) with 
respect to any plan identified pursuant to SECTION 6.2(d), neither the Company 
nor any "affiliate" (as defined in Section V(c) of the QPAM Exemption) has, at 
such time or during the immediately preceding one year, exercised the authority 
to appoint or terminate the QPAM as manager of the assets of any plan identified 
in writing pursuant to SECTION 6.2(d) or to negotiate the terms of said QPAM's 
management agreement on behalf of any such identified plans. 
 
        Section 4.4. Opinions of Counsel. You shall have received opinions in 
form and substance satisfactory to you, dated the date of the Closing (a) from 
Coblentz, Patch, Duffy & Bass, LLP, counsel for the Company covering the matters 
set forth in EXHIBIT 4.4(a) and covering such other matters incident to the 
transactions contemplated hereby as you or your counsel may reasonably request 
(and the Company hereby instructs its counsel to deliver such opinion to you) 
and (b) from Chapman and Cutler, your special counsel in connection with such 
transactions, substantially in the form set forth in EXHIBIT 4.4(b) and covering 
such other matters incident to such transactions as you may reasonably request. 
 
        Section 4.5. Purchase Permitted By Applicable Law, Etc. On the date of 
the Closing, your purchase of Notes shall (a) be permitted by the laws and 
regulations of each jurisdiction to which you are subject, without recourse to 
provisions (such as Section 1405(a)(8) of the New York Insurance Law) permitting 
limited investments by insurance companies without restriction as to the 
character of the particular investment, (b) not violate any applicable law or 
regulation (including, without limitation, Regulation U, T or X of the Board of 
Governors of the Federal Reserve System) and (c) not subject you to any tax, 
penalty or liability under or pursuant to any applicable law or regulation, 
which law or regulation was not in effect on the date hereof. If requested by 
you, you shall have received an Officer's Certificate certifying as to such 
matters of fact as you may reasonably specify to enable you to determine whether 
such purchase is so permitted. 
 
        Section 4.6. Sale of Other Notes. Contemporaneously with the Closing, 
the Company shall sell to the Other Purchasers, and the Other Purchasers shall 
purchase, the Notes to be purchased by them at the Closing as specified in 
SCHEDULE A. 
 
        Section 4.7. Payment of Special Counsel Fees. Without limiting the 
provisions of SECTION 15.1, the Company shall have paid on or before the Closing 
the fees, charges and  
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disbursements of your special counsel referred to in SECTION 4.4 to the extent 
reflected in a statement of such counsel rendered to the Company at least one 
Business Day prior to the Closing. 
 
        Section 4.8. Private Placement Number. A Private Placement Number issued 
by Standard & Poor's CUSIP Service Bureau (in cooperation with the Securities 
Valuation Office of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners) shall 
have been obtained for the Notes. 
 
        Section 4.9. Changes in Corporate Structure. Except as specified in 
SCHEDULE 4.9, the Company shall not have changed its jurisdiction of 
incorporation or been a party to any merger or consolidation and shall not have 
succeeded to all or any substantial part of the liabilities of any other entity, 
at any time following the date of the most recent financial statements referred 
to in SCHEDULE 5.5. 
 
        Section 4.10. Funding Instructions. At least three Business Days prior 
to the date of the Closing, you shall have received written instructions 
executed by a Responsible Officer of the Company directing the manner of the 
payment of funds and setting forth (1) the name and address of the transferee 
bank, (2) such transferee bank's ABA number, (3) the account name and number 
into which the purchase price for the Notes is to be deposited, and (4) the name 
and telephone number of the account representative responsible for verifying 
receipt of such funds. 
 
        Section 4.11. Proceedings and Documents. All corporate and other 
proceedings in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 
and all documents and instruments incident to such transactions shall be 
satisfactory to you and your special counsel, and you and your special counsel 
shall have received all such counterpart originals or certified or other copies 
of such documents as you or they may reasonably request. 
 
 
 
SECTION 5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY. 
 
        The Company represents and warrants to you that: 
 
        Section 5.1.Organization; Power and Authority. The Company is a 
corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws 
of its jurisdiction of incorporation, and is duly qualified as a foreign 
corporation and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such 
qualification is required by law, other than those jurisdictions as to which the 
failure to be so qualified or in good standing could not, individually or in the 
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company 
has the corporate power and authority to own or hold under lease the properties 
it purports to own or hold under lease, to transact the business it transacts 
and proposes to transact, to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Other 
Agreements and the Notes and to perform the provisions hereof and thereof. 
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        Section 5.2. Authorization, Etc. This Agreement, the Other Agreements 
and the Notes have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the 
part of the Company, and this Agreement constitutes, and upon execution and 
delivery thereof each Note will constitute, a legal, valid and binding 
obligation of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its 
terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by (a) applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws 
affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and (b) general 
principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in 
a proceeding in equity or at law). 
 
        Section 5.3. Disclosure. The Company, through its agent, BancAmerica 
Robertson Stephens, has delivered to you and each Other Purchaser a copy of a 
Private Placement Memorandum, dated June 1998 (the "Memorandum"), relating to 
the transactions contemplated hereby. The Memorandum fairly describes, in all 
material respects, the general nature of the business and principal properties 
of the Company and its Subsidiaries. Except as disclosed in SCHEDULE 5.3, this 
Agreement, the Memorandum, the documents, certificates or other writings 
delivered to you by or on behalf of the Company in connection with the 
transactions contemplated hereby and the financial statements listed in SCHEDULE 
5.5, taken as a whole, do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or 
omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein not 
misleading in light of the circumstances under which they were made. Except as 
disclosed in the Memorandum or as expressly described in SCHEDULE 5.3, or in one 
of the documents, certificates or other writings identified therein, or in the 
financial statements listed in SCHEDULE 5.5, since December 31, 1997 there has 
been no change in the financial condition, operations, business, properties or 
prospects of the Company or any Subsidiary except changes that individually or 
in the aggregate could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse 
Effect. There is no fact known to the Company that could reasonably be expected 
to have a Material Adverse Effect that has not been set forth herein or in the 
Memorandum or in the other documents, certificates and other writings delivered 
to you by or on behalf of the Company specifically for use in connection with 
the transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
 
        Section 5.4. Organization and Ownership of Shares of Subsidiaries; 
Affiliates. (a) SCHEDULE 5.4 contains (except as noted therein) complete and 
correct lists (1) of the Company's Subsidiaries, showing, as to each Subsidiary, 
the correct name thereof, the jurisdiction of its organization, and the 
percentage of shares of each class of its capital stock or similar equity 
interests outstanding owned by the Company and each other Subsidiary, (2) of the 
Company's Restricted Subsidiaries, (3) of the Company's Affiliates, other than 
Subsidiaries, and (4) of the Company's directors and senior officers. 
 
        (b) All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or similar equity 
interests of each Subsidiary shown in SCHEDULE 5.4 as being owned by the Company 
and its Subsidiaries have been validly issued, are fully paid and nonassessable 
and are owned by the Company or another Subsidiary free and clear of any Lien 
(except as otherwise disclosed in SCHEDULE 5.4). 
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        (c) Each Subsidiary identified in SCHEDULE 5.4 is a corporation or other 
legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
laws of its jurisdiction of organization, and is duly qualified as a foreign 
corporation or other legal entity and is in good standing in each jurisdiction 
in which such qualification is required by law, other than those jurisdictions 
as to which the failure to be so qualified or in good standing could not, 
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material 
Adverse Effect. Each such Subsidiary has the corporate or other power and 
authority to own or hold under lease the properties it purports to own or hold 
under lease and to transact the business it transacts and proposes to transact. 
 
        (d) No Subsidiary is a party to, or otherwise subject to, any legal 
restriction or any agreement (other than this Agreement, the Other Agreements, 
the agreements listed on SCHEDULE 5.4 and customary limitations imposed by 
corporate law statutes) restricting the ability of such Subsidiary to pay 
dividends out of profits or make any other similar distributions of profits to 
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that owns outstanding shares of capital 
stock or similar equity interests of such Subsidiary. 
 
        Section 5.5. Financial Statements. The Company has delivered to you 
copies of the financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries listed on 
SCHEDULE 5.5. All of said financial statements (including in each case the 
related schedules and notes) fairly present in all material respects the 
consolidated financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the 
respective dates specified in such financial statements and the consolidated 
results of their operations and cash flows for the respective periods so 
specified and have been prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied 
throughout the periods involved except as set forth in the notes thereto 
(subject, in the case of any interim financial statements, to normal year-end 
adjustments). 
 
        Section 5.6. Compliance with Laws, Other Instruments, Etc. The 
execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement, the Other 
Agreements and the Notes will not (a) contravene, result in any breach of, or 
constitute a default under, or result in the creation of any Lien in respect of 
any property of the Company or any Subsidiary under, any indenture, mortgage, 
deed of trust, loan, purchase or credit agreement, lease, corporate charter or 
by-laws, or any other agreement or instrument to which the Company or any 
Subsidiary is bound or by which the Company or any Subsidiary or any of their 
respective properties may be bound or affected, (b) conflict with or result in a 
breach of any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any order, judgment, 
decree, or ruling of any court, arbitrator or Governmental Authority applicable 
to the Company or any Subsidiary or (c) violate any provision of any statute or 
other rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority applicable to the Company 
or any Subsidiary. 
 
        Section 5.7. Governmental Authorizations, Etc. No consent, approval or 
authorization of, or registration, filing or declaration with, any Governmental 
Authority is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance 
by the Company of this Agreement, the Other Agreements or the Notes. 
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        Section 5.8. Litigation; Observance of Agreements, Statutes and Orders. 
(a) Except as disclosed in SCHEDULE 5.8, there are no actions, suits or 
proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against or 
affecting the Company or any Subsidiary or any property of the Company or any 
Subsidiary in any court or before any arbitrator of any kind or before or by any 
Governmental Authority that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably 
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        (b) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in default under any term 
of any agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound, 
or any order, judgment, decree or ruling of any court, arbitrator or 
Governmental Authority or is in violation of any applicable law, ordinance, rule 
or regulation (including without limitation Environmental Laws) of any 
Governmental Authority, which default or violation, individually or in the 
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        Section 5.9. Taxes. The Company and its Subsidiaries have filed all tax 
returns that are required to have been filed in any jurisdiction, and have paid 
all taxes shown to be due and payable on such returns and all other taxes and 
assessments levied upon them or their properties, assets, income or franchises, 
to the extent such taxes and assessments have become due and payable and before 
they have become delinquent, except for any taxes and assessments (a) the amount 
of which is not individually or in the aggregate Material or (b) the amount, 
applicability or validity of which is currently being contested in good faith by 
appropriate proceedings and with respect to which the Company or a Subsidiary, 
as the case may be, has established adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP. 
The Company knows of no basis for any other tax or assessment that could 
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The charges, accruals 
and reserves on the books of the Company and its Subsidiaries in respect of 
Federal, state or other taxes for all fiscal periods are adequate. The Federal 
income tax liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries have been determined 
by the Internal Revenue Service through 1990 and paid for all fiscal years up to 
and including the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997. 
 
        Section 5.10. Title to Property; Leases. The Company and its 
Subsidiaries have good and sufficient title to their respective properties that 
individually or in the aggregate are Material, including all such properties 
reflected in the most recent audited balance sheet referred to in SECTION 5.5 or 
purported to have been acquired by the Company or any Subsidiary after said date 
(except as sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business), in 
each case free and clear of Liens prohibited by this Agreement. All leases that 
individually or in the aggregate are Material are valid and subsisting and are 
in full force and effect in all material respects. 
 
        Section 5.11. Licenses, Permits, Etc. Except as disclosed in SCHEDULE 
5.11, 
 
        (a) the Company and its Subsidiaries own or possess all licenses, 
permits, franchises, authorizations, patents, copyrights, service marks, 
trademarks and trade names, or rights thereto, that individually or in the 
aggregate are Material, without known conflict with the rights of others; 
 
 
 
                                       7 
 



   14 
 
 
        (b) to the best knowledge of the Company, no product of the Company or 
any Subsidiary infringes in any Material respect any license, permit, franchise, 
authorization, patent, copyright, service mark, trademark, trade name or other 
right owned by any other Person; and 
 
        (c) to the best knowledge of the Company, there is no Material violation 
by any Person of any right of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with 
respect to any patent, copyright, service mark, trademark, trade name or other 
right owned or used by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. 
 
        Section 5.12. Compliance with ERISA. (a) The Company does not maintain, 
contribute to or have any liability or contingent liability with respect to any 
"pension plan" or "multiemployer plan" as defined in ERISA, which is subject to 
Title IV of ERISA. (b) The Company and each ERISA Affiliate have operated and 
administered each Plan in compliance with all applicable laws except for such 
instances of noncompliance as have not resulted in and could not reasonably be 
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any 
ERISA Affiliate has incurred any liability pursuant to Title I of ERISA or the 
penalty or excise tax provisions of the Code relating to employee benefit plans 
(as defined in Section 3 of ERISA), and no event, transaction or condition has 
occurred or exists that could reasonably be expected to result in the incurrence 
of any such liability by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate pursuant to Title I 
of ERISA or to such penalty or excise tax provisions, other than such 
liabilities or Liens as would not be individually or in the aggregate Material. 
 
        (c) The expected post-retirement benefit obligation (determined as of 
the last day of the Company's most recently ended fiscal year in accordance with 
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 106, without regard to 
liabilities attributable to continuation coverage mandated by Section 4980B of 
the Code) of the Company and its Subsidiaries is not Material. 
 
        (d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the issuance and 
sale of the Notes hereunder will not involve any transaction that is subject to 
the prohibitions of Section 406 of ERISA or in connection with which a tax could 
be imposed pursuant to Section 4975(c)(1)(A)-(D) of the Code. The representation 
by the Company in the first sentence of this SECTION 5.12(d) is made in reliance 
upon and subject to the accuracy of your representation in SECTION 6.2 as to the 
sources of the funds used to pay the purchase price of the Notes to be purchased 
by you. 
 
        Section 5.13. Private Offering by the Company. Neither the Company nor 
anyone acting on its behalf has offered the Notes or any similar securities for 
sale to, or solicited any offer to buy any of the same from, or otherwise 
approached or negotiated in respect thereof with, any Person other than you, the 
Other Purchasers and not more than 42 other Institutional Investors, each of 
which has been offered the Notes at a private sale for investment. Neither the 
Company nor anyone acting on its behalf has taken, or will take, any action that 
would subject the issuance or sale of the Notes to the registration requirements 
of Section 5 of the Securities Act. 
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        Section 5.14. Use of Proceeds; Margin Regulations. The Company will 
apply the proceeds of the sale of the Notes as set forth in SCHEDULE 5.14. No 
part of the proceeds from the sale of the Notes hereunder will be used, directly 
or indirectly, for the purpose of buying or carrying any margin stock within the 
meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System 
(12 CFR 221), or for the purpose of buying or carrying or trading in any 
securities under such circumstances as to involve the Company in a violation of 
Regulation X of said Board (12 CFR 224) or to involve any broker or dealer in a 
violation of Regulation T of said Board (12 CFR 220). The Company does not own 
any margin stock and the Company does not have any present intention that margin 
stock will constitute more than 5% of the value of the consolidated assets of 
the Company and its Subsidiaries. As used in this Section, the terms "margin 
stock" and "purpose of buying or carrying" shall have the meanings assigned to 
them in said Regulation U. 
 
        Section 5.15. Existing Indebtedness; Future Liens. (a) Except as 
described therein, SCHEDULE 5.15 sets forth a complete and correct list of all 
outstanding Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of March 31, 
1998, since which date there has been no Material change in the amounts, 
interest rates, sinking funds, installment payments or maturities of the 
Indebtedness of the Company or its Subsidiaries. Neither the Company nor any 
Subsidiary is in default and no waiver of default is currently in effect, in the 
payment of any principal or interest on any Indebtedness of the Company or such 
Subsidiary and no event or condition exists with respect to any Indebtedness of 
the Company or any Subsidiary that would permit (or that with notice or the 
lapse of time, or both, would permit) one or more Persons to cause such 
Indebtedness to become due and payable before its stated maturity or before its 
regularly scheduled dates of payment. 
 
        (b) Except as disclosed in SCHEDULE 5.15, neither the Company nor any 
Subsidiary has agreed or consented to cause or permit in the future (upon the 
happening of a contingency or otherwise) any of its property, whether now owned 
or hereafter acquired, to be subject to a Lien not permitted by SECTION 10.3. 
 
        Section 5.16. Foreign Assets Control Regulations, Etc. Neither the sale 
of the Notes by the Company hereunder nor its use of the proceeds thereof will 
violate the Trading with the Enemy Act, as amended, or any of the foreign assets 
control regulations of the United States Treasury Department (31 CFR, Subtitle 
B, Chapter V, as amended) or any enabling legislation or executive order 
relating thereto. 
 
        Section 5.17. Status under Certain Statutes. Neither the Company nor any 
Subsidiary is an "investment company" registered or required to be registered 
under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or is subject to 
regulation under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended, the 
ICC Termination Act of 1995, as amended, or the Federal Power Act, as amended. 
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        Section 5.18. Notes Rank Pari Passu. The obligations of the Company 
under this Agreement and the Notes rank at least pari passu in right of payment 
with all other senior unsecured Indebtedness (actual or contingent) of the 
Company, including, without limitation, all senior unsecured Indebtedness of the 
Company described in SCHEDULE 5.15 hereto. 
 
        Section 5.19. Environmental Matters. Neither the Company nor any 
Subsidiary has knowledge of any claim or has received any notice of any claim, 
and no proceeding has been instituted raising any claim against the Company or 
any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective real properties now or 
formerly owned, leased or operated by any of them or other assets, alleging any 
damage to the environment or violation of any Environmental Laws, except, in 
each case, such as could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material 
Adverse Effect. Except as otherwise disclosed to you in writing: 
 
               (a) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has knowledge of any 
        facts which would give rise to any claim, public or private, of 
        violation of Environmental Laws or damage to the environment emanating 
        from, occurring on or in any way related to real properties now or 
        formerly owned, leased or operated by any of them or to other assets or 
        their use, except, in each case, such as could not reasonably be 
        expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; 
 
               (b) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has stored 
        any Hazardous Materials on real properties now or formerly owned, leased 
        or operated by any of them or has disposed of any Hazardous Materials in 
        a manner contrary to any Environmental Laws in each case in any manner 
        that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse 
        Effect; and 
 
               (c) all buildings on all real properties now owned, leased or 
        operated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are in compliance 
        with applicable Environmental Laws, except where failure to comply could 
        not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
 
SECTION 6. REPRESENTATIONS OF THE PURCHASER. 
 
        Section 6.1. Purchase for Investment. You represent that you are 
purchasing the Notes for your own account or for one or more separate accounts 
maintained by you or for the account of one or more pension or trust funds and 
not with a view to the distribution thereof; provided that the disposition of 
your or their property shall at all times be within your or their control. You 
understand that the Notes have not been registered under the Securities Act and 
may be resold only if registered pursuant to the provisions of the Securities 
Act or if an exemption from registration is available, except under 
circumstances where neither such registration nor such an exemption is required 
by law, and that the Company is not required to register the Notes. 
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        Section 6.2.Source of Funds. You represent that at least one of the 
following statements is an accurate representation as to each source of funds (a 
"Source") to be used by you to pay the purchase price of the Notes to be 
purchased by you hereunder: 
 
               (a) if you are an insurance company, the Source does not include 
        assets allocated to any separate account maintained by you in which any 
        employee benefit plan (or its related trust) has any interest, other 
        than a separate account that is maintained solely in connection with 
        your fixed contractual obligations under which the amounts payable, or 
        credited, to such plan and to any participant or beneficiary of such 
        plan (including any annuitant) are not affected in any manner by the 
        investment performance of the separate account; or 
 
               (b) the Source is an "insurance company general account" within 
        the meaning of Department of Labor Prohibited Transaction Exemption 
        ("PTE") 95-60 (issued July 12, 1995) and there is no employee benefit 
        plan, treating as a single plan, all plans maintained by the same 
        employer or employee organization, with respect to which the amount of 
        the general account reserves and liabilities for all contracts held by 
        or on behalf of such plan, exceed ten percent (10%) of the total 
        reserves and liabilities of such general account (exclusive of separate 
        account liabilities) plus surplus, as set forth in the NAIC Annual 
        Statement filed with your state of domicile; or 
 
               (c) the Source is either (1) an insurance company pooled separate 
        account, within the meaning of PTE 90-1 (issued January 29, 1990), or 
        (2) a bank collective investment fund, within the meaning of the PTE 
        91-38 (issued July 12, 1991) and, except as you have disclosed to the 
        Company in writing pursuant to this paragraph (b), no employee benefit 
        plan or group of plans maintained by the same employer or employee 
        organization beneficially owns more than 10% of all assets allocated to 
        such pooled separate account or collective investment fund; or 
 
               (d) the Source constitutes assets of an "investment fund" (within 
        the meaning of Part V of the QPAM Exemption) managed by a "qualified 
        professional asset manager" or "QPAM" (within the meaning of Part V of 
        the QPAM Exemption), no employee benefit plan's assets that are included 
        in such investment fund, when combined with the assets of all other 
        employee benefit plans established or maintained by the same employer or 
        by an affiliate (within the meaning of Section V(c)(1) of the QPAM 
        Exemption) of such employer or by the same employee organization and 
        managed by such QPAM, exceed 20% of the total client assets managed by 
        such QPAM, the conditions of Part l(c) and (g) of the QPAM Exemption are 
        satisfied, neither the QPAM nor a Person controlling or controlled by 
        the QPAM (applying the definition of "control" in Section V(e) of the 
        QPAM Exemption) owns a 5% or more interest in the Company and (1) the 
        identity of such QPAM and (2) the names of all employee benefit plans 
        whose assets are included in such investment fund have been disclosed to 
        the Company in writing pursuant to this paragraph (c); or 
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               (e)  the Source is a governmental plan; or 
 
               (f) the Source is one or more employee benefit plans, or a 
        separate account or trust fund comprised of one or more employee benefit 
        plans, each of which has been identified to the Company in writing 
        pursuant to this paragraph (e); or 
 
               (g) the Source does not include assets of any employee benefit 
        plan, other than a plan exempt from the coverage of ERISA. 
 
        If you or any subsequent transferee of the Notes indicates that you or 
such transferee are relying on any representation contained in paragraph (c), 
(d) or (f) above, the Company shall deliver on the date of Closing or on the 
date of transfer, as applicable, a certificate, which shall state whether (i) it 
is a party in interest or a "disqualified person" (as defined in Section 
4975(e)(2) of the Code), with respect to any plan identified pursuant to 
paragraphs (c) or (f) above, or (ii) with respect to any plan, identified 
pursuant to paragraph (d) above, it or any "affiliate" (as defined in Section 
V(c) of the QPAM Exemption) has at such time, and during the immediately 
preceding one year, exercised the authority to appoint or terminate said QPAM as 
manager of any plan identified in writing pursuant to paragraph (d) above or to 
negotiate the terms of said QPAM's management agreement on behalf of any such 
identified plan. 
 
        As used in this SECTION 6.2, the terms "employee benefit plan," 
"governmental plan," "party in interest" and "separate account" shall have the 
respective meanings assigned to such terms in Section 3 of ERISA. 
 
 
SECTION 7. INFORMATION AS TO THE COMPANY. 
 
        Section 7.1. Financial and Business Information. The Company shall 
deliver to each holder of Notes that is an Institutional Investor: 
 
               (a) Quarterly Statements -- within 45 days after the end of each 
        quarterly fiscal period in each fiscal year of the Company (other than 
        the last quarterly fiscal period of each such fiscal year), duplicate 
        copies of: 
 
                        (1) a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its 
                Restricted Subsidiaries as at the end of such quarter, and 
 
                        (2) consolidated statements of income, changes in 
                shareholders' equity and cash flows of the Company and its 
                Restricted Subsidiaries for such quarter and (in the case of the 
                second and third quarters) for the portion of the fiscal year 
                ending with such quarter, 
 
setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding 
periods in the previous fiscal year, all in reasonable detail, prepared in 
accordance with GAAP applicable to  
 
 
 
                                       12 
 



   19 
 
 
quarterly financial statements generally, and certified by a Senior Financial 
Officer as fairly presenting, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the companies being reported on and their results of operations and cash 
flows, subject to changes resulting from year-end adjustments; 
 
                (b) Annual Statements -- within 90 days after the end of each 
        fiscal year of the Company, duplicate copies of, 
 
                        (1) a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its 
                Restricted Subsidiaries, as at the end of such year, and 
 
                        (2) consolidated statements of income, changes in 
                shareholders' equity and cash flows of the Company and its 
                Restricted Subsidiaries, for such year, setting forth in each 
                case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal 
                year, all in reasonable detail, prepared in accordance with 
                GAAP, and accompanied by: 
 
                                (i) an opinion thereon of independent certified 
                        public accountants of recognized national standing, 
                        which opinion shall state that such financial statements 
                        present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
                        position of the companies being reported upon and their 
                        results of operations and cash flows and have been 
                        prepared in conformity with GAAP, and that the 
                        examination of such accountants in connection with such 
                        financial statements has been made in accordance with 
                        generally accepted auditing standards, and that such 
                        audit provides a reasonable basis for such opinion in 
                        the circumstances, and 
 
                                (ii) a certificate of such accountants stating 
                        that they have reviewed this Agreement and stating 
                        further whether, in making their audit, they have become 
                        aware of any condition or event that then constitutes a 
                        Default or an Event of Default, and, if they are aware 
                        that any such condition or event then exists, specifying 
                        the nature and period of the existence thereof (it being 
                        understood that such accountants shall not be liable, 
                        directly or indirectly, for any failure to obtain 
                        knowledge of any Default or Event of Default unless such 
                        accountants should have obtained knowledge thereof in 
                        making an audit in accordance with generally accepted 
                        auditing standards or did not make such an audit); 
 
                (c) SEC and Other Reports -- promptly upon their becoming 
        available, one copy of (1) each financial statement, report, notice or 
        proxy statement sent by the Company or any Subsidiary to public 
        securities holders generally, and (2) each regular or periodic report, 
        each registration statement (without exhibits except as expressly 
        requested by such holder), and each prospectus and all amendments 
        thereto filed by the Company or any  
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        Subsidiary with the Securities and Exchange Commission and of all press 
        releases and other statements made available generally by the Company or 
        any Subsidiary to the public concerning developments that are Material; 
 
                (d) Notice of Default or Event of Default -- promptly, and in 
        any event within five days after a Responsible Officer becoming aware of 
        the existence of any Default or Event of Default or that any Person has 
        given any notice or taken any action with respect to a claimed default 
        hereunder or that any Person has given any notice or taken any action 
        with respect to a claimed default of the type referred to in SECTION 
        11(f), a written notice specifying the nature and period of existence 
        thereof and what action the Company is taking or proposes to take with 
        respect thereto; 
 
                (e) ERISA Matters -- promptly, and in any event within five days 
        after a Responsible Officer becoming aware of any of the following, a 
        written notice setting forth the nature thereof and the action, if any, 
        that the Company or an ERISA Affiliate proposes to take with respect 
        thereto: 
 
                        (1) with respect to any Plan, any reportable event, as 
                defined in Section 4043(b) of ERISA and the regulations 
                thereunder, for which notice thereof has not been waived 
                pursuant to such regulations as in effect on the date hereof; or 
 
                        (2) the taking by the PBGC of steps to institute, or the 
                threatening by the PBGC of the institution of, proceedings under 
                Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment 
                of a trustee to administer, any Plan, or the receipt by the 
                Company or any ERISA Affiliate of a notice from a Multiemployer 
                Plan that such action has been taken by the PBGC with respect to 
                such Multiemployer Plan; or 
 
                        (3) any event, transaction or condition that could 
                result in the incurrence of any liability by the Company or any 
                ERISA Affiliate pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or the 
                penalty or excise tax provisions of the Code relating to 
                employee benefit plans, or in the imposition of any Lien on any 
                of the rights, properties or assets of the Company or any ERISA 
                Affiliate pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or such penalty or 
                excise tax provisions, if such liability or Lien, taken together 
                with any other such liabilities or Liens then existing, could 
                reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; 
 
                (f) Notices from Governmental Authority -- promptly, and in any 
        event within 30 days of receipt thereof, copies of any notice to the 
        Company or any Subsidiary from any Federal or state Governmental 
        Authority relating to any order, ruling, statute or other law or 
        regulation that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse 
        Effect; 
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                (g) Notices Regarding Litigation -- promptly, and in any event 
        within five days of a Responsible Officer becoming aware of the 
        existence of any threatened or pending litigation which may have a 
        Material Adverse Effect, a written notice describing such litigation; 
        and 
 
                (h) Requested Information -- with reasonable promptness, such 
        other data and information relating to the business, operations, 
        affairs, financial condition, assets or properties of the Company or any 
        of its Subsidiaries or relating to the ability of the Company to perform 
        its obligations hereunder and under the Notes as from time to time may 
        be reasonably requested by any such holder of Notes, including without 
        limitation, such information as is required by SEC Rule 144A under the 
        Securities Act to be delivered to the prospective transferee of the 
        Notes. 
 
        Section 7.2. Officer's Certificate. Each set of financial statements 
delivered to a holder of Notes pursuant to SECTION 7.1(a) or SECTION 7.1(b) 
hereof shall be accompanied by a certificate of a Senior Financial Officer 
setting forth: 
 
                (a) Covenant Compliance -- the information (including detailed 
        calculations) required in order to establish whether the Company was in 
        compliance with the requirements of SECTION 10.2 through SECTION 10.9 
        hereof, inclusive, during the quarterly or annual period covered by the 
        statements then being furnished (including with respect to each such 
        SECTION, where applicable, the calculations of the maximum or minimum 
        amount, ratio or percentage, as the case may be, permissible under the 
        terms of such SECTIONS, and the calculation of the amount, ratio or 
        percentage then in existence); and 
 
                (b) Event of Default -- a statement that such officer has 
        reviewed the relevant terms hereof and has made, or caused to be made, 
        under his or her supervision, a review of the transactions and 
        conditions of the Company and its Subsidiaries from the beginning of the 
        quarterly or annual period covered by the statements then being 
        furnished to the date of the certificate and that such review shall not 
        have disclosed the existence during such period of any condition or 
        event that constitutes a Default or an Event of Default or, if any such 
        condition or event existed or exists (including, without limitation, any 
        such event or condition resulting from the failure of the Company or any 
        Subsidiary to comply with any Environmental Law), specifying the nature 
        and period of existence thereof and what action the Company shall have 
        taken or proposes to take with respect thereto. 
 
        Section 7.3. Inspection. The Company shall permit the representatives of 
each holder of Notes that is an Institutional Investor: 
 
                (a) No Default -- if no Default or Event of Default then exists, 
        at the expense of such holder and upon reasonable prior notice to the 
        Company, to visit the principal executive office of the Company, to 
        discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Company and its 
        Subsidiaries with the Company's officers, and (with the consent of the 
 
 
 
                                       15 
 



   22 
 
 
        Company, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld) its 
        independent public accountants, and (with the consent of the Company, 
        which consent will not be unreasonably withheld) to visit the other 
        offices and properties of the Company and each Subsidiary, all at such 
        reasonable times and as often as may be reasonably requested in writing; 
        and 
 
                (b) Default -- if a Default or Event of Default then exists, at 
        the expense of the Company to visit and inspect any of the offices or 
        properties of the Company or any Subsidiary, to examine all their 
        respective books of account, records, reports and other papers, to make 
        copies and extracts therefrom, and to discuss their respective affairs, 
        finances and accounts with their respective officers and independent 
        public accountants (and by this provision the Company authorizes said 
        accountants to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Company 
        and its Subsidiaries), all at such times and as often as may be 
        requested. 
 
 
SECTION 8. PREPAYMENT OF THE NOTES. 
 
        Section 8.1. Required Prepayments. In addition to paying the entire 
outstanding principal amount and interest due on the Notes on the maturity date 
thereof, the Company agrees that on July 15, 2001 and on each July 15 thereafter 
to and including July 15, 2004 the Company will prepay $8,000,000 principal 
amount (or such lesser principal amount as shall then be outstanding) of the 
Notes at par and without payment of the Make-Whole Amount or any premium; 
provided that upon any partial prepayment of the Notes pursuant to SECTION 8.2 
or purchase of the Notes permitted by SECTION 8.5 the principal amount of each 
required prepayment of the Notes becoming due under this SECTION 8.1 on and 
after the date of such prepayment or purchase shall be reduced in the same 
proportion as the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Notes is reduced as a 
result of such prepayment or purchase. 
 
        Section 8.2. Optional Prepayments with Make-Whole Amount. The Company 
may, at its option, upon notice as provided below, prepay at any time all, or 
from time to time any part of, the Notes, in an amount not less than $1,000,000, 
in the case of a partial prepayment, at 100% of the principal amount so prepaid, 
together with interest accrued thereon to the date of such prepayment, plus the 
Make-Whole Amount determined for the prepayment date with respect to such 
principal amount. The Company will give each holder of Notes written notice of 
each optional prepayment under this SECTION 8.2 not less than 30 days and not 
more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for such prepayment. Each such notice 
shall specify such date, the aggregate principal amount of the Notes to be 
prepaid on such date, the principal amount of each Note held by such holder to 
be prepaid (determined in accordance with SECTION 8.3), and the interest to be 
paid on the prepayment date with respect to such principal amount being prepaid, 
and shall be accompanied by a certificate of a Senior Financial Officer as to 
the estimated Make-Whole Amount due in connection with such prepayment 
(calculated as if the date of such notice were the date of the prepayment), 
setting forth the details of such computation. Two Business Days prior to such 
prepayment, the Company shall deliver to each holder of Notes a certificate of a 
Senior  
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Financial Officer specifying the calculation of such Make-Whole Amount as of the 
specified prepayment date. 
 
        Section 8.3. Allocation of Partial Prepayments. In the case of each 
partial prepayment of the Notes pursuant to SECTION 8.2, the principal amount of 
the Notes to be prepaid shall be allocated among all of the Notes at the time 
outstanding in proportion, as nearly as practicable, to the respective unpaid 
principal amounts thereof not theretofore called for prepayment. 
 
        Section 8.4. Maturity; Surrender, Etc. In the case of each prepayment of 
Notes pursuant to this SECTION 8, the principal amount of each Note to be 
prepaid shall mature and become due and payable on the date fixed for such 
prepayment, together with interest on such principal amount accrued to such date 
and the applicable Make-Whole Amount, if any. From and after such date, unless 
the Company shall fail to pay such principal amount when so due and payable, 
together with the interest and Make-Whole Amount, if any, as aforesaid, interest 
on such principal amount shall cease to accrue. Any Note paid or prepaid in full 
shall be surrendered to the Company and cancelled and shall not be reissued, and 
no Note shall be issued in lieu of any prepaid principal amount of any Note. 
 
        Section 8.5. Purchase of Notes. The Company will not, and will not 
permit any Affiliate to, purchase, redeem, prepay or otherwise acquire, directly 
or indirectly, any of the outstanding Notes except upon the payment or 
prepayment of the Notes in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the 
Notes or the purchase of the Notes pursuant to an offer made in accordance with 
SECTION 13.4. The Company will promptly cancel all Notes acquired by it or any 
Affiliate pursuant to any payment, prepayment or purchase of Notes pursuant to 
any provision of this Agreement and no Notes may be issued in substitution or 
exchange for any such Notes. 
 
        Section 8.6. Make-Whole Amount. The term "Make-Whole Amount" means, with 
respect to any Note, an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the Discounted 
Value of the Remaining Scheduled Payments with respect to the Called Principal 
of such Note over the amount of such Called Principal; provided that the 
Make-Whole Amount may in no event be less than zero. For the purposes of 
determining the Make-Whole Amount, the following terms have the following 
meanings: 
 
                "Called Principal" means, with respect to any Note, the 
        principal of such Note that is to be prepaid pursuant to SECTION 8.2 or 
        has become or is declared to be immediately due and payable pursuant to 
        SECTION 12.1, as the context requires. 
 
                "Discounted Value" means, with respect to the Called Principal 
        of any Note, the amount obtained by discounting all Remaining Scheduled 
        Payments with respect to such Called Principal from their respective 
        scheduled due dates to the Settlement Date with respect to such Called 
        Principal, in accordance with accepted financial practice and at a 
        discount factor (applied on the same periodic basis as that on which 
        interest on the Notes is payable) equal to the Reinvestment Yield with 
        respect to such Called Principal. 
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                "Reinvestment Yield" means, with respect to the Called Principal 
        of any Note, 0.50% over the yield to maturity implied by (a) the yields 
        reported, as of 10:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the second Business 
        Day preceding the Settlement Date with respect to such Called Principal, 
        on the applicable "PX" page of the Bloomberg Financial Markets Services 
        Screen (or such other page as may replace the applicable PX page of the 
        Bloomberg Financial Markets Services Screen) for actively traded U.S. 
        Treasury securities having a maturity equal to the Remaining Average 
        Life of such Called Principal as of such Settlement Date, or (b) if such 
        yields are not reported as of such time or the yields reported as of 
        such time are not ascertainable, the Treasury Constant Maturity Series 
        Yields reported, for the latest day for which such yields have been so 
        reported as of the second Business Day preceding the Settlement Date 
        with respect to such Called Principal, in Federal Reserve Statistical 
        Release H.15 (519) (or any comparable successor publication) for 
        actively traded U.S. Treasury securities having a constant maturity 
        equal to the Remaining Average Life of such Called Principal as of such 
        Settlement Date. Such implied yield will be determined, if necessary, by 
        (1) converting U.S. Treasury bill quotations to bond-equivalent yields 
        in accordance with accepted financial practice and (2) interpolating 
        linearly between (i) the actively traded U.S. Treasury security with the 
        average life closest to and greater than the Remaining Average Life and 
        (ii) the actively traded U.S. Treasury security with the average life 
        closest to and less than the Remaining Average Life. 
 
                "Remaining Average Life" means, with respect to any Called 
        Principal, the number of whole or partial years obtained by dividing (a) 
        such Called Principal into (b) the sum of the products obtained by 
        multiplying (1) the principal component of each Remaining Scheduled 
        Payment with respect to such Called Principal by (2) the number of whole 
        or partial years that will elapse between the Settlement Date with 
        respect to such Called Principal and the scheduled due date of such 
        Remaining Scheduled Payment. 
 
                "Remaining Scheduled Payments" means, with respect to the Called 
        Principal of any Note, all payments of such Called Principal and 
        interest thereon that would be due after the Settlement Date with 
        respect to such Called Principal if no payment of such Called Principal 
        were made prior to its scheduled due date; provided that if such 
        Settlement Date is not a date on which interest payments are due to be 
        made under the terms of the Notes, then the amount of the next 
        succeeding scheduled interest payment will be reduced by the amount of 
        interest accrued to such Settlement Date and required to be paid on such 
        Settlement Date pursuant to SECTION 8.2 or 12.1. 
 
                "Settlement Date" means, with respect to the Called Principal of 
        any Note, the date on which such Called Principal is to be prepaid 
        pursuant to SECTION 8.2 or has become or is declared to be immediately 
        due and payable pursuant to SECTION 12.1, as the context requires. 
 
SECTION 9. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS. 
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        The Company covenants that so long as any of the Notes are outstanding: 
 
        Section 9.1. Compliance with Law. The Company will, and will cause each 
of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, comply with all laws, ordinances or 
governmental rules or regulations to which each of them is subject, including, 
without limitation, ERISA and all Environmental Laws, and will obtain and 
maintain in effect all licenses, certificates, permits, franchises and other 
governmental authorizations necessary to the ownership of their respective 
properties or to the conduct of their respective businesses, in each case to the 
extent necessary to ensure that non-compliance with such laws, ordinances or 
governmental rules or regulations or failures to obtain or maintain in effect 
such licenses, certificates, permits, franchises and other governmental 
authorizations could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be 
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        Section 9.2. Insurance. The Company will, and will cause each of its 
Restricted Subsidiaries to, maintain, with financially sound and reputable 
insurers, insurance with respect to their respective properties and businesses 
against such casualties and contingencies, of such types, on such terms and in 
such amounts (including deductibles, co-insurance and self-insurance, if 
adequate reserves are maintained with respect thereto) as is, to the best of the 
Company's knowledge, customary in the case of entities of established 
reputations engaged in the same or a similar business and similarly situated. 
 
        Section 9.3. Maintenance of Properties. The Company will, and will cause 
each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, maintain and keep, or cause to be 
maintained and kept, their respective properties in good repair, working order 
and condition (other than ordinary wear and tear), so that the business carried 
on in connection therewith may be properly conducted at all times; provided that 
this Section shall not prevent the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary from 
discontinuing the operation and the maintenance of any of its properties if such 
discontinuance is desirable in the conduct of its business and the Company has 
concluded that such discontinuance could not, individually or in the aggregate, 
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        Section 9.4. Payment of Taxes and Claims. The Company will, and will 
cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, file all tax returns required to 
be filed in any jurisdiction and to pay and discharge all taxes shown to be due 
and payable on such returns and all other taxes, assessments, governmental 
charges, or levies imposed on them or any of their properties, assets, income or 
franchises, to the extent such taxes and assessments have become due and payable 
and before they have become delinquent and all claim for which sums have become 
due and payable that have or might become a Lien on properties or assets of the 
Company or any Restricted Subsidiary; provided that neither the Company nor any 
Restricted Subsidiary need pay any such tax or assessment or claims if (a) the 
amount, applicability or validity thereof is contested by the Company or such 
Restricted Subsidiary on a timely basis, in good faith and in appropriate 
proceedings, and the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary has established adequate 
reserves therefor in accordance with GAAP on the books of the Company or such 
Restricted Subsidiary or  
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(b) the nonpayment of all such taxes and assessments in the aggregate could not 
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        Section 9.5. Corporate Existence, Etc. Subject to SECTION 10.8, the 
Company will at all times preserve and keep in full force and effect its 
corporate existence. Subject to SECTIONS 10.7, 10.8 and 10.9, the Company will 
at all times preserve and keep in full force and effect the corporate existence 
of each of its Restricted Subsidiaries (unless merged into the Company or a 
Restricted Subsidiary) and all rights and franchises of the Company and its 
Restricted Subsidiaries unless, in the good faith judgment of the Company, the 
termination of or failure to preserve and keep in full force and effect such 
corporate existence, right or franchise could not, individually or in the 
aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        Section 9.6. Notes to Rank Pari Passu. The Notes and all other 
obligations under this Agreement of the Company are and at all times shall 
remain direct and unsecured obligations of the Company ranking pari passu as 
against the assets of the Company with all other Notes from time to time issued 
and outstanding hereunder without any preference among themselves and pari passu 
with all other present and future unsecured Indebtedness (actual or contingent) 
of the Company which is not expressed to be subordinate or junior in rank to any 
other unsecured Indebtedness of the Company. 
 
 
SECTION 10. NEGATIVE COVENANTS. 
 
        The Company covenants that so long as any of the Notes are outstanding: 
 
        Section 10.1. Nature of Business. The Company will not, and will not 
permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, engage in any business if, as a result 
thereof, (a) the primary nature of the business, taken on a consolidated basis, 
which would then be engaged in by the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries, 
would be substantially different than the rental and sale of modular buildings 
and electronic test and measurement equipment and (b) the general nature of the 
business, taken on a consolidated basis, which would then be engaged in by the 
Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries would be substantially changed from the 
general nature of the business engaged in by the Company and its Restricted 
Subsidiaries on the date of the Closing. 
 
        Section 10.2. Consolidated Net Worth. The Company will not, at any time, 
permit Consolidated Net Worth to be less than the sum of (a) $80,000,000, plus 
(b) an amount equal to 25% of its Consolidated Net Income for the period from 
and after June 30, 1998 to and including the date of any determination hereunder 
(without reduction for losses), less (c) an aggregate amount not to exceed 
$15,000,000 equal to the amount (including related costs) paid by the Company to 
repurchase, redeem or retire any shares of its common stock after June 30, 1998. 
 
        Section 10.3. Fixed Charges Ratios. (a) The Company will not at any time 
permit its Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio to be less than 2.00 to 1.00. 
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        (b) The Company will not at any time permit its Rolling Fixed Charges 
Coverage Ratio to be less than 1.50 to 1.00. 
 
        Section 10.4. Maintenance of Indebtedness. The Company will not at any 
time (a) permit Senior Debt to exceed 275% of Consolidated Net Worth and (b) 
permit Consolidated Total Debt to exceed 300% of Consolidated Net Worth. 
 
        Section 10.5. Limitations on Indebtedness of the Company Secured by 
Liens and Subsidiary Indebtedness. (a) The Company will not (x) create, assume 
or otherwise incur or in any manner become liable in respect of Indebtedness 
secured by Liens or (y) permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to create, 
assume or otherwise incur or in any manner become liable in respect of any 
Indebtedness, except: 
 
                (1) Indebtedness of the Company secured by Liens and 
        Indebtedness of any Restricted Subsidiary, in each case, outstanding on 
        the date of the Closing and reflected on SCHEDULE 5.15 hereto; 
 
                (2) additional Indebtedness of the Company secured by Liens 
        permitted by SECTION 10.6(h) or SECTION 10.6(i); 
 
                (3) additional Indebtedness of the Company secured by Liens 
        permitted by SECTION 10.6(j) and Indebtedness of Restricted 
        Subsidiaries, provided that at the time of issuance thereof and after 
        giving effect thereto and to the application of the proceeds thereof: 
 
                        (i) no Default or Event of Default shall exist, and 
 
                        (ii) the aggregate amount of all Priority Debt shall not 
                exceed 15% of Consolidated Net Worth; and 
 
                (4) Indebtedness of a Restricted Subsidiary to the Company or to 
        a Wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiary. 
 
        (b) Any Person which becomes a Restricted Subsidiary after the date 
hereof shall for all purposes of this SECTION 10.5 be deemed to have created, 
assumed or otherwise incurred at the time it becomes a Restricted Subsidiary all 
Indebtedness of such Person existing immediately after it becomes a Restricted 
Subsidiary. 
 
        Section 10.6. Liens. The Company will not, and will not permit any of 
its Restricted Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly create, incur, assume or 
permit to exist (upon the happening of a contingency or otherwise) any Lien on 
or with respect to any property or asset (including, without limitation, any 
document or instrument in respect of goods or accounts receivable) of the 
Company or any such Restricted Subsidiary, whether now owned or held or 
hereafter acquired, or  
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any income or profits therefrom, or assign or otherwise convey any right to 
receive income or profits, except: 
 
                (a) Liens for taxes, assessments or other governmental charges 
        which are not yet due and payable or the payment of which is not at the 
        time required by SECTION 9.4; 
 
                (b) statutory Liens of landlords and Liens of carriers, 
        warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen and other similar Liens, in each 
        case, which are incurred in the ordinary course of business for sums not 
        yet due and payable or the payment of which is not at the time required 
        by SECTION 9.4; 
 
                (c) Liens (other than any Lien imposed by ERISA) incurred or 
        deposits made in the ordinary course of business (1) in connection with 
        workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other types of social 
        security or retirement benefits, or (2) to secure (or to obtain letters 
        of credit that secure) the performance of tenders, statutory 
        obligations, surety bonds, appeal bonds, bids, leases (other than 
        Capitalized Leases), performance bonds, purchase, construction or sales 
        contracts and other similar obligations, provided that in each case such 
        Lien or Liens shall not have been incurred or made in connection with 
        the borrowing of money, the obtaining of advances or credit or the 
        payment of the deferred purchase price of property and provided further 
        that the incurrence of such Lien or Liens does not have a Material 
        Adverse Effect; 
 
                (d) any attachment or judgment Lien, unless the judgment it 
        secures (1) shall not, within 60 days after the entry thereof, have been 
        discharged or execution thereof stayed pending appeal, or shall not have 
        been discharged within 60 days after the expiration of any such stay or 
        (2) exceeds $2,000,000; 
 
                (e) leases or subleases granted to others, easements, 
        rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar charges or encumbrances, 
        in each case incidental to, and not interfering with, the ordinary 
        conduct of the business of the Company or any of its Restricted 
        Subsidiaries, provided that such Liens do not, in the aggregate, 
        Materially detract from the value of such property; 
 
                (f) Liens on property or assets of the Company or any of its 
        Restricted Subsidiaries securing Indebtedness owing to the Company or to 
        a Wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiary; 
 
                (g) Liens existing on the date of the Closing and securing the 
        Indebtedness of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries referred to 
        on SCHEDULE 5.15; 
 
                (h) any Lien created to secure all or any part of the purchase 
        price, or to secure Indebtedness incurred or assumed to pay all or any 
        part of the purchase price or cost of  
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        construction, of fixed assets acquired or constructed by the Company or 
        a Restricted Subsidiary after the date of the Closing, provided that 
 
                        (1) any such Lien shall extend solely to such fixed 
                assets so acquired or constructed, 
 
                        (2) the principal amount of the Indebtedness secured by 
                any such Lien shall at no time exceed an amount equal to the 
                lesser of (i) the cost to the Company or such Restricted 
                Subsidiary of such fixed assets so acquired or constructed and 
                (ii) the Fair Market Value (as determined in good faith by the 
                Board of Directors of the Company) of such fixed assets at the 
                time of such acquisition or construction, 
 
                        (3) any such Lien shall be created contemporaneously 
                with, or within 180 days after, the acquisition or construction 
                of such fixed assets, and 
 
                        (4) immediately after the creation of such Lien and 
                giving effect thereto, (i) no Default or Event of Default would 
                exist and (ii) the Company would be permitted by the provisions 
                of SECTION 10.5(a)(3) to incur at least $1.00 of additional 
                Priority Debt; 
 
                (i) any Lien existing on property of a Person immediately prior 
        to its being consolidated with or merged into the Company or a 
        Restricted Subsidiary, or any Lien existing on any property acquired by 
        the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary at the time such property is so 
        acquired (whether or not the Indebtedness secured thereby shall have 
        been assumed), provided that (1) no such Lien shall have been created or 
        assumed in contemplation of such consolidation or merger or such 
        acquisition of property, (2) each such Lien shall extend solely to the 
        item or items of property so acquired in connection with such 
        consolidation or merger or such acquisition of property and (3) 
        immediately after giving effect to the acquisition of the property 
        subject to such Lien and giving effect thereto, (i) no Default or Event 
        of Default would exist and (ii) the Company would be permitted by the 
        provisions of SECTION 10.5(a)(3) to incur at least $1.00 of additional 
        Priority Debt; and 
 
               (j) other Liens not otherwise permitted by paragraphs (a) through 
        (i), provided that, the Indebtedness secured by such Liens shall have 
        been incurred within the applicable limitations provided in SECTION 
        10.5(a)(3). 
 
        For the purposes of this SECTION 10.6, any Person becoming a Restricted 
Subsidiary after the date of the Closing shall be deemed to have incurred all of 
its then outstanding Liens at the time it becomes a Restricted Subsidiary, and 
any Person extending, renewing or refunding any Indebtedness secured by any Lien 
shall be deemed to have incurred such Lien at the time of such extension, 
renewal or refunding. 
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        Section 10.7. Mergers, Consolidations, Etc. The Company will not 
consolidate with or merge with any other corporation or convey, transfer or 
lease substantially all of its assets in a single transaction or series of 
transactions to any Person; unless: 
 
                       (a) the successor formed by such consolidation or the 
               survivor of such merger or the Person that acquires by 
               conveyance, transfer or lease substantially all of the assets of 
               the Company as an entirety, as the case may be (the "Successor 
               Corporation"), shall be a solvent corporation organized and 
               existing under the laws of the United States of America, any 
               State thereof or the District of Columbia; 
 
                       (b) if the Company is not the Successor Corporation, (1) 
               such corporation shall have executed and delivered to each holder 
               of the Notes its assumption of the due and punctual performance 
               and observance of each covenant and condition of this Agreement 
               and the Notes (pursuant to such agreements and instruments as 
               shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Required Holders) and (2) 
               the Company shall have caused to be delivered to each holder of 
               the Notes an opinion of nationally recognized independent 
               counsel, or other independent counsel reasonably satisfactory to 
               the Required Holders, to the effect that all agreements or 
               instruments effecting such assumption are enforceable in 
               accordance with their terms and comply with the terms hereof; and 
 
                       (c) immediately after giving effect to such transaction 
               no Default or Event of Default would exist. 
 
        No such conveyance, transfer or lease of substantially all of the assets 
of the Company shall have the effect of releasing the Company or any Successor 
Corporation from its liability under this Agreement or the Notes. 
 
        Section 10.8. Sale of Assets, Etc. Except as expressly permitted under 
SECTION 10.7 and SECTION 10.9, the Company will not, and will not permit any 
Restricted Subsidiary to, make any Asset Disposition unless: 
 
                (a) in the good faith opinion of the Company, the Asset 
        Disposition is in exchange for consideration having a Fair Market Value 
        at least equal to that of the property exchanged and is in the best 
        interest of the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary; 
 
                (b) immediately after giving effect to the Asset Disposition, no 
        Default or Event of Default would exist; and 
 
                (c) immediately after giving effect to the Asset Disposition, 
        the Disposition Value of all property that was the subject of any Asset 
        Disposition occurring during the  
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        immediately preceding 12 consecutive calendar month period would not 
        exceed 10% of Consolidated Total Assets determined as of the end of the 
        then most recently ended fiscal year of the Company. 
 
        If the Net Proceeds Amount for any Transfer constituting an Asset 
Disposition is applied to a Debt Prepayment Application or a Property 
Reinvestment Application within 180 days after such Transfer, then such 
Transfer, only for the purpose of determining compliance with subsection (c) of 
this SECTION 10.8 as of any date on or after the Net Proceeds Amount is so 
applied, shall be deemed not to be an Asset Disposition. 
 
        Section 10.9. Disposal of Ownership of a Restricted Subsidiary. The 
Company will not, and will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, sell or 
otherwise dispose of any shares of Restricted Subsidiary Stock, nor will the 
Company permit any such Restricted Subsidiary to issue, sell or otherwise 
dispose of any shares of its own Restricted Subsidiary Stock, provided that the 
foregoing restrictions do not apply to: 
 
                (a) the issue of directors' qualifying shares by any such 
        Restricted Subsidiary; 
 
                (b) any such Transfer of Restricted Subsidiary Stock 
        constituting a Transfer described in clause (a) of the definition of 
        "Asset Disposition"; and 
 
                (c) the Transfer of all of the Restricted Subsidiary Stock of a 
        Restricted Subsidiary owned by the Company and its other Subsidiaries 
        if: 
 
                        (1) such Transfer satisfies the requirements of SECTION 
                10.8 hereof, 
 
                        (2) in connection with such Transfer the entire 
                Investment (whether represented by stock, Indebtedness, claims 
                or otherwise) of the Company and its other Subsidiaries in such 
                Restricted Subsidiary is sold, transferred or otherwise disposed 
                of to a Person other than (i) the Company, (ii) another 
                Subsidiary not being simultaneously disposed of, or (iii) an 
                Affiliate, and 
 
                        (3) the Restricted Subsidiary being disposed of has no 
                continuing Investment in any other Subsidiary of the Company not 
                being simultaneously disposed of or in the Company. 
 
        Section 10.10. Transactions with Affiliates. The Company will not, and 
will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, enter into directly or indirectly 
any transaction or group of related transactions (including without limitation 
the purchase, lease, sale or exchange of properties of any kind or the rendering 
of any service) with any Affiliate (other than the Company or another Restricted 
Subsidiary), except upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to the 
Company or such Restricted Subsidiary than would be obtainable in a comparable 
arm's-length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate. 
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SECTION 11. EVENTS OF DEFAULT. 
 
        An "Event of Default" shall exist if any of the following conditions or 
events shall occur and be continuing: 
 
                (a) the Company defaults in the payment of any principal or 
        Make-Whole Amount, if any, on any Note when the same becomes due and 
        payable, whether at maturity or at a date fixed for prepayment or by 
        declaration or otherwise; or 
 
                (b) the Company defaults in the payment of any interest on any 
        Note for more than five Business Days after the same becomes due and 
        payable; or 
 
                (c) the Company defaults in the performance of or compliance 
        with any term contained in SECTIONS 10.1 through 10.10; or 
 
                (d) the Company defaults in the performance of or compliance 
        with any term contained herein (other than those referred to in 
        paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this SECTION 11) and such default is not 
        remedied within 30 days after the earlier of (1) a Responsible Officer 
        obtaining actual knowledge of such default and (2) the Company receiving 
        written notice of such default from any holder of a Note (any such 
        written notice to be identified as a "notice of default" and to refer 
        specifically to this paragraph (d) of SECTION 11); or 
 
                (e) any representation or warranty made in writing by or on 
        behalf of the Company or by any officer of the Company in this Agreement 
        or in any writing furnished in connection with the transactions 
        contemplated hereby proves to have been false or incorrect in any 
        material respect on the date as of which made; or 
 
                (f) (1) the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary is in default 
        (as principal or as guarantor or other surety) in the payment of any 
        principal of or premium or make-whole amount or interest on any 
        Indebtedness that is outstanding in an aggregate principal amount of at 
        least $2,000,000 beyond any period of grace provided with respect 
        thereto, or (2) the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary is in default 
        in the performance of or compliance with any term of any evidence of any 
        Indebtedness in an aggregate outstanding principal amount of at least 
        $2,000,000 or of any mortgage, indenture or other agreement relating 
        thereto or any other condition exists, and as a consequence of such 
        default or condition such Indebtedness has become, or has been declared 
        (or one or more Persons are entitled to declare such Indebtedness to 
        be), due and payable before its stated maturity or before its regularly 
        scheduled dates of payment, or (3) as a consequence of the occurrence or 
        continuation of any event or condition (other than the passage of time 
        or the right of the holder of Indebtedness to convert such Indebtedness 
        into equity interests), (i) the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary has 
        become obligated to purchase or repay Indebtedness in an aggregate 
        outstanding principal amount of at least $2,000,000 before its regular 
        maturity or before its regularly scheduled dates of payment, or (ii) one 
        or more  
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        Persons have the right to require the Company or any Restricted 
        Subsidiary so to purchase or repay such Indebtedness; or 
 
                (g) the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary is in default (as 
        principal or as guarantor or other surety) in the payment of any 
        obligation, or the performance of any obligation or condition, under (1) 
        any Material lease or Material purchase agreement and the Company or 
        such Restricted Subsidiary shall not then be contesting the validity of 
        such default, in good faith, by appropriate proceedings or (2) any 
        Interest Rate Protection Agreement and, in each such case, the 
        counter-party has provided written notice, if required, of such default 
        and any applicable time for cure has passed without extension; or 
 
                (h) the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary (1) is generally 
        not paying, or admits in writing its inability to pay, its debts as they 
        become due, (2) files, or consents by answer or otherwise to the filing 
        against it of, a petition for relief or reorganization or arrangement or 
        any other petition in bankruptcy, for liquidation or to take advantage 
        of any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other 
        similar law of any jurisdiction, (3) makes an assignment for the benefit 
        of its creditors, (4) consents to the appointment of a custodian, 
        receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers with respect to 
        it or with respect to any substantial part of its property, (5) is 
        adjudicated as insolvent or to be liquidated, or (6) takes corporate 
        action for the purpose of any of the foregoing; or 
 
                (i) a court or governmental authority of competent jurisdiction 
        enters an order appointing, without consent by the Company or any of its 
        Restricted Subsidiaries, a custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer 
        with similar powers with respect to it or with respect to any 
        substantial part of its property, or constituting an order for relief or 
        approving a petition for relief or reorganization or any other petition 
        in bankruptcy or for liquidation or to take advantage of any bankruptcy 
        or insolvency law of any jurisdiction, or ordering the dissolution, 
        winding-up or liquidation of the Company or any of its Restricted 
        Subsidiaries, or any such petition shall be filed against the Company or 
        any of its Restricted Subsidiaries and such petition shall not be 
        dismissed within 60 days; or 
 
                (j) a final judgment or judgments for the payment of money 
        aggregating in excess of $2,000,000 are rendered against one or more of 
        the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries and which judgments are not, 
        within 60 days after entry thereof, bonded, discharged or stayed pending 
        appeal, or are not discharged within 60 days after the expiration of 
        such stay; or 
 
                (k) if (1) any Plan shall fail to satisfy the minimum funding 
        standards of ERISA or the Code for any plan year or part thereof or a 
        waiver of such standards or extension of any amortization period is 
        sought or granted under Section 412 of the Code, (2) a notice of intent 
        to terminate any Plan shall have been or is reasonably expected to be 
        filed with the PBGC or the PBGC shall have instituted proceedings under 
        ERISA Section 4042 to  
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        terminate or appoint a trustee to administer any Plan or the PBGC shall 
        have notified the Company or any ERISA Affiliate that a Plan may become 
        a subject of any such proceedings, (3) the aggregate "amount of unfunded 
        benefit liabilities" (within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(18) of 
        ERISA) under all Plans, determined in accordance with Title IV of ERISA, 
        shall exceed $1,000,000, (4) the Company or any ERISA Affiliate shall 
        have incurred or is reasonably expected to incur any liability pursuant 
        to Title I or IV of ERISA or the penalty or excise tax provisions of the 
        Code relating to employee benefit plans, (5) the Company or any ERISA 
        Affiliate withdraws from any Multiemployer Plan, or (6) the Company or 
        any ERISA Affiliate establishes or amends any employee welfare benefit 
        plan that provides post-employment welfare benefits in a manner that 
        would increase the liability of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate 
        thereunder; and any such event or events described in clauses (1) 
        through (6) above, either individually or together with any other such 
        event or events, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse 
        Effect. 
 
As used in SECTION 11(k), the terms "employee benefit plan" and "employee 
welfare benefit plan" shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms 
in Section 3 of ERISA. 
 
 
SECTION 12. REMEDIES ON DEFAULT, ETC. 
 
        Section 12.1. Acceleration. (a) If an Event of Default with respect to 
the Company described in paragraph (h) or (i) of SECTION 11 (other than an Event 
of Default described in clause (1) of paragraph (h) or described in clause (6) 
of paragraph (h) by virtue of the fact that such clause encompasses clause (1) 
of paragraph (h)) has occurred, all the Notes then outstanding shall 
automatically become immediately due and payable. 
 
        (b) If any other Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, any 
holder or holders of more than 33-1/3% in principal amount of the Notes at the 
time outstanding may at any time at its or their option, by notice or notices to 
the Company, declare all the Notes then outstanding to be immediately due and 
payable. 
 
        (c) If any Event of Default described in paragraph (a) or (b) of SECTION 
11 has occurred and is continuing, any holder or holders of Notes at the time 
outstanding affected by such Event of Default may at any time, at its or their 
option, by notice or notices to the Company, declare all the Notes held by it or 
them to be immediately due and payable. 
 
        Upon any Note's becoming due and payable under this SECTION 12.1, 
whether automatically or by declaration, such Note will forthwith mature and the 
entire unpaid principal amount of such Note, plus (1) all accrued and unpaid 
interest thereon and (2) the Make-Whole Amount determined in respect of such 
principal amount (to the full extent permitted by applicable law), shall all be 
immediately due and payable, in each and every case without presentment, demand, 
protest or further notice, all of which are hereby waived. The Company 
acknowledges, and the parties hereto agree, that each holder of a Note has the 
right to maintain its investment in  
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the Notes free from repayment by the Company (except as herein specifically 
provided for), and that the provision for payment of a Make-Whole Amount by the 
Company in the event that the Notes are prepaid or are accelerated as a result 
of an Event of Default, is intended to provide compensation for the deprivation 
of such right under such circumstances. 
 
        Section 12.2. Other Remedies. If any Default or Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing, and irrespective of whether any Notes have become or 
have been declared immediately due and payable under SECTION 12.1, the holder of 
any Note at the time outstanding may proceed to protect and enforce the rights 
of such holder by an action at law, suit in equity or other appropriate 
proceeding, whether for the specific performance of any agreement contained 
herein or in any Note, or for an injunction against a violation of any of the 
terms hereof or thereof, or in aid of the exercise of any power granted hereby 
or thereby or by law or otherwise. 
 
        Section 12.3. Rescission. At any time after any Notes have been declared 
due and payable pursuant to clause (b) or (c) of SECTION 12.1, the holders of 
not less than 67% in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, by written 
notice to the Company, may rescind and annul any such declaration and its 
consequences if (a) the Company has paid all overdue interest on the Notes, all 
principal of and Make-Whole Amount, if any, on any Notes that are due and 
payable and are unpaid other than by reason of such declaration, and all 
interest on such overdue principal and Make-Whole Amount, if any, and (to the 
extent permitted by applicable law) any overdue interest in respect of the 
Notes, at the Default Rate, (b) all Events of Default and Defaults, other than 
non-payment of amounts that have become due solely by reason of such 
declaration, have been cured or have been waived pursuant to SECTION 17, and (c) 
no judgment or decree has been entered for the payment of any monies due 
pursuant hereto or to the Notes. No rescission and annulment under this SECTION 
12.3 will extend to or affect any subsequent Event of Default or Default or 
impair any right consequent thereon. 
 
        Section 12.4. No Waivers or Election of Remedies, Expenses, Etc. No 
course of dealing and no delay on the part of any holder of any Note in 
exercising any right, power or remedy shall operate as a waiver thereof or 
otherwise prejudice such holder's rights, powers or remedies. No right, power or 
remedy conferred by this Agreement or by any Note upon any holder thereof shall 
be exclusive of any other right, power or remedy referred to herein or therein 
or now or hereafter available at law, in equity, by statute or otherwise. 
Without limiting the obligations of the Company under SECTION 15, the Company 
will pay to the holder of each Note on demand such further amount as shall be 
sufficient to cover all costs and expenses of such holder incurred in any 
enforcement or collection under this SECTION 12, including, without limitation, 
reasonable attorneys' fees, expenses and disbursements. 
 
 
SECTION 13. REGISTRATION; EXCHANGE; SUBSTITUTION OF NOTES. 
 
        Section 13.1. Registration of Notes. The Company shall keep at its 
principal executive office a register for the registration and registration of 
transfers of Notes. The name and address of each holder of one or more Notes, 
each transfer thereof and the name and address of each  
 
 
 
 
                                       29 
 



   36 
 
 
transferee of one or more Notes shall be registered in such register. Prior to 
due presentment for registration of transfer, the Person in whose name any Note 
shall be registered shall be deemed and treated as the owner and holder thereof 
for all purposes hereof, and the Company shall not be affected by any notice or 
knowledge to the contrary. The Company shall give to any holder of a Note that 
is an Institutional Investor promptly upon request therefor, a complete and 
correct copy of the names and addresses of all registered holders of Notes. 
 
        Section 13.2. Transfer and Exchange of Notes. Upon surrender of any Note 
at the principal executive office of the Company for registration of transfer or 
exchange (and in the case of a surrender for registration of transfer, duly 
endorsed or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer duly executed by the 
registered holder of such Note or its attorney duly authorized in writing and 
accompanied by the address for notices of each transferee of such Note or part 
thereof), the Company shall execute and deliver, at the Company's expense 
(except as provided below), one or more new Notes (as requested by the holder 
thereof) in exchange therefor, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the 
unpaid principal amount of the surrendered Note. Each such new Note shall be 
payable to such Person as such holder may request and shall be substantially in 
the form of EXHIBIT 1. Each such new Note shall be dated and bear interest from 
the date to which interest shall have been paid on the surrendered Note or dated 
the date of the surrendered Note if no interest shall have been paid thereon. 
The Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp tax or 
governmental charge imposed in respect of any such transfer of Notes. Notes 
shall not be transferred in denominations of less than $100,000; provided that 
if necessary to enable the registration of transfer by a holder of its entire 
holding of Notes, one Note may be in a denomination of less than $100,000. Any 
transferee, by its acceptance of a Note registered in its name (or the name of 
its nominee), shall be deemed to have made the representation set forth in 
SECTION 6.2. Any transferee, by its acceptance of a Note registered in its name 
(or the name of its nominee), shall be deemed to have made the representation 
set forth in SECTION 6.2, provided, however, that, such transferee will not be 
deemed to have chosen the options set forth in SECTION 6.2(c), (d) or (f) unless 
such transferee shall have made the disclosures referred to therein at least 
five Business Days prior to its acceptance of such Note and shall have received 
prior to such acceptance of such Note the certificate provided for in the 
penultimate paragraph of SECTION 6.2 and such certificate shall contain the 
statement set forth in either SECTION 4.3(c)(1) or (2), as applicable; and 
provided, further, that, such transferee will not be deemed to have chosen an 
option set forth in SECTION 6.2(b) or (e) unless the applicable Class Exemption 
referred to therein remains in effect at that time or another similar Class 
Exemption is then available. The Company shall exercise reasonable due diligence 
as is necessary to respond to any such disclosure, provided that, if the Company 
shall not respond within five Business Days following receipt of any such 
disclosure, the Company shall be deemed to have made the statement set forth in 
either Section 4.3(c)(1) or (2), as applicable. 
 
        Section 13.3. Replacement of Notes. Upon receipt by the Company of 
evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of the ownership of and the loss, theft, 
destruction or mutilation of any Note  
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(which evidence shall be, in the case of an Institutional Investor, notice from 
such Institutional Investor of such ownership and such loss, theft, destruction 
or mutilation), and 
 
                (a) in the case of loss, theft or destruction, of indemnity 
        reasonably satisfactory to it (provided that if the holder of such Note 
        is, or is a nominee for, an original Purchaser or another holder of a 
        Note with a minimum net worth of at least $25,000,000, such Person's own 
        unsecured agreement of indemnity shall be deemed to be satisfactory), or 
 
                (b) in the case of mutilation, upon surrender and cancellation 
        thereof, 
 
        the Company at its own expense shall execute and deliver, in lieu 
thereof, a new Note, dated and bearing interest from the date to which interest 
shall have been paid on such lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Note or dated 
the date of such lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Note if no interest shall 
have been paid thereon. 
 
        Section 13.4. Right of First Offer. (a) So long as no Default or Event 
of Default exists, before any holder of the Notes may transfer its Note or Notes 
to any Person (except for a transfer to an Affiliate of such holder or as part 
of a portfolio sale), such holder shall offer such Note or Notes for purchase by 
the Company at a cash price specified by such holder (the "Noteholder Determined 
Price") as determined in its sole and absolute discretion. Such offer may be 
accepted, at any time within five Business Days after the date of receipt by the 
Company of the notice of the offer and the Noteholder Determined Price, by 
irrevocable written notice of the acceptance of such offer and of the closing 
date for such purchase, which closing date shall not be more than 5 Business 
Days after the Company's receipt of such holder's written offer. 
 
        (b) If the Company does not give written notice of acceptance or reject 
the offer within the five-Business Day provided for in SECTION 13.4(a), the 
right shall be deemed waived in respect of such offer and, such right shall 
thereupon terminate and have no further force and effect. 
 
        (c) After the deemed waiver or rejection by the Company of an offer 
delivered by a holder of the Notes pursuant to SECTION 13.4(a), the Company 
shall, upon request and within a reasonable period of time after receipt of such 
request, furnish to such holder a statement certifying any deemed waiver or 
rejection of such right of first offer, which statement shall be binding on the 
Company. 
 
 
SECTION 14. PAYMENTS ON NOTES. 
 
        Section 14.1. Place of Payment. Subject to SECTION 14.2, payments of 
principal, Make-Whole Amount, if any, and interest becoming due and payable on 
the Notes shall be made in Chicago, Illinois at the principal office of Bank of 
America in such jurisdiction. The Company may at any time, by notice to each 
holder of a Note, change the place of payment of the Notes so  
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long as such place of payment shall be either the principal office of the 
Company in such jurisdiction or the principal office of a bank or trust company 
in such jurisdiction. 
 
        Section 14.2. Home Office Payment. So long as you or your nominee shall 
be the holder of any Note, and notwithstanding anything contained in SECTION 
14.1 or in such Note to the contrary, the Company will pay all sums becoming due 
on such Note for principal, Make-Whole Amount, if any, and interest by the 
method and at the address specified for such purpose below your name in SCHEDULE 
A, or by such other method or at such other address as you shall have from time 
to time specified to the Company in writing for such purpose, without the 
presentation or surrender of such Note or the making of any notation thereon, 
except that upon written request of the Company made concurrently with or 
reasonably promptly after payment or prepayment in full of any Note, you shall 
surrender such Note for cancellation, reasonably promptly after any such 
request, to the Company at its principal executive office or at the place of 
payment most recently designated by the Company pursuant to SECTION 14.1. Prior 
to any sale or other disposition of any Note held by you or your nominee you 
will, at your election, either endorse thereon the amount of principal paid 
thereon and the last date to which interest has been paid thereon or surrender 
such Note to the Company in exchange for a new Note or Notes pursuant to SECTION 
13.2. The Company will afford the benefits of this SECTION 14.2 to any 
Institutional Investor that is the direct or indirect transferee of any Note 
purchased by you under this Agreement and that has made the same agreement 
relating to such Note as you have made in this SECTION 14.2. 
 
 
SECTION 15. EXPENSES, ETC. 
 
        Section 15.1. Transaction Expenses. Whether or not the transactions 
contemplated hereby are consummated, the Company will pay all costs and expenses 
(including reasonable attorneys' fees of a special counsel and, if reasonably 
required, local or other counsel) incurred by you and each Other Purchaser or 
holder of a Note in connection with such transactions and in connection with any 
amendments, waivers or consents under or in respect of this Agreement or the 
Notes (whether or not such amendment, waiver or consent becomes effective), 
including, without limitation: (a) the costs and expenses incurred in enforcing 
or defending (or determining whether or how to enforce or defend) any rights 
under this Agreement or the Notes or in responding to any subpoena or other 
legal process or informal investigative demand issued in connection with this 
Agreement or the Notes, or by reason of being a holder of any Note, and (b) the 
costs and expenses, including financial advisors' fees, incurred in connection 
with the insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or any Subsidiary or in 
connection with any work-out or restructuring of the transactions contemplated 
hereby and by the Notes. The Company will pay, and will save you and each other 
holder of a Note harmless from, all claims in respect of any fees, costs or 
expenses, if any, of brokers and finders (other than those retained by you). 
 
        Section 15.2. Survival. The obligations of the Company under this 
SECTION 15 will survive the payment or transfer of any Note, the enforcement, 
amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or the Notes, and the 
termination of this Agreement. 
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SECTION 16. SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 
 
        All representations and warranties contained herein shall survive the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Notes, the purchase or transfer 
by you of any Note or portion thereof or interest therein and the payment of any 
Note, and may be relied upon by any subsequent holder of a Note, regardless of 
any investigation made at any time by or on behalf of you or any other holder of 
a Note. All statements contained in any certificate or other instrument 
delivered by or on behalf of the Company pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
deemed representations and warranties of the Company under this Agreement. 
Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement and the Notes embody the 
entire agreement and understanding between you and the Company and supersede all 
prior agreements and understandings relating to the subject matter hereof. 
 
 
SECTION 17. AMENDMENT AND WAIVER. 
 
        Section 17.1. Requirements. This Agreement and the Notes may be amended, 
and the observance of any term hereof or of the Notes may be waived (either 
retroactively or prospectively), with (and only with) the written consent of the 
Company and the Required Holders, except that (a) no amendment or waiver of any 
of the provisions of SECTION 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 or 21 hereof, or any defined term 
(as it is used therein), will be effective as to you unless consented to by you 
in writing, and (b) no such amendment or waiver may, without the written consent 
of the holder of each Note at the time outstanding affected thereby, (1) subject 
to the provisions of SECTION 12 relating to acceleration or rescission, change 
the amount or time of any prepayment or payment of principal of, or reduce the 
rate or change the time of payment or method of computation of interest or of 
the Make-Whole Amount on, the Notes, (2) change the percentage of the principal 
amount of the Notes the holders of which are required to consent to any such 
amendment or waiver, or (3) amend any of SECTIONS 8, 11(a), 11(b), 12, 17 or 20. 
 
        Section 17.2.   Solicitation of Holders of Notes. 
 
        (a) Solicitation. The Company will provide each holder of the Notes 
(irrespective of the amount of Notes then owned by it) with sufficient 
information, sufficiently far in advance of the date a decision is required, to 
enable such holder to make an informed and considered decision with respect to 
any proposed amendment, waiver or consent in respect of any of the provisions 
hereof or of the Notes. The Company will deliver executed or true and correct 
copies of each amendment, waiver or consent effected pursuant to the provisions 
of this SECTION 17 to each holder of outstanding Notes promptly following the 
date on which it is executed and delivered by, or receives the consent or 
approval of, the requisite holders of Notes. 
 
        (b) Payment. The Company will not directly or indirectly pay or cause to 
be paid any remuneration, whether by way of supplemental or additional interest, 
fee or otherwise, or grant any security, to any holder of Notes as consideration 
for or as an inducement to the entering into by any holder of Notes of any 
waiver or amendment of any of the terms and provisions hereof  
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unless such remuneration is concurrently paid, or security is concurrently 
granted, on the same terms, ratably to each holder of Notes then outstanding 
even if such holder did not consent to such waiver or amendment. 
 
        Section 17.3. Binding Effect, Etc. Any amendment or waiver consented to 
as provided in this SECTION 17 applies equally to all holders of Notes and is 
binding upon them and upon each future holder of any Note and upon the Company 
without regard to whether such Note has been marked to indicate such amendment 
or waiver. No such amendment or waiver will extend to or affect any obligation, 
covenant, agreement, Default or Event of Default not expressly amended or waived 
or impair any right consequent thereon. No course of dealing between the Company 
and the holder of any Note nor any delay in exercising any rights hereunder or 
under any Note shall operate as a waiver of any rights of any holder of such 
Note. As used herein, the term "this Agreement" and references thereto shall 
mean this Agreement as it may from time to time be amended or supplemented. 
 
        Section 17.4. Notes Held by Company, Etc. Solely for the purpose of 
determining whether the holders of the requisite percentage of the aggregate 
principal amount of Notes then outstanding approved or consented to any 
amendment, waiver or consent to be given under this Agreement or the Notes, or 
have directed the taking of any action provided herein or in the Notes to be 
taken upon the direction of the holders of a specified percentage of the 
aggregate principal amount of Notes then outstanding, Notes directly or 
indirectly owned by the Company or any of its Affiliates shall be deemed not to 
be outstanding. 
 
 
SECTION 18. NOTICES. 
 
        All notices and communications provided for hereunder shall be in 
writing and sent (a) by telefacsimile if the sender on the same day sends a 
confirming copy of such notice by a recognized overnight delivery service 
(charges prepaid), or (b) by registered or certified mail with return receipt 
requested (postage prepaid), or (c) by a recognized overnight delivery service 
(with charges prepaid). Any such notice must be sent: 
 
                (1) if to you or your nominee, to you or it at the address 
        specified for such communications in SCHEDULE A, or at such other 
        address as you or it shall have specified to the Company in writing, 
 
                (2) if to any other holder of any Note, to such holder at such 
        address as such other holder shall have specified to the Company in 
        writing, or 
 
                (3) if to the Company, to the Company at its address set forth 
        at the beginning hereof to the attention of Chief Financial Officer, or 
        at such other address as the Company shall have specified to the holder 
        of each Note in writing. 
 
        Notices under this SECTION 18 will be deemed given only when actually 
received. 
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SECTION 19. REPRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS. 
 
        This Agreement and all documents relating hereto, including, without 
limitation, (a) consents, waivers and modifications that may hereafter be 
executed, (b) documents received by you at the Closing (except the Notes 
themselves), and (c) financial statements, certificates and other information 
previously or hereafter furnished to you, may be reproduced by you by any 
photographic, photostatic, microfilm, microcard, miniature photographic or other 
similar process and you may destroy any original document so reproduced. The 
Company agrees and stipulates that, to the extent permitted by applicable law, 
any such reproduction shall be admissible in evidence as the original itself in 
any judicial or administrative proceeding (whether or not the original is in 
existence and whether or not such reproduction was made by you in the regular 
course of business) and any enlargement, facsimile or further reproduction of 
such reproduction shall likewise be admissible in evidence. This SECTION 19 
shall not prohibit the Company or any other holder of Notes from contesting any 
such reproduction to the same extent that it could contest the original, or from 
introducing evidence to demonstrate the inaccuracy of any such reproduction. 
 
 
SECTION 20. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. 
 
        For the purposes of this SECTION 20, "Confidential Information" means 
information delivered to you by or on behalf of the Company or any Subsidiary in 
connection with the transactions contemplated by or otherwise pursuant to this 
Agreement that is proprietary in nature and that was clearly marked or labeled 
or otherwise adequately identified in writing when received by you as being 
confidential information of the Company or such Subsidiary, including, without 
limitation, information delivered to you by the Company's independent public 
accountants pursuant to SECTION 7.3; provided that such term does not include 
information that (a) was publicly known or otherwise known to you prior to the 
time of such disclosure, (b) subsequently becomes publicly known through no act 
or omission by you or any Person acting on your behalf, (c) otherwise becomes 
known to you other than through disclosure by the Company or any Subsidiary or 
(d) constitutes financial statements delivered to you under SECTION 7.1 that are 
otherwise publicly available. You will maintain the confidentiality of such 
Confidential Information in accordance with procedures adopted by you in good 
faith to protect confidential information of third parties delivered to you; 
provided that you may deliver or disclose Confidential Information to (1) your 
directors, trustees, officers, employees, agents, attorneys and affiliates (to 
the extent such disclosure reasonably relates to the administration of the 
investment represented by your Notes), (2) your financial advisors and other 
professional advisors who agree to hold confidential the Confidential 
Information substantially in accordance with the terms of this SECTION 20, (3) 
any other holder of any Note, (4) any Institutional Investor to which you sell 
or offer to sell such Note or any part thereof or any participation therein (if 
such Person has agreed in writing prior to its receipt of such Confidential 
Information to be bound by the provisions of this SECTION 20), (5) any Person 
from which you offer to purchase any security of the Company (if such Person has 
agreed in writing prior to its receipt of such Confidential Information to be 
bound by the provisions of this SECTION 20), (6) any Federal or state regulatory 
authority having  
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jurisdiction over you, (7) the National Association of Insurance Commissioners 
or any similar organization, or any nationally recognized rating agency that 
requires access to information about your investment portfolio or (8) any other 
Person to which such delivery or disclosure may be necessary or appropriate (i) 
to effect compliance with any law, rule, regulation or order applicable to you, 
(ii) in response to any subpoena or other legal process, (iii) in connection 
with any litigation to which you are a party or (iv) if an Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing, to the extent you may reasonably determine such 
delivery and disclosure to be necessary or appropriate in the enforcement or for 
the protection of the rights and remedies under your Notes and this Agreement. 
Each holder of a Note, by its acceptance of a Note, will be deemed to have 
agreed to be bound by and to be entitled to the benefits of this SECTION 20 as 
though it were a party to this Agreement. On reasonable request by the Company 
in connection with the delivery to any holder of a Note of information required 
to be delivered to such holder under this Agreement or requested by such holder 
(other than a holder that is a party to this Agreement or its nominee), such 
holder will enter into an agreement with the Company embodying the provisions of 
this SECTION 20. 
 
 
SECTION 21. SUBSTITUTION OF PURCHASER. 
 
        You shall have the right to substitute any one of your Affiliates as the 
purchaser of the Notes that you have agreed to purchase hereunder, by written 
notice to the Company, which notice shall be signed by both you and such 
Affiliate, shall contain such Affiliate's agreement to be bound by this 
Agreement and shall contain a confirmation by such Affiliate of the accuracy 
with respect to it of the representations set forth in SECTION 6. Upon receipt 
of such notice, wherever the word "you" is used in this Agreement (other than in 
this SECTION 21), such word shall be deemed to refer to such Affiliate in lieu 
of you. In the event that such Affiliate is so substituted as a purchaser 
hereunder and such Affiliate thereafter transfers to you all of the Notes then 
held by such Affiliate, upon receipt by the Company of notice of such transfer, 
wherever the word "you" is used in this Agreement (other than in this SECTION 
21), such word shall no longer be deemed to refer to such Affiliate, but shall 
refer to you, and you shall have all the rights of an original holder of the 
Notes under this Agreement. 
 
 
SECTION 22. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
        Section 22.1. Successors and Assigns. All covenants and other agreements 
contained in this Agreement by or on behalf of any of the parties hereto bind 
and inure to the benefit of their respective successors and assigns (including, 
without limitation, any subsequent holder of a Note) whether so expressed or 
not. 
 
        Section 22.2. Payments due on Non-Business Days. Anything in this 
Agreement or the Notes to the contrary notwithstanding, any payment of principal 
of or Make-Whole Amount or interest on any Note that is due on a date other than 
a Business Day shall be made on the next  
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succeeding Business Day without including the additional days elapsed in the 
computation of the interest payable on such next succeeding Business Day. 
 
        Section 22.3. Severability. Any provision of this Agreement that is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, 
be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without 
invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or 
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall (to the full extent permitted by law) 
not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. 
 
        Section 22.4. Construction. Each covenant contained herein shall be 
construed (absent express provision to the contrary) as being independent of 
each other covenant contained herein, so that compliance with any one covenant 
shall not (absent such an express contrary provision) be deemed to excuse 
compliance with any other covenant. Where any provision herein refers to action 
to be taken by any Person, or which such Person is prohibited from taking, such 
provision shall be applicable whether such action is taken directly or 
indirectly by such Person. 
 
        Where the character or amount of any asset or liability or item of 
income or expense is required to be determined or any consolidation or other 
accounting computation is required to be made by the Company for the purposes of 
this Agreement, the same shall be done by the Company in accordance with GAAP, 
to the extent applicable, except where such principles are inconsistent with the 
requirements of this Agreement. 
 
        Section 22.5. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number 
of counterparts, each of which shall be an original but all of which together 
shall constitute one instrument. Each counterpart may consist of a number of 
copies hereof, each signed by less than all, but together signed by all, of the 
parties hereto. 
 
        SECTION 22.6. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND 
ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, AND THE RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, 
THE LAW OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, EXCLUDING CHOICE-OF-LAW PRINCIPLES OF THE LAW 
OF SUCH STATE THAT WOULD REQUIRE THE APPLICATION OF THE LAWS OF A JURISDICTION 
OTHER THAN SUCH STATE. 
 
 
 
                                    * * * * * 
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        If you are in agreement with the foregoing, please sign the form of 
agreement on the accompanying counterpart of this Agreement and return it to the 
Company, whereupon the foregoing shall become a binding agreement between you 
and the Company. 
 
                                       Very truly yours, 
 
                                       MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
 
 
 
                                       By 
                                       Title: 
 
Accepted as of _________, 1998 
 
                                       [VARIATION] 
 
 
 
 
                                       By 
 
                                       Its 
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                       INFORMATION RELATING TO PURCHASERS 
 
 
 
                                                                   PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 
NAME AND ADDRESS OF PURCHASER                                      NOTES TO BE PURCHASED 
                                                                             
CONNECTICUT GENERAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY                              $8,000,000 
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc.                                             $4,000,000 
900 Cottage Grove Road                                                  $5,000,000 
Hartford, Connecticut  06152-2307 
Attention:  Private Securities Division  - S-307 
Fax:  860-726-7203 
 
 
Payments 
 
All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be by Federal Funds Wire Transfer 
to: 
 
        Chase NYC/CTR/ 
        BNF=CIGNA Private Placements/AC=9009001802 
        ABA #021000021 
        OBI=[McGrath RentCorp.; Senior Notes; 6.44%; due 2005; 580589 A* 0; due 
        date and application (as among principal, premium and interest of the 
        payment being made); contact name and phone.] 
 
Address for Notices Related to Payments: 
 
        CIG & Co. 
        c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc. 
        Attention:  Securities Processing S-309 
        900 Cottage Grove Road 
        Hartford, Connecticut  06152-2309 
 
        CIG & Co. 
        c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc. 
        Attention:  Private Securities - S-307 
        Operations Group 
        900 Cottage Grove Road 
        Hartford, Connecticut  06152-2307 
        Fax:  860-726-7203 
 
        with a copy to: 
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        Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A. 
        Private Placement Servicing 
        P. O. Box 1508 
        Bowling Green Station 
        New York, New York  10081 
        Attention:  CIGNA Private Placements 
        Fax:  212-552-3107/1005 
 
Address for All Other Notices: 
 
        CIG & Co. 
        c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc. 
        Attention:  Private Securities Division - S-307 
        Attention: Richard B. McGauley 
        900 Cottage Grove Road 
        Hartford, Connecticut  06152-2307 
        Fax:  860-726-7203 
 
Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued:  CIG & Co. 
Taxpayer I.D. Number for CIG & Co.:  13-3574027 
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                                                                   PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 
NAME AND ADDRESS OF PURCHASER                                      NOTES TO BE PURCHASED 
                                                                         
CONNECTICUT GENERAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, 
ON BEHALF OF ONE OR MORE SEPARATE ACCOUNTS                                 $3,000,000 
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc. 
900 Cottage Grove Road 
Hartford, Connecticut  06152-2307 
Attention:  Private Securities Division  - S-307 
Fax:  860-726-7203 
 
 
 
 
Payments 
 
All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be by Federal Funds Wire 
        Transfer to:  
 
        Chase NYC/CTR/  
        BNF=CIGNA Private Placements/AC=9009001802 
        ABA #021000021  
        OBI=[McGrath RentCorp.; Senior Notes; 6.44%; due 2005; 
        580589 A* 0; due date and application (as among principal, premium and 
        interest of the payment being made); contact name and phone.] 
 
Address for Notices Related to Payments: 
 
        CIG & Co. 
        c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc. 
        Attention:  Securities Processing S-309 
        900 Cottage Grove Road 
        Hartford, Connecticut  06152-2309 
 
        CIG & Co. 
        c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc. 
        Attention:  Private Securities - S-307 
        Operations Group 
        900 Cottage Grove Road 
        Hartford, Connecticut  06152-2307 
        Fax:  860-726-7203 
 
        with a copy to: 
 
        Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A. 
        Private Placement Servicing 
        P. O. Box 1508 
        Bowling Green Station 
        New York, New York  10081 
        Attention:  CIGNA Private Placements 
        Fax:  212-552-3107/1005 
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Address for All Other Notices: 
 
        CIG & Co. 
        c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc. 
        Attention:  Private Securities Division - S-307 
        Attention: Richard B. McGauley 
        900 Cottage Grove Road 
        Hartford, Connecticut  06152-2307 
        Fax:  860-726-7203 
 
Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued:  CIG & Co. 
Taxpayer I.D. Number for CIG & Co.:  13-3574027 
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                                                                   PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 
NAME AND ADDRESS OF PURCHASER                                      NOTES TO BE PURCHASED 
                                                                                     
ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY                                                      $5,000,000 
3075 Sanders Road, STE G3A 
Northbrook, Illinois  60062-7127 
Attention:  Private Placements Department 
Telephone Number:  (847) 402-4394 
Telecopier Number:  (847) 402-3092 
 
 
 
Payments 
 
All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be made by Fedwire transfer of 
immediately available funds (identifying each payment with name of the Issuer 
(and the Credit, if any), the Private Placement Number preceded by "DPP" and the 
payment as principal, interest or premium) in the exact format as follows: 
 
        BBK =  Harris Trust and Savings Bank 
               ABA #071000288 
        BNF =  Allstate Insurance Company 
               Collection Account #168-114-7 
        ORG =  McGrath RentCorp. 
        OBI =  DPP - 580589 A* 0 -- 
               Payment Due Date (MM/DD/YY) -- 
               P   ______ (enter "P" and the amount of principal being 
                    remitted, for example, P5000000.00) -- 
               I ________ (enter "I" and the amount of interest being 
                    remitted, for example, I225000.00) 
Notices 
 
All notices of scheduled payments and written confirmation of each such payment, 
to be addressed: 
 
        Allstate Insurance Company 
        Investment Operations--Private Placements 
        3075 Sanders Road, STE G4A 
        Northbrook, Illinois  60062-7127 
        Telephone:  (847) 402-2769 
        Telecopy:  (847) 326-5040 
 
All financial reports, compliance certificates and all other written 
communications, including notice of prepayments to be addressed as first 
provided above. 
 
Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued:  None 
 
Taxpayer I.D. Number:  36-0719665 
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                                                                   PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 
NAME AND ADDRESS OF PURCHASER                                      NOTES TO BE PURCHASED 
                                                                                     
ALLSTATE LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY                                                 $2,500,000 
3075 Sanders Road, STE G3A                                                      $2,500,000 
Northbrook, Illinois  60062-7127 
Attention:  Private Placements Department 
Telephone Number:  (847) 402-4394 
Telecopier Number:  (847) 402-3092 
 
 
 
 
Payments 
 
All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be made by Fedwire transfer of 
immediately available funds (identifying each payment with name of the Issuer 
(and the Credit, if any), the Private Placement Number preceded by "DPP" and the 
payment as principal, interest or premium) in the exact format as follows: 
 
        BBK =     Harris Trust and Savings Bank 
                  ABA #071000288 
        BNF =     Allstate Life Insurance Company 
                  Collection Account #168-117-0 
        ORG =     McGrath RentCorp. 
        OBI =     DPP - 580589 A* 0 -- 
                  Payment Due Date (MM/DD/YY) -- 
                  P   ______ (enter "P" and the amount of principal being 
                      remitted, for example, P5000000.00) -- 
                  I   ______ (enter "I" and the amount of interest being 
                      remitted, for example, I225000.00) 
 
Notices 
 
All notices of scheduled payments and written confirmation of each such payment, 
to be addressed: 
 
        Allstate Insurance Company 
        Investment Operations--Private Placements 
        3075 Sanders Road, STE G4A 
        Northbrook, Illinois  60062-7127 
        Telephone:  (847) 402-2769 
        Telecopy:  (847) 326-5040 
 
All financial reports, compliance certificates and all other written 
communications, including notice of prepayments to be addressed as first 
provided above. 
 
Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued:  None 
 
Taxpayer I.D. Number:  36-2554642 
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                                                                   PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 
NAME AND ADDRESS OF PURCHASER                                      NOTES TO BE PURCHASED 
                                                                                
NATIONWIDE LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY                                         $10,000,000 
One Nationwide Plaza (1-33-07) 
Columbus, Ohio  43215-2220 
 
 
 
Payments 
 
All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be by bank wire transfer of 
Federal or other immediately available funds (identifying each payment as 
"McGrath RentCorp, 6.44% Senior Notes due 2005, PPN 580589 A* 0, principal, 
premium or interest") to: 
 
        The Bank of New York 
        ABA #021-000-018 
        BNF:  IOC566 
        F/A/O Nationwide Life Insurance Co. - S/A OH 
        Attention:  P&I Department 
        Notices 
        All notices of payment on or in respect of the Notes and written 
        confirmation of each such payment to: 
 
        Nationwide Life Insurance Company 
        c/o The Bank of New York 
        P. O. Box 19266 
        Newark, New Jersey  07195 
        Attention:  P&I Department 
 
        With a copy to: 
 
        Nationwide Life Insurance Company 
        One Nationwide Plaza (1-32-05) 
        Columbus, Ohio  43215-2220 
        Attention:  Investment Accounting 
 
All notices and communications other than those in respect to payments to be 
addressed: 
 
        Nationwide Life Insurance Company 
        One Nationwide Plaza (1-33-07) 
        Columbus, Ohio  43215-2220 
        Attention:  Corporate Fixed-Income Securities 
 
Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued:  None 
 
Taxpayer I.D. Number:  31-4156830 
 
 
 
 
                                       45 
 
 



   52 
 
 
 
                                  DEFINED TERMS 
 
        As used herein, the following terms have the respective meanings set 
forth below or set forth in the Section hereof following such term: 
 
        "Affiliate" means, at any time, and with respect to any Person, (a) any 
other Person that at such time directly or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries Controls, or is Controlled by, or is under common Control with, 
such first Person, (b) any other Person beneficially owning or holding, directly 
or indirectly, 5% or more of any class of voting or equity interests of such 
first Person or any other Person of which such first Person beneficially owns or 
holds, in the aggregate, directly or indirectly, 5% or more of any class of 
voting or equity interests and (c) any officer or director of such first Person 
or any Person fulfilling an equivalent function of an officer or director. As 
used in this definition, "Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, 
of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of 
a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or 
otherwise. Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, any reference to an 
"Affiliate" is a reference to an Affiliate of the Company. 
 
        "Asset Disposition" means any Transfer except: 
 
                (a) any 
 
                        (1) Transfer from a Restricted Subsidiary to the Company 
                or to a Wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiary; and 
 
                        (2) Transfer from the Company to a Wholly-owned 
                Restricted Subsidiary. 
 
        so long as immediately before and immediately after the consummation of 
        any such Transfer and after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event 
        of Default would exist; 
 
                (b) any Transfer made in the ordinary course of business and 
        involving only property that is either (1) inventory held for rent or 
        sale (which shall include property returned to the Company or a 
        Restricted Subsidiary, as the lessor of such property, at the end of the 
        lease term for such property) or (2) equipment, fixtures, supplies or 
        materials no longer required in the operation of the business of the 
        Company or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries or that is obsolete; 
 
                (c) any Transfer of lease receivables at face or par value and 
        otherwise on terms consistent with standard industry practice. 
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        "Business Day" means (a) for the purposes of SECTION 8.6 only, any day 
other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which commercial banks in Chicago, 
Illinois are required or authorized to be closed, and (b) for the purposes of 
any other provision of this Agreement, any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday 
or a day on which commercial banks in San Francisco, California are required or 
authorized to be closed. 
 
        "Capitalized Lease" means any lease the obligation for Rentals with 
respect to which is required to be capitalized on a consolidated balance sheet 
of the lessee and its subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP. 
 
        "Capitalized Rentals" of any Person means as of the date of any 
determination thereof the amount at which the aggregate Rentals due and to 
become due under all Capitalized Leases under which such Person is a lessee 
would be reflected as a liability on a consolidated balance sheet of such 
Person. 
 
        "Closing" is defined in SECTION 3. 
 
        "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to 
time, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder from time to time. 
 
        "Company" means McGrath RentCorp, a California corporation. 
 
        "Confidential Information" is defined in SECTION 20. 
 
        "Consolidated Net Income" means, with reference to any period, the net 
income (or loss) of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period 
(taken as a cumulative whole), as determined in accordance with GAAP, after 
eliminating all offsetting debits and credits between the Company and its 
Restricted Subsidiaries and all other items required to be eliminated in the 
course of the preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Company 
and its Restricted Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP. 
 
        "Consolidated Net Income Available for Fixed Charges" for any period 
means the sum of (a) Consolidated Net Income during such period plus (b) to the 
extent deducted in determining Consolidated Net Income, all provisions for any 
Federal, state or other income taxes made by the Company and its Restricted 
Subsidiaries during such period plus (c) Fixed Charges of the Company and its 
Restricted Subsidiaries during such period. 
 
        "Consolidated Net Worth" means, as of the date of any determination 
thereof, 
 
                (a) the sum of (1) the par value (or value stated on the books 
        of the corporation) of the capital stock (but excluding treasury stock 
        and capital stock subscribed and unissued) of the Company and its 
        Restricted Subsidiaries plus (2) the amount of the paid-in capital and 
        retained earnings of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries, in 
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        each case as such amounts would be shown on a consolidated balance sheet 
        of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries as of such time prepared 
        in accordance with GAAP, minus 
 
                (b) to the extent included in clause (a) above, all amounts 
        properly attributable to Minority Interests, if any, in the stock and 
        surplus of Restricted Subsidiaries, minus 
 
                (c) the book value of all Restricted Investments of the Company 
        and its Restricted Subsidiaries acquired after the date of the Closing 
        in excess of an amount equal to 10% of the amount determined pursuant to 
        clauses (a) and (b) of this definition. 
 
        "Consolidated Total Assets" means, as of the date of any determination 
thereof, the total assets of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries which 
would be shown as assets on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its 
Restricted Subsidiaries as of such time prepared in accordance with GAAP, after 
eliminating all amounts properly attributable to Minority Interests, if any, in 
the stock and surplus of Restricted Subsidiaries. 
 
        "Consolidated Total Debt" means, as of the date of any determination 
thereof, the total of all Indebtedness of the Company and its Restricted 
Subsidiaries outstanding on such date, after eliminating all offsetting debits 
and credits between the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries and all other 
items required to be eliminated in the course of the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries in 
accordance with GAAP. 
 
        "Debt Prepayment Application" means, with respect to any Transfer of 
property constituting an Asset Disposition, the application by the Company or 
its Restricted Subsidiaries of cash in an amount equal to the Net Proceeds 
Amount with respect to such Transfer to pay Senior Debt (other than Senior Debt 
owing to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any Affiliate). 
 
        "Default" means an event or condition the occurrence or existence of 
which would, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both, become an 
Event of Default. 
 
        "Default Rate" means that rate of interest that is the greater of (a) 2% 
per annum above the rate of interest stated in clause (a) of the first paragraph 
of the Notes or (b) 2% over the rate of interest publicly announced by Bank of 
America in Chicago, Illinois as its "reference" rate. 
 
        "Disposition Value" means, as of any date of determination, with respect 
to any property 
 
                (a) in the case of property that does not constitute Subsidiary 
        Stock, the Fair Market Value thereof, valued at the time of such 
        disposition in good faith by the Company, and 
 
                (b) in the case of property that constitutes Subsidiary Stock, 
        an amount equal to that percentage of book value of the assets of the 
        Subsidiary that issued such stock as is  
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        equal to the percentage that the book value of such Subsidiary Stock 
        represents of the book value of all of the outstanding capital stock of 
        such Subsidiary (assuming, in making such calculations, that all 
        securities convertible into such capital stock are so converted and 
        giving full effect to all transactions that would occur or be required 
        in connection with such conversion) determined at the time of the 
        disposition thereof in good faith by the Company. 
 
        "Environmental Laws" means any and all Federal, state, local, and 
foreign statutes, laws, regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, 
decrees, permits, concessions, grants, franchises, licenses, agreements or 
governmental restrictions relating to pollution and the protection of the 
environment or the release of any materials into the environment, including but 
not limited to those related to hazardous substances or wastes, air emissions 
and discharges to waste or public systems. 
 
        "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 
amended from time to time, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder 
from time to time in effect. 
 
        "ERISA Affiliate" means any trade or business (whether or not 
incorporated) that is treated as a single employer together with the Company 
under Section 414 of the Code. 
 
        "Event of Default" is defined in SECTION 11. 
 
        "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 
 
        "Fair Market Value" means, as of any date of determination and with 
respect to any property, the sale value of such property that would be realized 
in an arm's-length sale at such time between an informed and willing buyer and 
an informed and willing seller (neither being under a compulsion to buy or 
sell). 
 
        "Fixed Charges" for any period means on a consolidated basis the sum of 
(a) all Rentals (other than Rentals on Capitalized Leases, but including all 
rents paid under any so-called "percentage leases") payable during such period 
by the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries, and (b) all Interest Expense on 
all Indebtedness of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries. 
 
        "Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio" means, as of the date of any 
determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Net Income Available for Fixed 
Charges for a period consisting of any four of the immediately preceding five 
consecutive fiscal quarters of the Company (selected by the Company) ending on, 
or most recently ended prior to, such time to (b) Fixed Charges for such period. 
 
        "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from 
time to time in the United States of America. 
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        "Governmental Authority" means 
 
                (a) the government of 
 
                        (1) the United States of America or any State or other 
                political subdivision thereof, or 
 
                        (2) any jurisdiction in which the Company or any 
                Subsidiary conducts all or any part of its business, or which 
                asserts jurisdiction over any properties of the Company or any 
                Subsidiary, or 
 
                (b) any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, 
        regulatory or administrative functions of, or pertaining to, any such 
        government. 
 
        "Guaranty" means, with respect to any Person, any obligation (except the 
endorsement in the ordinary course of business of negotiable instruments for 
deposit or collection) of such Person guaranteeing or in effect guaranteeing any 
Indebtedness, dividend or other obligation of any other Person in any manner, 
whether directly or indirectly, including (without limitation) obligations 
incurred through an agreement, contingent or otherwise, by such Person: 
 
                (a) to purchase such Indebtedness or obligation or any property 
        constituting security therefor; 
 
                (b) to advance or supply funds (1) for the purchase or payment 
        of such Indebtedness or obligation, or (2) to maintain any working 
        capital or other balance sheet condition or any income statement 
        condition of any other Person or otherwise to advance or make available 
        funds for the purchase or payment of such Indebtedness or obligation; 
 
                (c) to lease properties or to purchase properties or services 
        primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or 
        obligation of the ability of any other Person to make payment of the 
        Indebtedness or obligation; or 
 
                (d) otherwise to assure the owner of such Indebtedness or 
        obligation against loss in respect thereof. 
 
        In any computation of the Indebtedness or other liabilities of the 
obligor under any Guaranty, (i) the Indebtedness or other obligations that are 
the subject of such Guaranty shall be assumed to be direct obligations of such 
obligor and (ii) the Indebtedness and the Guaranty thereof, if any, shall in the 
aggregate be deemed to be Indebtedness equal to the principal amount of such 
Indebtedness. 
 
        "Hazardous Material" means any and all pollutants, toxic or hazardous 
wastes or any other substances, including all substances listed in or regulated 
in any Environmental Law that  
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might pose a hazard to health or safety, the removal of which may be required or 
the generation, manufacture, refining, production, processing, treatment, 
storage, handling, transportation, transfer, use, disposal, release, discharge, 
spillage, seepage, or filtration of which is or shall be restricted, regulated, 
prohibited or penalized by any applicable law (including, without limitation, 
asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation and polychlorinated biphenyls). 
 
        "holder" means, with respect to any Note, the Person in whose name such 
Note is registered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to SECTION 
13.1. 
 
        "Indebtedness" of any Person means and includes (without duplication, 
and, in the case of a determination of consolidated Indebtedness of such Person, 
after eliminating offsetting debits and credits between such Person and its 
subsidiaries, and all other items required to be eliminated in the course of the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements of such Person and its 
subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP) all obligations of such Person which in 
accordance with GAAP shall be classified upon a balance sheet of such Person as 
liabilities of such Person, and in any event shall include all (a) obligations 
of such Person for borrowed money or which have been incurred in connection with 
the acquisition of property or assets, (b) obligations secured by any Lien upon 
property or assets owned by such Person, even though such Person has not assumed 
or become liable for the payment of such obligations, (c) obligations created or 
arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with 
respect to property acquired by such Person, notwithstanding the fact that the 
rights and remedies of the seller, lender or lessor under such agreement in the 
event of default are limited to repossession or sale of property, (d) 
Capitalized Rentals under any Capitalized Lease, (e) obligations evidenced by 
bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (f) obligations upon which 
interest charges are customarily paid, (g) obligations issued or assumed as the 
deferred purchase price of property or services, provided, however, that trade 
payables and payroll expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business shall 
not be included, (h) Guaranties of obligations of others of the character 
referred to in this definition and (i) obligations in respect of letters of 
credit and bankers' acceptances (other than any such obligations in respect of 
undrawn amounts under letters of credit related to trade payables). 
 
        "Institutional Investor" means (a) any original purchaser of a Note, (b) 
any holder of a Note holding more than 5% of the aggregate principal amount of 
the Notes then outstanding, and (c) any bank, trust company, savings and loan 
association or other financial institution, any pension plan, any investment 
company, any insurance company, any broker or dealer, or any other similar 
financial institution or entity, regardless of legal form. 
 
        "Interest Expense" means, with respect to any period, the sum (without 
duplication) of the following (in each case, eliminating all offsetting debits 
and credits between the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries and all other 
items required to be eliminated in the course of the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries in 
accordance with GAAP): (a) all interest in respect of Indebtedness of the 
Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries (including imputed interest on 
Capitalized Leases) deducted in determining  
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Consolidated Net Income for such period, and (b) all debt discount and expense 
amortized or required to be amortized in the determination of Consolidated Net 
Income for such period. 
 
        "Interest Rate Protection Agreement" means any agreement, device or 
arrangement designed to protect at least one of the parties thereto from the 
fluctuations of interest rates, exchange rates or forward rates applicable to 
such party's assets, liabilities or exchange transactions, including, without 
limitation, dollar-denominated or cross-currency interest rate exchange 
agreements, forward currency exchange agreements, dollar protection agreements, 
interest rate cap agreements, interest rate collar agreements, forward rate 
currency or interest rate options, puts or warrants. 
 
        "Investments" means all investments, in cash or by delivery of property, 
made directly or indirectly in any property or assets or in any Person, whether 
by acquisition of shares of capital stock, Indebtedness or other obligations or 
securities or by loan, advance, capital contribution or otherwise; provided that 
"Investments" shall not mean or include routine investments in property to be 
used or consumed in the ordinary course of business. 
 
        "Lien" means, with respect to any Person, any mortgage, lien, pledge, 
charge, security interest or other encumbrance, or any interest or title of any 
vendor, lessor, lender or other secured party to or of such Person under any 
conditional sale or other title retention agreement or Capital Lease, upon or 
with respect to any property or asset of such Person (including in the case of 
stock, stockholder agreements, voting trust agreements and all similar 
arrangements). 
 
        "Make-Whole Amount" is defined in SECTION 8.6. 
 
        "Material" means material in relation to the business, operations, 
affairs, financial condition, assets, properties, or prospects of the Company 
and its Restricted Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
 
        "Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (a) the 
business, operations, affairs, financial condition, assets, properties or 
prospects of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries taken as a whole, or 
(b) the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement 
and the Notes, or (c) the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or the 
Notes. 
 
        "Memorandum" is defined in SECTION 5.3. 
 
        "Minority Interests" means any shares of stock of any class of a 
Restricted Subsidiary (other than directors' qualifying shares as required by 
law) that are not owned by the Company and/or one or more of its Restricted 
Subsidiaries. Minority Interests shall be valued by valuing Minority Interests 
constituting preferred stock at the voluntary or involuntary liquidating value 
of such preferred stock, whichever is greater, and by valuing Minority Interests 
constituting common stock at the book value of capital and surplus applicable 
thereto adjusted, if necessary, to reflect  
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any changes from the book value of such common stock required by the foregoing 
method of valuing Minority Interests in preferred stock. 
 
        "Multiemployer Plan" means any Plan that is a "multiemployer plan" (as 
such term is defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA). 
 
        "Net Proceeds Amount" means, with respect to any Transfer of any 
property by any Person, an amount equal to the difference of 
 
                (a) the aggregate amount of the consideration (valued at the 
        Fair Market Value of such consideration at the time of the consummation 
        of such Transfer) allocated to such Person in respect of such Transfer, 
        net of any applicable taxes incurred in connection with such Transfer, 
        minus 
 
                (b) all ordinary and reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses 
        actually incurred by such Person in connection with such Transfer. 
 
        "Noteholder Determined Price" is defined in SECTION 13.4(A). 
 
        "Notes" is defined in SECTION 1. 
 
        "Officer's Certificate" means a certificate of a Senior Financial 
Officer or of any other officer of the Company whose responsibilities extend to 
the subject matter of such certificate. 
 
        "Other Agreements" is defined in SECTION 2. 
 
        "Other Purchasers" is defined in SECTION 2. 
 
        "PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and 
defined in ERISA or any successor thereto. 
 
        "Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited 
liability company, association, trust, unincorporated organization, or a 
government or agency or political subdivision thereof. 
 
        "Plan" means an "employee benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(3) of 
ERISA) that is or, within the preceding five years, has been established or 
maintained, or to which contributions are or, within the preceding five years, 
have been made or required to be made, by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate or 
with respect to which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may have any liability. 
 
        "Priority Debt" means the aggregate amount of all (a) Indebtedness of 
the Company secured by Liens permitted by SECTION 10.6(J) and (b) Indebtedness 
of Restricted Subsidiaries  
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(other than Indebtedness incurred pursuant to SECTION 10.5(A)(4)) incurred after 
the date of the Closing. 
 
        "property" or "properties" means, unless otherwise specifically limited, 
real or personal property of any kind, tangible or intangible, choate or 
inchoate. 
 
        "Property Reinvestment Application" means, with respect to any Transfer 
of property constituting an Asset Disposition, the application of an amount 
equal to the Net Proceeds Amount with respect to such Transfer to the 
acquisition by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary of operating assets of 
the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary to be used in the principal business of 
such Person. 
 
        "PTE" is defined in SECTION 6.2(A). 
 
        "QPAM Exemption" means Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption 84-14 
issued by the United States Department of Labor. 
 
        "Rejection Date" is defined in SECTION 13.4(B). 
 
        "Rentals" means and include as of the date of any determination thereof 
all fixed payments (including as such all payments which the lessee is obligated 
to make to the lessor on termination of the lease or surrender of the property) 
payable by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary, as lessee or sublessee under 
a lease of real or personal property, but shall be exclusive of any amounts 
required to be paid by the Company or a Restricted Subsidiary (whether or not 
designated as rents or additional rents) on account of maintenance, repairs, 
insurance, taxes and similar charges. Fixed rents under any so-called 
"percentage leases" shall be computed solely on the basis of the minimum rents, 
if any, required to be paid by the lessee regardless of sales volume or gross 
revenues. 
 
        "Required Holders" means, at any time, the holders of at least 51% in 
principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding (exclusive of Notes then 
owned by the Company or any of its Affiliates). 
 
        "Responsible Officer" means any Senior Financial Officer and any other 
officer of the Company with responsibility for the administration of the 
relevant portion of this Agreement. 
 
        "Restricted Investments" means all Investments, other than: 
 
                (a) Investments in property or assets to be used in the ordinary 
        course of the business of the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries; 
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                (b) Investments by the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries 
        in and to Restricted Subsidiaries, including any Investment in a 
        corporation which, after giving effect to such Investment, will become a 
        Restricted Subsidiary; 
 
                (c) Investments in direct obligations of the United States of 
        America or any agency or instrumentality of the United States of 
        America, the payment or guarantee of which constitutes a full faith and 
        credit obligation of the United States of America, in either case, 
        maturing within three years from the date of acquisition thereof; 
 
                (d) Investments in readily-marketable obligations of 
        indebtedness of any State of the United States of America or any 
        municipality organized under the laws of any State of the United States 
        of America or any political subdivision thereof which, at the time of 
        acquisition by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, are accorded 
        one of the two highest ratings by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a 
        division of The McGraw Hill Companies, Inc., Moody's Investors Service, 
        Inc. or another nationally recognized credit rating agency of similar 
        standard which in any such case mature no later than three years after 
        the date of acquisition thereof; 
 
                (e) Investments in certificates of deposit or bankers' 
        acceptances maturing within one year from the date of issuance thereof, 
        issued by a bank or trust company organized under the laws of the United 
        States of America or any State thereof, having capital, surplus and 
        undivided profits aggregating at least $250,000,000 and whose long-term 
        certificates of deposit are, at the time of acquisition thereof by the 
        Company or a Restricted Subsidiary, accorded one of the two highest 
        ratings by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw 
        Hill Companies, Inc., Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or another 
        nationally recognized credit rating agency of similar standard; 
 
                (f) Investments in commercial paper of corporations organized 
        under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof 
        maturing in 270 days or less from the date of issuance which, at the 
        time of acquisition by the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, are 
        accorded one of the highest ratings by Standard & Poor's Services, a 
        division of The McGraw Hill Companies, Inc., by Moody's Investors 
        Service, Inc. or another nationally recognized credit rating agency of 
        similar standing; 
 
                (g) Investments in any money market instrument programs which 
        are classified as a current asset in accordance with GAAP, which money 
        market instrument programs are administered by a bank or trust company 
        that meets the criteria set forth in clause (e) above; 
 
                (h) Investments of the Company existing as of the date of the 
        Closing and described on SCHEDULE 10.11 hereto; and 
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               (i) Investments of the Company not described in the foregoing 
        clauses (a) through (h); provided that the aggregate amount of all such 
        Investments shall not at any time exceed 10% of the aggregate amount 
        described in clauses (a) and (b) of the definition of "Consolidated Net 
        Worth." 
 
        In valuing any Investments for the purpose of applying the limitations 
set forth in the definition of "Consolidated Net Worth," Investments shall be 
taken at the original cost thereof, without allowance for any subsequent 
write-offs or appreciation or depreciation therein, but less any amount repaid 
or recovered in cash on account of capital or principal. 
 
        "Restricted Subsidiary" means (a) any Subsidiary (1) which is organized 
under the laws of the United States or any State thereof; (2) which conducts 
substantially all of its business and has substantially all of its assets within 
the United States; (3) of which more than 80% (by number of votes) of the Voting 
Stock is beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company and (4) 
which has been designated a "Restricted Subsidiary" by the Company on SCHEDULE 
5.4 hereto or is designated a "Restricted Subsidiary" by resolution of the Board 
of Directors of the Company, a copy of such resolution having been delivered to 
the holders; and (b) Enviroplex, a California corporation. 
 
        "Restricted Subsidiary Stock" shall mean the Subsidiary Stock of any 
Restricted Subsidiary. 
 
        "Rolling Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio" means, as of the date of any 
determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Net Income Available for Fixed 
Charges for a period consisting of the immediately preceding four consecutive 
fiscal quarters of the Company ending on, or most recently ended prior to, such 
time to (b) Fixed Charges for such period. 
 
        "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time 
to time. 
 
        "Senior Debt" means all Consolidated Total Debt, other than Subordinated 
Debt. 
 
        "Senior Financial Officer" means the chief financial officer, principal 
accounting officer, treasurer or comptroller of the Company. 
 
        "Source" is defined in SECTION 6.2. 
 
        "Subordinated Debt" means all Indebtedness of the Company (a) identified 
as Subordinated Debt on SCHEDULE 5.15 or (b) (1) which has a weighted average 
life to maturity greater than the weighted average life to maturity of the Notes 
and (2) for which the right of payment or security is subordinated in respect to 
Indebtedness evidenced by the Notes. 
 
        "Subsidiary" means, as to any Person, any corporation, association or 
other business entity in which such Person or one or more of its Subsidiaries or 
such Person and one or more of  
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its Subsidiaries owns sufficient equity or voting interests to enable it or them 
(as a group) ordinarily, in the absence of contingencies, to elect a majority of 
the directors (or Persons performing similar functions) of such entity, and any 
partnership or joint venture if more than a 50% interest in the profits or 
capital thereof is owned by such Person or one or more of its Subsidiaries or 
such Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries (unless such partnership can and 
does ordinarily take major business actions without the prior approval of such 
Person or one or more of its Subsidiaries). Unless the context otherwise clearly 
requires, any reference to a "Subsidiary" is a reference to a Subsidiary of the 
Company. 
 
        "Subsidiary Stock" means, with respect to any Person, the stock (or any 
options) or warrants to purchase stock or other Securities exchangeable for or 
convertible into stock) of any Subsidiary of such Person. 
 
        "Successor Corporation" is defined in SECTION 10.7. 
 
        "Transfer" means, with respect to any Person, any transaction in which 
such Person sells, conveys, transfers or leases (as lessor) any of its property, 
including, without limitation, Subsidiary Stock. For purposes of determining the 
application of the Net Proceeds Amount in respect of any Transfer, the Company 
may designate any Transfer as one or more separate Transfers each yielding a 
separate Net Proceeds Amount. In any such case, (a) the Disposition Value of any 
property subject to each such separate Transfer and (b) the amount of 
Consolidated Total Assets attributable to any property subject to each such 
separate Transfer shall be determined by ratably allocating the aggregate 
Disposition Value of, and the aggregate Consolidated Total Assets attributable 
to, all property subject to all such separate Transfers to each such separate 
Transfer on a proportionate basis. 
 
        "Unrestricted Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary which is not a Restricted 
Subsidiary. 
 
        "Voting Stock" means Securities of any class or classes, the holders of 
which are ordinarily, in the absence of contingencies, entitled to elect a 
majority of the corporate directors (or Persons performing similar functions). 
 
        "Wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiary" means, at any time, any Restricted 
Subsidiary (100%) of all the equity interests (except directors' qualifying 
shares) and voting interests of which are owned by anyone or more of the Company 
and the Company's other Wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiaries at such time. 
 
        "Wholly-owned Subsidiary" means, at any time, any Subsidiary one hundred 
percent (100%) of all of the equity interests (except directors' qualifying 
shares) and voting interests of which are owned by any one or more of the 
Company and the Company's other Wholly-owned Subsidiaries at such time. 
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                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
                             1998 STOCK OPTION PLAN 
 
                   SECTION 1. PURPOSE OF PLAN; ADMINISTRATION. 
 
        1.1 PURPOSE. The intent and purpose of this 1998 Stock Option Plan (the 
"PLAN") is to strengthen McGrath RentCorp, a California corporation ("MCGRATH"), 
by providing a means to attract and retain competent personnel and to provide to 
participating officers, key employees, directors and others added incentive for 
high levels of performance and for unusual efforts to improve the financial 
performance of MCGRATH. The purposes may be achieved through the grant of 
options to purchase common stock of MCGRATH (the "COMMON STOCK"). The options 
granted under the PLAN may be incentive stock options ("INCENTIVE OPTIONS") as 
defined in Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
"CODE"), or options which are not incentive stock options as so defined in that 
code section ("NON-QUALIFIED OPTIONS"). 
 
        1.2 ADMINISTRATION. This PLAN shall be administered by the Board of 
Directors of MCGRATH (the "BOARD"). Any action of the BOARD with respect to the 
administration of the PLAN shall be taken pursuant to a majority vote, or by the 
written consent of all of its members. Subject to the express provisions of the 
Plan, the BOARD shall have the authority to construe and interpret the PLAN, to 
define the terms used herein, to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and 
regulations relating to the administration of the PLAN, and to make all other 
determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the PLAN. The 
determinations of the BOARD on the foregoing matters shall be conclusive. 
Subject to the express provisions of the Plan, the BOARD shall determine from 
the eligible class the individuals who shall receive options, and the terms and 
provisions of such options (which need not be identical). No member of the BOARD 
shall be liable for any action, failure to act, determination or interpretation 
made in good faith with respect to the PLAN or any transaction hereunder. 
 
        1.3 PARTICIPATION. Only officers, key employees and directors of MCGRATH 
or of any subsidiary of MCGRATH, and other persons who provide significant 
valuable services to MCGRATH or any subsidiary of MCGRATH, shall be eligible for 
selection to participate in the PLAN upon approval by the BOARD. INCENTIVE 
OPTIONS may be granted only to persons who are employees of MCGRATH or a 
subsidiary of MCGRATH. An individual who has been granted an option (a 
"PARTICIPANT") may, if otherwise eligible, be granted additional options if the 
BOARD shall so determine. 
 
        1.4 STOCK SUBJECT TO THE PLAN. Subject to the adjustments provided in 
Section 3.1 hereof, the stock to be offered under the PLAN shall be shares of 
authorized but unissued COMMON STOCK. The aggregate amount of COMMON STOCK to be 
issued under this PLAN shall not exceed two million (2,000,000) shares, subject 
to adjustment as set forth in Section 3.1 of this PLAN. If any option granted 
hereunder shall expire or terminate for any reason without having been fully 
exercised, the unpurchased shares subject thereof shall again be available for 
the purposes of this PLAN. 
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        1.5 OPTION AGREEMENT. All options granted hereunder shall be evidenced 
by a written stock option agreement, which agreement shall specify whether the 
option granted is intended to be an INCENTIVE OPTION or to be a NON-QUALIFIED 
OPTION. The BOARD may provide for additional terms and conditions in such stock 
option agreements not inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Plan, 
and in the case of INCENTIVE OPTIONS, terms and provisions not prohibited by 
Section 422 of the CODE. 
 
                         SECTION 2. STOCK OPTION TERMS. 
 
        2.1 OPTION PRICE. The purchase price of the COMMON STOCK covered by each 
option shall be determined by the BOARD, but shall not be less than 100% of the 
FAIR MARKET VALUE of such stock on the date immediately preceding the granting 
of the option. 
 
               2.1.1 If an INCENTIVE OPTION is granted to an employee who, at 
the time such option is granted, owns or is deemed to own more than ten percent 
(10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of MCGRATH, the 
option price shall be at least 110% of the FAIR MARKET VALUE of the COMMON STOCK 
on the date immediately preceding the granting of the option. 
 
               2.1.2 "FAIR MARKET VALUE" shall mean: (1) the closing price of 
the COMMON STOCK as reported by the NASDAQ Stock Market or by any national 
exchange on which the COMMON STOCK may hereafter be listed, or if no trading 
occurred on such date for the next preceding date on which such trading 
occurred; or (2) if there is no trading of the COMMON STOCK either on the NASDAQ 
Stock Market or on a national exchange, the value established by the BOARD in 
good faith. 
 
               2.1.3 The purchase price of any shares purchased shall be paid in 
full in cash or by check acceptable to MCGRATH at the time of each purchase; 
provided that, subject to the discretion of the BOARD and upon receipt of all 
regulatory approvals, the person exercising the option may deliver shares of 
COMMON STOCK in payment of the exercise price. Such stock shall be valued at its 
FAIR MARKET VALUE on the date immediately preceding the day of exercise of the 
option. 
 
        2.2 OPTION PERIOD. Except as provided below, each option and all rights 
or obligations thereunder shall expire on such date as the BOARD shall 
determine, but not later than the day before the tenth (10th) anniversary of the 
date on which the option is granted (the "EXPIRATION DATE"), and shall be 
subject to earlier termination as hereinafter provided. 
 
               2.2.1 If an INCENTIVE OPTION is granted to an employee, who at 
the time the option is granted owns or is deemed to own more than ten percent 
(10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of MCGRATH, 
each such option and all rights or obligations thereunder shall expire as the 
BOARD shall determine but not later than the day before the fifth (5th) 
anniversary of the date on which the option is granted (the "EXPIRATION DATE"). 
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        2.3 EXERCISE OF OPTIONS. Each option shall become exercisable and the 
total number of shares subject thereto shall be purchasable, in such 
installments, which need not be equal, as the BOARD shall determine (subject to 
Section 2.10 of this PLAN in the case of an INCENTIVE OPTION); provided, 
however, that if the PARTICIPANT shall not purchase in any given installment 
period all of the shares purchasable, the right to purchase any shares not 
purchased in such installment period shall continue until the EXPIRATION DATE or 
sooner termination of such PARTICIPANT's option. The BOARD may, at any time 
after grant of the option and from time to time, increase the number of shares 
purchasable in any installment, subject to the restrictions imposed by Section 
422 of the CODE in the case of INCENTIVE OPTIONS, but may not increase the total 
number of shares subject to the option. No option or installment thereof shall 
be exercisable except in respect of whole shares, and fractional share interests 
shall be disregarded. 
 
        2.4 NON-TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS. An option granted under this PLAN 
shall, by its terms, be non-transferable by the PARTICIPANT other than by will 
or the laws of descent and distribution, and shall be exercisable during the 
PARTICIPANT's lifetime only by the PARTICIPANT or his or her duly appointed 
guardian or personal representative. 
 
        2.5 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. If the PARTICIPANT's employment with 
MCGRATH terminates for any reason other than death or disability, such 
PARTICIPANT shall have, at the discretion of the BOARD at the time of grant of 
the option, a period no longer than three (3) months after the date of 
termination to exercise his or her option. Upon expiration of such period, all 
unexercised options of such PARTICIPANT under this PLAN shall terminate. If the 
BOARD does not grant such a period in the written stock agreement, all of the 
PARTICIPANT's unexercised options shall terminate at the close of business 
thirty (30) days after PARTICIPANT's last day of employment. 
 
               2.5.1 Employment Not Continued. Neither service as a director, 
consultant, advisor or other service provider by a PARTICIPANT who had been 
granted an option when an employee, nor the payment of a director's, 
consultant's, advisor's or other fee by MCGRATH, shall be sufficient to 
constitute continued "employment" by MCGRATH with respect to such option. 
 
               2.5.2 Transfer. An employee's employment shall not be deemed to 
have terminated by reason of a transfer between MCGRATH, its parent, any 
subsidiary, or any successor. 
 
               2.5.3 Leave of Absence. An employee's employment shall not be 
deemed to have terminated by reason of a leave of absence approved by MCGRATH . 
For purposes of INCENTIVE OPTIONS, no such leave of absence may exceed four (4) 
months unless reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaranteed by 
statute or contract. If reemployment upon expiration of a leave of absence 
approved by MCGRATH is not so guaranteed, after the first four (4) months of 
such leave any INCENTIVE OPTION held by the PARTICIPANT shall cease to be 
treated as an INCENTIVE OPTION and shall be treated for tax purposes as a 
NON-QUALIFIED OPTION. In the event of a leave of absence approved  
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by MCGRATH, the vesting of all options held by such employee shall be tolled 
during such absence, unless otherwise provided by MCGRATH. 
 
               2.5.4 Directors. With respect to a PARTICIPANT who was a 
director, but not an employee, of MCGRATH or one of its subsidiaries when 
granted an option, he or she shall be deemed to have terminated employment for 
purposes of such option on the date he or she ceases to be a director of MCGRATH 
or one of its subsidiaries. 
 
               2.5.5 Consultants, Advisors and Others. With respect to a 
PARTICIPANT who was neither an employee nor a director of MCGRATH or one of its 
subsidiaries when granted an option, he or she shall be deemed to have 
terminated employment for purposes of such option on the date of the expiration 
of his or her written contract under which he or she provided services to 
MCGRATH; or if there is no such written contract, then he or she shall be deemed 
to have terminated employment for purposes of such option on the date three (3) 
months after MCGRATH last received services from the PARTICIPANT. 
 
        2.6 DISABILITY OF PARTICIPANT. If a PARTICIPANT's employment with 
MCGRATH terminates as a result of his or her disability, such PARTICIPANT shall 
have the lesser of twelve (12) months after the date of termination or the 
EXPIRATION DATE to exercise his or her option. Upon expiration of such 
twelve-month period or until the EXPIRATION DATE, if earlier, all unexercised 
options of such PARTICIPANT under this PLAN shall terminate. For purposes of 
this PLAN, an individual is disabled if he or she is unable to engage in any 
substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or 
mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or that has lasted, or 
can be expected to last, for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) 
months. 
 
        2.7 DEATH OF PARTICIPANT. If any PARTICIPANT dies while employed by, or 
otherwise providing services to, MCGRATH, such PARTICIPANT's options may be 
exercised by the person or persons to whom the PARTICIPANT's rights under the 
options shall pass by will or by the applicable laws of descent and 
distribution. Such person or persons shall have the lesser of twelve (12) months 
after the date of the Participant's death or until the EXPIRATION DATE of the 
options to exercise the options. Upon expiration of such twelve-month period or 
until the EXPIRATION DATE, if earlier, all unexercised options of such 
PARTICIPANT under this PLAN shall terminate. 
 
        2.8  MODIFICATION IN LEVEL OF EMPLOYMENT. 
 
               2.8.1 Reduction in Hours. An employee's employment shall not be 
deemed to have terminated by reason of a reduction in hours scheduled to be 
worked if approved by an officer of MCGRATH. In the event of a reduction in 
hours scheduled to be worked, the rate of vesting thereafter of all options held 
by such employee shall be reduced proportionately to the reduction in hours, 
unless otherwise provided by MCGRATH. The reduction in the rate of vesting may 
result in the EXPIRATION DATE being reached prior to the full vesting of all 
shares subject to the options, in which case unvested shares shall be forfeited 
and returned to the PLAN. 
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               2.8.2 Reduction in Duties and Responsibilities. A PARTICIPANT's 
employment shall not be deemed to have terminated by reason of a reduction in 
the duties or responsibilities of the PARTICIPANT with respect to MCGRATH. In 
the event of a substantial reduction in the duties and responsibilities expected 
of a PARTICIPANT, MCGRATH and the PARTICIPANT may mutually agree in writing to a 
reduction in the number of shares subject to any options held by such 
PARTICIPANT and/or a reduction in the rate of vesting of such options. 
 
        2.9 ISSUANCE OF STOCK CERTIFICATES. Upon exercise of an option, the 
person exercising such option shall be entitled to one stock certificate 
evidencing the shares acquired upon exercise; provided, however, that any person 
who tenders COMMON STOCK when exercising the option shall be entitled to receive 
two certificates, one representing a number of shares equal to the number of 
shares exchanged for the stock acquired upon exercise, and another representing 
the additional shares, if any, acquired upon exercise of the option; provided, 
further, that if the vesting limitation set forth in Section 2.10 below is 
exceeded, the person exercising the option shall be entitled to receive two 
certificates, one representing a number of shares constituting INCENTIVE OPTION 
shares, and another representing the excess shares issued as NON-QUALIFIED 
OPTION shares. 
 
        2.10 LIMITATION ON VESTING OF INCENTIVE OPTIONS. The aggregate FAIR 
MARKET VALUE (determined as of the time the option is granted) of the stock, 
which first becomes exercisable by the PARTICIPANT during any calendar year 
under all INCENTIVE OPTIONS of MCGRATH or any subsidiary or parent of MCGRATH, 
shall not exceed $100,000, as determined in accordance with the rules and 
regulations of the Internal Revenue Service promulgated under the CODE. The 
$100,000 limitation described in this Section 2.10 shall be applied to all such 
INCENTIVE OPTIONS in the order granted to the PARTICIPANT. In the event such 
limitation is exceeded, the excess shares shall be deemed shares subject to a 
NON-QUALIFIED OPTION and shall not be treated as part of an INCENTIVE OPTION 
within the meaning of Section 422 of the CODE. 
 
                          SECTION 3. OTHER PROVISIONS. 
 
        3.1  ADJUSTMENTS UPON CHANGES IN CAPITALIZATION. 
 
               3.1.1 Subject to any action by the stockholders required by law, 
the number of shares of COMMON STOCK covered by this PLAN and any outstanding 
option and the price per share thereof shall be proportionately adjusted for any 
increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of COMMON STOCK resulting 
from a subdivision or consolidation of shares or the payment of a stock dividend 
(but only on the COMMON STOCK) or any other increase or decrease in the number 
of such shares effected without receipt of consideration by MCGRATH (for this 
purpose, issuances of shares upon conversion of convertible securities shall be 
deemed an issuance for which MCGRATH receives consideration). 
 
               3.1.2 The successor corporation in any merger or consolidation of 
MCGRATH shall be required to assume options then outstanding under the PLAN. 
Should  
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MCGRATH sell all or substantially all of its assets in a transaction wherein the 
employees of MCGRATH continue to be employed by the purchasing corporation, such 
purchasing corporation shall likewise be required to assume options then 
outstanding under the PLAN. 
 
               3.1.3 Adjustments under this Section 3.1 shall be made by the 
BOARD, whose determination as to what adjustments shall be made, and the extent 
thereof, shall be final, binding and conclusive. No fractional shares of COMMON 
STOCK shall be issued under the PLAN on account of any such adjustment. 
 
        3.2 DISSOLUTION OR LIQUIDATION. A dissolution or liquidation of MCGRATH 
shall cause an outstanding option to terminate; provided that the holder of any 
outstanding option shall, in such event, be given at least thirty (30) days 
prior written notice of such event (which notice, if mailed, shall be deemed 
given at the time of mailing) and shall have the right until such event to 
exercise his or her option to the extent then exercisable; provided further that 
the BOARD in its discretion (to the extent permitted by the CODE) may in the 
event of any such dissolution or liquidation accelerate the accrual of exercise 
rights in such manner as the BOARD shall deem appropriate. 
 
        3.3  RIGHTS OF PARTICIPANTS AND BENEFICIARIES. 
 
               3.3.1 Nothing contained in the PLAN (or in any option granted 
pursuant to the PLAN) shall confer upon any employee, director or other service 
provider any right to continue in the employ of MCGRATH (or its subsidiaries), 
or constitute any contract or agreement of employment, or interfere in any way 
with the right of McGrath (or its subsidiaries) to reduce such person's 
compensation from the rate in existence at the time of the granting of an option 
or to terminate such person's employment; but nothing contained herein or in any 
option agreement shall affect any contractual rights of an employee, director or 
other service provider. 
 
               3.3.2 Except as provided in Section 2.7 of this PLAN, MCGRATH 
shall provide all benefits hereunder only to the PARTICIPANT or beneficiaries 
entitled thereto pursuant to this PLAN. MCGRATH shall not be liable for the 
debts, contracts, or engagements of any PARTICIPANT or his or her beneficiaries, 
and rights under this PLAN may not be taken in execution or by attachment or 
garnishment, or by any other legal or equitable proceeding while in the hands of 
MCGRATH; nor shall any Participant or his or her beneficiaries have any right to 
assign, pledge or hypothecate any benefits hereunder. 
 
        3.4 GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS. The PLAN and the grant and exercise of 
options shall be subject to all applicable rules and regulations of governmental 
authorities. 
 
        3.5 WITHHOLDING. MCGRATH or any of its subsidiaries which employ the 
PARTICIPANT shall have the right to deduct any sums that federal, state or local 
tax law requires to be withheld with respect to the exercise of any option, or 
as otherwise may be required by such laws. MCGRATH or such subsidiary may 
require as a condition to issuing shares upon exercise of the option that the 
PARTICIPANT or other person exercising the option pay any sums that federal, 
state or local tax law requires to be withheld with  
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respect to such exercise. There is no obligation hereunder that any PARTICIPANT 
be advised of the existence of the tax or the amount which the employer 
corporation will be so required to withhold. 
 
               3.5.1 In its sole discretion, MCGRATH may allow a Participant to 
satisfy withholding tax obligations by electing to have MCGRATH withhold from 
the COMMON STOCK to be issued upon exercise of an option that number of shares 
of COMMON STOCK having a FAIR MARKET VALUE equal to the amount required to be 
withheld. The FAIR MARKET VALUE of the shares to be withheld shall be determined 
as of the day immediately preceding the date the amount of tax to be withheld is 
to be determined. 
 
        3.6 AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION. 
 
               3.6.1 The BOARD may at any time suspend, amend or terminate this 
PLAN and may, with the consent of the holder of an option, make such 
modifications of the terms and conditions of such PARTICIPANT's option as it 
shall deem advisable. No option may be granted during any suspension of the PLAN 
or after such termination. The amendment, suspension or termination of the PLAN 
shall not, without the consent of the affected PARTICIPANT alter or impair any 
rights or obligations under any option theretofore granted under the PLAN. 
 
               3.6.2 In addition to BOARD approval of an amendment, if the 
amendment would (i) increase the benefits accruing to Participants, (ii) 
increase the number of securities issuable under this PLAN or (iii) modify the 
requirements for eligibility, or if Section 422 of the CODE requires shareholder 
approval of any amendment to the PLAN, then such amendment shall be approved by 
the holders of a majority of MCGRATH's outstanding capital stock entitled to 
vote at a meeting held for the purpose of approving such amendment. 
 
        3.7  TIME OF GRANT AND EXERCISE. 
 
               3.7.1 The granting of an option pursuant to the PLAN shall take 
place at the time of the BOARD's action; provided, however, that if the 
appropriate resolutions of the BOARD indicate that an option is to be granted as 
of and at some future date, the date of grant shall be such future date. In the 
event action by the BOARD is taken by the unanimous written consent of its 
members, the action by the BOARD shall be deemed to be effective at the time the 
last member signs the consent. 
 
               3.7.2 An option shall be deemed to be exercised when the 
Secretary or Chief Financial Officer of MCGRATH receives written notice from a 
PARTICIPANT of such exercise, together with payment of the purchase price. 
 
        3.8 NO PRIVILEGES OF STOCK OWNERSHIP. A PARTICIPANT shall not be 
entitled to the privileges of stock ownership as to any shares of stock not 
actually issued and delivered to him or her. 
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        3.9 NON-DISTRIBUTIVE INTENT. Upon exercise of an option at a time when 
there is not in effect under the Securities Act of 1933 a registration statement 
relating to the stock issuable under the option, the PARTICIPANT shall represent 
and warrant in writing to MCGRATH that the shares purchased are not being 
acquired with a view to the distribution thereof. No shares shall be issued upon 
the exercise of any option unless and until any then applicable requirements of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission, the California Department of 
Corporations, and any other regulatory agencies having jurisdiction and of any 
exchanges or associations upon which the COMMON STOCK may be listed shall have 
been fully satisfied. 
 
        3.10 EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE PLAN. This PLAN shall be effective as of 
March 9, 1998, and shall within twelve (12) months of such date, and before any 
option issued pursuant to the PLAN may be exercised, be submitted to the 
shareholders of MCGRATH for the approval by a vote of holders of a majority of 
MCGRATH's outstanding capital stock entitled to vote thereon. 
 
        3.11 TERMINATION. Unless previously terminated by the BOARD, this PLAN 
shall terminate at the close of business on March 8, 2008, and no option shall 
be granted under it thereafter, but such termination shall not affect any option 
theretofore granted. 
 
 
End of Plan                                                        March 9, 1998 
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 10.2 
 
 
 
                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
                             1998 STOCK OPTION PLAN 
 
                    EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
        This Option Agreement is being entered into as of ___________, 1998, by 
and between McGrath RentCorp, a California corporation (hereinafter "MCGRATH") 
and JOHN DOE (hereinafter "XXXX"). In accordance with that certain McGrath 
RentCorp 1998 Stock Option Plan (the "PLAN"), the Board of Directors of MCGRATH 
granted an option on __________, 1998 to XXXX to purchase shares of its Common 
Stock, as evidenced by this Agreement, subject to the following terms: 
 
        1. NUMBER OF SHARES AND PRICE. MCGRATH hereby evidences its grant to 
XXXX of the right and option (hereinafter the "OPTION"), on the terms and 
conditions set forth herein, to purchase all or any part of an aggregate of ____ 
Thousand (________) shares of MCGRATH's Common Stock (hereinafter the "OPTION 
SHARES"), at a purchase price of _______ Dollars and ______ Cents ($_____) per 
share. 
 
        2. OPTION SUBJECT TO PLAN. This OPTION is subject to, and MCGRATH and 
XXXX agree to be bound by, all of the terms and conditions of the PLAN, which is 
made a part hereof and incorporated herein by this reference. XXXX acknowledges 
receipt of the copy of the PLAN. The rights of XXXX under this OPTION are 
subject to modification and termination in certain events as provided in the 
PLAN, including, without limitation, Section 3 thereof. 
 
        3. NATURE OF OPTION; TAX CONSEQUENCES. This OPTION is intended to be an 
"incentive stock option" as that term is defined under Section 422 of the 
Internal Revenue Code. XXXX should consult with his own tax advisor with regard 
to the income tax consequences to him of exercising this OPTION. 
 
        4.  TERMS OF EXERCISE. 
 
               4.1 Option Period. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 
this Agreement, unless this OPTION shall have expired earlier in accordance with 
Section 5 below, this OPTION shall expire ten (10) years after the date of grant 
specified above at 5:00 p.m. Livermore, California local time on ________, 2008 
(hereinafter the "OPTION PERIOD"). 
 
               4.2 Installments. This OPTION shall be exercisable in 
installments as to twenty percent (20%) of the OPTION SHARES one (1) year after 
the date of grant specified above (__________, 1998), and shall become 
exercisable as to an additional five percent (5%) of the OPTION SHARES after 
each successive period of three calendar months thereafter. OPTION SHARES  
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entitled to be purchased, but not purchased in any period, may be purchased at 
any subsequent time within the OPTION PERIOD. 
 
                      4.2.1 In the event XXXX takes a leave of absence approved 
by MCGRATH, the vesting of this OPTION (i.e., the rate at which the installments 
become exercisable) shall be tolled (i.e., held in abeyance) during such leave 
of absence. This may result in the OPTION PERIOD expiring prior to the full 
vesting of all OPTION SHARES, in which case unvested OPTION SHARES shall be 
forfeited and XXXX shall have no further right to purchase such unvested shares. 
 
                      4.2.2 In the event of a reduction in hours scheduled to be 
worked by XXXX, the rate of vesting thereafter of this OPTION (i.e., the rate at 
which the installments become exercisable) shall be reduced proportionately to 
the reduction in hours, unless otherwise provided by MCGRATH. This may result in 
the OPTION PERIOD expiring prior to the full vesting of all OPTION SHARES, in 
which case unvested OPTION SHARES shall be forfeited and XXXX shall have no 
further right to purchase such unvested shares. 
 
                      4.2.3 In the event of a substantial reduction in XXXX's 
duties and responsibilities hereafter, MCGRATH and XXXX may mutually agree in 
writing to a reduction in the number of OPTION SHARES and/or a reduction in the 
rate of vesting of this OPTION. 
 
                      4.2.4 The vesting of this OPTION (i.e., the rate at which 
the installments become exercisable) may be accelerated under certain 
circumstances as described in Sections 6.2 and 6.3 below. 
 
               4.3 How to Exercise. The exercise of this OPTION shall be 
effective only upon the delivery to MCGRATH of a written notice of intention to 
exercise the OPTION in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A 
specifying the number of shares then to be purchased under the OPTION and the 
date of such purchase (which, unless MCGRATH otherwise consents, shall be at not 
more than thirty (30) days after the delivery of such notice). Delivery of a 
certificate, or certificates, representing said shares shall be made only upon 
the tender of payment of the purchase price of the number of shares specified in 
such notice on said date. 
 
               4.4 Payment of Exercise Price. Payment of the purchase price for 
the shares purchased upon exercise of the OPTION shall be made in cash or by 
check; provided that, subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors of 
MCGRATH, and upon receipt of all regulatory approvals, all or part of the 
payment may be made by the delivery of certificates evidencing Common Stock of 
MCGRATH already owned by XXXX with an aggregate "fair market value" (determined 
as specified in the PLAN) equal to the portion of the purchase price being paid 
thereby. 
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        5.  EARLY TERMINATION OF THE OPTION PERIOD. 
 
               5.1 Termination of Employment. Subject to Sections 5.2 and 5.3 
below, if XXXX ceases to be employed by MCGRATH or its subsidiaries for any 
reason, XXXX may exercise this OPTION only to the extent XXXX was entitled to 
exercise it on the date he ceased to be so employed (subject to Section 6.3 
below). If XXXX wants to exercise this OPTION, then he must do so before the 
earlier of (i) three (3) months after the date he ceases to be an employee of 
MCGRATH or its subsidiaries or (ii) the normal expiration of the OPTION PERIOD 
(as specified in Section 4.1 above); and upon the expiration of the earlier of 
such two periods, this OPTION shall terminate. 
 
                      5.1.1 Neither service as a director, consultant, advisor 
or other service provider by XXXX, nor the payment of a director's, 
consultant's, advisor's or other fee by MCGRATH, shall be sufficient to 
constitute continued "employment" of XXXX by MCGRATH with respect to this 
OPTION. 
 
                      5.1.2 XXXX's employment shall not be deemed to have 
terminated by reason of a transfer between MCGRATH, its parent, any subsidiary, 
or any successor. 
 
                      5.1.3 XXXX's employment shall not be deemed to have 
terminated by reason of a leave of absence approved by MCGRATH. If re-employment 
upon expiration of the leave of absence approved by MCGRATH is not guaranteed by 
statute or contract, this OPTION shall cease to be treated as an "incentive 
stock option" after the first four months of such leave and thereafter shall be 
treated for tax purposes as a "non-qualified option." 
 
                      5.1.4 XXXX's employment with MCGRATH shall not be deemed 
to have terminated by reason of a reduction in hours scheduled to be worked if 
approved by an officer of MCGRATH. 
 
                      5.1.5 XXXX's employment with MCGRATH shall not be deemed 
to have terminated by reason of a reduction in XXXX's duties or responsibilities 
with respect to MCGRATH. 
 
               5.2 Disability. Subject to Section 5.3 below, if XXXX's 
employment by MCGRATH or its subsidiaries, if any, is terminated as a result of 
XXXX's disability, XXXX may exercise this OPTION if and only to the extent XXXX 
was entitled to exercise it at the date he ceased to be so employed, but only 
during the OPTION PERIOD and within twelve (12) months after the date XXXX 
ceases to be an employee of MCGRATH, or its subsidiaries, if any. Upon the 
expiration of the earlier of such twelve (12) month period or the normal OPTION 
PERIOD, this OPTION shall terminate. For purposes of this OPTION, an individual 
is disabled if he is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by 
reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be 
expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a 
continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months. 
 
               5.3 Death. In the event of XXXX's death while employed by 
MCGRATH, or its subsidiaries, if any, and during the OPTION PERIOD, the 
unexercised portion of this OPTION may be exercised at any time during the 
OPTION PERIOD but not more than twelve (12) months after the  
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date of XXXX's death, by the person or persons to whom the rights to exercise 
this OPTION shall pass by will or by the applicable laws of descent and 
distribution, but only to the extent that the right to exercise had accrued and 
was still exercisable as of the date of XXXX's death. Upon the expiration of the 
earlier of such twelve (12) month period or the normal OPTION PERIOD, this 
OPTION shall terminate. 
 
               5.4 Corporate Dissolution. A dissolution or liquidation of 
MCGRATH shall cause this OPTION to terminate; provided that XXXX shall, in such 
event, be given at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of such event 
(which notice, if mailed, shall be deemed given at the time of mailing) and 
shall have the right until such event to exercise this OPTION to the extent then 
exercisable (subject to Section 2.10 of the PLAN and the limitation set forth in 
Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended); provided further 
that the Board of Directors may, in its discretion (to the extent permitted by 
Section 2.10 of the PLAN and the limitation set forth in Section 422 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), in the event of any such dissolution 
or liquidation, accelerate the accrual of exercise rights hereunder in such 
manner as the Board of Directors shall deem appropriate. 
 
        6.  RECAPITALIZATION; ACQUISITION; CHANGE IN CONTROL. 
 
               6.1 Recapitalization. Subject to any action by the stockholders 
required by law, the number of shares of Common Stock covered by this OPTION and 
the price per share thereof shall be proportionately adjusted for any increase 
or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock of MCGRATH resulting 
from a subdivision or consolidation of shares or the payment of a stock dividend 
(but only on the Common Stock) or any other increase in the number of such 
shares effected without receipt of consideration by MCGRATH. (For this purpose, 
issuances of shares upon conversion of convertible securities shall be deemed an 
issuance for which MCGRATH receives consideration.) 
 
               6.2 Acquisition. In the event of any acquisition of MCGRATH the 
acquiror may, at its option, (i) assume this OPTION if and to the extent then 
outstanding, or (ii) substitute for this OPTION a new option under one of its 
own option plans provided such new option is no less economically beneficial to 
XXXX. If the acquiror does not assume this OPTION or substitute its own option 
for this OPTION, then the accrual of exercise rights hereunder shall accelerate 
such that this OPTION shall be fully vested and all OPTION SHARES shall be 
exercisable as of the date of such acquisition. For purposes of this section, an 
acquisition of MCGRATH shall be defined to be (i) any merger or consolidation of 
MCGRATH in which the shareholders of MCGRATH immediately prior to such merger or 
consolidation do not immediately thereafter hold a majority of the voting power 
of the resulting entity, or (2) a transaction in which MCGRATH sells all or 
substantially all of its assets and the employees of MCGRATH continue to be 
employed by the purchasing entity. 
 
               6.3 Change in Control. In the event XXXX's employment with 
MCGRATH or its successor, or any of their subsidiaries, is terminated (other 
than by XXXX), within two (2) years following a "Change in Control," the accrual 
of exercise rights hereunder shall accelerate upon such termination such that 
this OPTION shall be fully vested and all OPTION SHARES shall be exercisable. 
For purposes of this section, a "Change in Control" shall be deemed to have 
occurred hereafter if: 
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                      6.3.1 Any person (or entity, or group or persons or 
        entities), other than (i) a trustee or other fiduciary holding 
        securities under an employee benefit plan of MCGRATH or (ii) a 
        corporation owned directly or indirectly by the stockholders of MCGRATH 
        in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of 
        MCGRATH or (iii) a group which includes Robert P. McGrath or his heirs, 
        becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of 
        MCGRATH representing 30% or more of the total voting power represented 
        by McGrath's then outstanding voting securities; or 
 
                      6.3.2 During any period of two consecutive years after the 
        date of this OPTION (or if two years have not elapsed since the date of 
        this OPTION, such shorter period), (i) individuals who at the beginning 
        of such period constitute the Board, plus (ii) any new director whose 
        election by the Board or nomination for election by MCGRATH's 
        stockholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds (_) of the 
        directors then still in office who either were directors at the 
        beginning of the period or whose election or nomination for election was 
        previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute a majority 
        thereof; or 
 
                      6.3.3 MCGRATH is a party to a merger or consolidation with 
        another corporation, other than a merger or consolidation which results 
        in the voting securities of MCGRATH outstanding immediately prior 
        thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by 
        being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity) a 
        majority of the total voting power of the surviving entity outstanding 
        immediately after such merger or consolidation; or 
 
                      6.3.4 McGrath sells or otherwise disposes (in one 
        transaction or a series of transactions) of all or substantially all of 
        its assets, other than to a corporation owned directly or indirectly by 
        the stockholders of MCGRATH in substantially the same proportions as 
        their ownership of stock of MCGRATH. 
 
        7.  INVESTMENT INTENT. 
 
               7.1 Applicability of this Section. This Section 7 shall be 
applicable only at such times as (i) the OPTION SHARES are not covered by a 
currently effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended (the "SECURITIES Act"), or (ii) XXXX may be deemed to be an affiliate of 
MCGRATH RENTCORP. 
 
               7.2 Xxxx's Representations. As a condition to accepting this 
OPTION, and as a condition to its exercise, XXXX makes the following 
representations and agreements, and represents, warrants and agrees that he will 
reaffirm such representations and agreements to be true and in full force and 
effect at and as of the time of any exercise of this OPTION: 
 
                      7.2.1 XXXX has, by reason of XXXX's business or financial 
        experience, the capacity to evaluate the merits and risks of an 
        investment in MCGRATH and to protect his interest in connection with the 
        issuance of this Option and the purchase of any OPTION SHARES. 
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                      7.2.2 XXXX is aware of MCGRATH's business affairs and 
        financial condition and has had access to such information about MCGRATH 
        as XXXX has deemed necessary or desirable to reach an informed and 
        knowledgeable decision to acquire this OPTION and the OPTION SHARES. 
        XXXX will purchase the OPTION SHARES for investment for his own account 
        only and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any 
        "distribution" thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933. 
 
                      7.2.3 XXXX understands that this OPTION and the OPTION 
        SHARES have not been registered under the SECURITIES ACT by reason of a 
        specific exemption therefrom, which exemption depends upon, among other 
        things, the bona fide nature of his investment intent as expressed 
        herein. In this connection, XXXX understands that, in the view of the 
        Securities and Exchange Commission ("COMMISSION"), the statutory basis 
        for such exemption may not be present if Xxxx's representation meant 
        that his present intention was to hold the OPTION SHARES for a minimum 
        capital gains period under the tax statutes, for a deferred sale, for a 
        market rise, for a sale if the market does not rise, or for a year or 
        any other fixed period in the future. 
 
                      7.2.4 XXXX further acknowledges and agrees that the OPTION 
        SHARES must be held indefinitely unless they are subsequently registered 
        under the SECURITIES ACT or an exemption from such registration is 
        available. XXXX further acknowledges and understands that MCGRATH is 
        under no obligation to register the OPTION SHARES. 
 
                      7.2.5 XXXX is aware of the adoption of Rule 144 by the 
        COMMISSION, promulgated under the SECURITIES ACT, which (1) after one 
        year from the date the securities have been purchased and fully paid 
        for, permits limited public resale of securities acquired in a 
        non-public offering subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, 
        and (ii) after two years from the date the securities have been 
        purchased and fully paid for, permits persons who are not affiliates of 
        the issuer to sell an unlimited number of securities without 
        satisfaction of such conditions. 
 
                      7.2.6 XXXX further acknowledges and understands that 
        MCGRATH may not be satisfying the current public information requirement 
        of Rule 144 at the time he wishes to sell the OPTION SHARES, and, if so, 
        XXXX would be precluded from selling the OPTION SHARES under Rule 144 
        even if the one or two-year minimum holding periods had been satisfied. 
 
                      7.2.7 XXXX further acknowledges that in the event all of 
        the requirements of Rule 144 are not met, compliance with Regulation A 
        or some other exemption from registration will be required, and that 
        although Rule 144 is not exclusive, the Staff of the COMMISSION has 
        expressed its opinion that persons proposing to sell private placement 
        securities other than in a registered offering and other than pursuant 
        to Rule 144 will have a substantial burden of proof in establishing that 
        an exemption from registration is available for such offers or sales and 
        that such persons and the brokers who participate in the transactions do 
        so at their own risk. 
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               7.3 Legends. MCGRATH may place on the certificates evincing the 
OPTION SHARES appropriate legends referring to the restrictions on transfer set 
forth in Section 7.2 above and as may be required by the California Commissioner 
of Corporations. XXXX understands that all certificates for OPTION SHARES may 
bear the following legend: 
 
        THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR THE 
        PURCHASER'S OWN ACCOUNT ONLY AND NOT WITH A VIEW TO, OR FOR RESALE IN 
        CONNECTION WITH, ANY DISTRIBUTION THEREOF. NO SALE OR DISPOSITION OF 
        THESE SHARES MAY BE EFFECTED WITHOUT (1) REGISTRATION OF SUCH SALE OR 
        DISPOSITION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND (2) 
        QUALIFICATION OF SUCH SALE OR DISPOSITION UNDER THE CALIFORNIA CORPORATE 
        SECURITIES LAW OF 1968, AS AMENDED, OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL 
        SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT SUCH REGISTRATION AND QUALIFICATION ARE 
        NOT REQUIRED UNDER THOSE ACTS. 
 
        8. EMPLOYMENT RIGHTS NOT CONFERRED. This OPTION shall not confer upon 
XXXX any right with respect to continuation of employment by MCGRATH or its 
subsidiaries, nor shall it interfere in any way with XXXX's right or MCGRATH's 
(or its subsidiaries') right to terminate XXXX's employment at any time. 
 
        9. NON-TRANSFERABLE. The OPTION evinced by this Agreement is not 
transferable otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution 
and shall be exercisable during XXXX's lifetime only by XXXX or XXXX's duly 
appointed guardian or personal representative. Subject to the foregoing, this 
Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of any successors 
or assigns of MCGRATH and, to the extent herein provided, shall be binding upon 
and inure to the benefit of XXXX's successors. 
 
 
 
                                       MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
 
 
                                       By 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
                                          Dennis C. Kakures, President 
 
 
 
 
 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                       JOHN DOE 
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                                                                       EXHIBIT A 
 
 
To:     McGRATH RENTCORP 
        5700 Las Positas Road 
        Livermore, CA 94550 
 
        Attn:  Chief Financial Officer 
 
        Subject:  Notice of Intention to Exercise Stock Option 
 
        With respect to the stock option granted to John Doe on ____________, 
1998 to purchase an aggregate of ___________ Thousand (______) shares of 
MCGRATH's Common Stock as evinced by the Employee Incentive Stock Option 
Agreement dated ____________, 1998, this is official notice that the undersigned 
intends to exercise such option to purchase shares as follows: 
 
               Number of Shares:________________ 
 
               Date of Purchase:________________ 
 
               Mode of Payment:_________________ 
 
                 [Initial here if Section 7 is applicable] In connection with 
such exercise, the undersigned hereby reaffirms that the representations and 
agreements set forth in Section 7.2 of the Agreement evincing such option are 
now and will be at and as of the time of such exercise true and in full force 
and effect with respect to the shares purchased. 
 
        The shares should be issued as follows: 
 
               Name:______________________________________ 
 
 
               Address:___________________________________ 
 
 
                       ___________________________________ 
 
 
                       ___________________________________ 
 
 
 
               Social Security Number:____________________ 
 
 
 
 
                                       Signed: 
                                              ---------------------------------- 
 
                                       Date: 
                                              ---------------------------------- 
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 10.3 
 
 
 
                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
                             1998 STOCK OPTION PLAN 
 
                 DIRECTOR'S NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
        This Option Agreement is being entered into as of ___________, 1998, by 
and between McGrath RentCorp, a California corporation (hereinafter "MCGRATH") 
and JOHN DOE (hereinafter "DOE"). In accordance with that certain McGrath 
RentCorp 1998 Stock Option Plan (the "PLAN"), the Board of Directors of MCGRATH 
granted an option on __________, 1998 to DOE to purchase shares of its Common 
Stock, as evidenced by this Agreement, subject to the following terms: 
 
        1. NUMBER OF SHARES AND PRICE. MCGRATH hereby evidences its grant to DOE 
of the right and option (hereinafter the "OPTION"), on the terms and conditions 
set forth herein, to purchase all or any part of an aggregate of ____ Thousand 
(________) shares of MCGRATH's Common Stock (hereinafter the "OPTION SHARES"), 
at a purchase price of _______ Dollars and ______ Cents ($_____) per share. 
 
        2. OPTION SUBJECT TO PLAN. This OPTION is subject to, and MCGRATH and 
DOE agree to be bound by, all of the terms and conditions of the PLAN, which is 
made a part hereof and incorporated herein by this reference. DOE acknowledges 
receipt of the copy of the PLAN. The rights of DOE under this OPTION are subject 
to modification and termination in certain events as provided in the PLAN, 
including, without limitation, Section 3 thereof. 
 
        3. NATURE OF OPTION; TAX CONSEQUENCES. This OPTION is not intended to be 
an "incentive stock option" as that term is defined under Section 422 of the 
Internal Revenue Code. DOE should consult with his own tax advisor with regard 
to the income tax consequences to him of exercising this OPTION. 
 
        4. TERMS OF EXERCISE. 
 
               4.1 Option Period. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 
this Agreement, unless this OPTION shall have expired earlier in accordance with 
Section 5 below, this OPTION shall expire ten (10) years after the date of grant 
specified above at 5:00 p.m. Livermore, California local time on ________, 2008 
(hereinafter the "OPTION PERIOD"). 
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                4.2 Installments. This OPTION shall be exercisable in 
installments as to______________________________________________________________ 
 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________. 
                                                                                 
OPTION SHARES entitled to be purchased, but not purchased in any period, may be 
purchased at any subsequent time within the OPTION PERIOD. The vesting of this 
OPTION (i.e., the rate at which the installments become exercisable) may be 
accelerated under certain circumstances as described in Section 6.2 below. 
 
               4.3 How to Exercise. The exercise of this OPTION shall be 
effective only upon the delivery to MCGRATH of a written notice of intention to 
exercise the OPTION in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A 
specifying the number of shares then to be purchased under the OPTION and the 
date of such purchase (which, unless MCGRATH otherwise consents, shall be at not 
more than thirty (30) days after the delivery of such notice). Delivery of a 
certificate, or certificates, representing said shares shall be made only upon 
the tender of payment of the purchase price of the number of shares specified in 
such notice on said date. 
 
               4.4 Payment of Exercise Price. Payment of the purchase price for 
the shares purchased upon exercise of the OPTION shall be made in cash or by 
check; provided that, subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors of 
MCGRATH, and upon receipt of all regulatory approvals, all or part of the 
payment may be made by the delivery of certificates evidencing Common Stock of 
MCGRATH already owned by DOE with an aggregate "fair market value" (determined 
as specified in the PLAN) equal to the portion of the purchase price being paid 
thereby. 
 
        5. EARLY TERMINATION OF THE OPTION PERIOD. 
 
               5.1 Termination of Directorship. Subject to Sections 5.2 and 5.3 
below, if DOE ceases to be a director of MCGRATH for any reason, DOE may 
exercise this OPTION only to the extent DOE was entitled to exercise it on the 
date he ceased to be a director (subject to Section 6.2 below). If DOE wants to 
exercise this OPTION, then he must do so before the earlier of (i) three (3) 
months after the date he ceases to be a director of MCGRATH or (ii) the normal 
expiration of the OPTION PERIOD (as specified in Section 4.1 above); and upon 
the expiration of the earlier of such two periods, this OPTION shall terminate. 
 
               5.2 Disability. Subject to Section 5.3 below, if DOE ceases to be 
a director of MCGRATH as a result of DOE's disability, DOE may exercise this 
OPTION if and only to the extent DOE was entitled to exercise it at the date he 
ceased to be a director, but only during the OPTION PERIOD and within twelve 
(12) months after the date DOE ceases to be a director of MCGRATH. Upon the 
expiration of the earlier of such twelve (12) month period or the normal OPTION 
PERIOD, this OPTION shall terminate. For purposes of this OPTION, an individual 
is disabled if he or she is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity 
by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can 
be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last 
for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months. 
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               5.3 Death. In the event of DOE's death while a director of 
MCGRATH and during the OPTION PERIOD, the unexercised portion of this OPTION may 
be exercised at any time during the OPTION PERIOD but not more than twelve (12) 
months after the date of Doe's death, by the person or persons to whom the 
rights to exercise this OPTION shall pass by will or by the applicable laws of 
descent and distribution, but only to the extent that the right to exercise had 
accrued and was still exercisable as of the date of DOE's death. Upon the 
expiration of the earlier of such twelve (12) month period or the normal OPTION 
PERIOD, this OPTION shall terminate. 
 
               5.4 Corporate Dissolution. A dissolution or liquidation of 
MCGRATH shall cause this OPTION to terminate; provided that DOE shall, in such 
event, be given at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of such event 
(which notice, if mailed, shall be deemed given at the time of mailing) and 
shall have the right until such event to exercise this OPTION to the extent then 
exercisable; provided further that the Board of Directors may, in its 
discretion, in the event of any such dissolution or liquidation, accelerate the 
accrual of exercise rights in such manner as the Board of Directors shall deem 
appropriate. 
 
        6. RECAPITALIZATION; CHANGE IN CONTROL. 
 
               6.1 Recapitalization. Subject to any action by the stockholders 
required by law, the number of shares of Common Stock covered by this OPTION and 
the price per share thereof shall be proportionately adjusted for any increase 
or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock of MCGRATH resulting 
from a subdivision or consolidation of shares or the payment of a stock dividend 
(but only on the Common Stock) or any other increase in the number of such 
shares effected without receipt of consideration by MCGRATH. (For this purpose, 
issuances of shares upon conversion of convertible securities shall be deemed an 
issuance for which MCGRATH receives consideration.) 
 
               6.2 Change in Control. In the event of a "Change in Control," the 
accrual of exercise rights hereunder shall accelerate upon such "Change in 
Control" such that this OPTION shall be fully vested and all OPTION SHARES shall 
be exercisable. For purposes of this section, a "Change in Control" shall be 
deemed to have occurred hereafter if: 
 
                      6.2.1 Any person (or entity, or group or persons or 
        entities), other than (i) a trustee or other fiduciary holding 
        securities under an employee benefit plan of MCGRATH or (ii) a 
        corporation owned directly or indirectly by the stockholders of MCGRATH 
        in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of 
        MCGRATH or (iii) a group which includes Robert P. McGrath or his heirs, 
        becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of 
        MCGRATH representing 30% or more of the total voting power represented 
        by McGrath's then outstanding voting securities; or 
 
                      6.2.2 During any period of two consecutive years after the 
        date of this OPTION (or if two years have not elapsed since the date of 
        this OPTION, such shorter period), (i) individuals who at the beginning 
        of such period constitute the Board, plus (ii) any new director whose 
        election by the Board or nomination for election by MCGRATH's 
        stockholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds (_) of the 
        directors then still in office who either were directors at the 
        beginning of the period or whose election or  
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        nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason 
        to constitute a majority thereof; or 
 
                      6.2.3 MCGRATH is a party to a merger or consolidation with 
        another corporation, other than a merger or consolidation which results 
        in the voting securities of MCGRATH outstanding immediately prior 
        thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by 
        being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity) a 
        majority of the total voting power of the surviving entity outstanding 
        immediately after such merger or consolidation; or 
 
                      6.2.4 McGrath sells or otherwise disposes (in one 
        transaction or a series of transactions) of all or substantially all of 
        its assets, other than to a corporation owned directly or indirectly by 
        the stockholders of MCGRATH in substantially the same proportions as 
        their ownership of stock of MCGRATH. 
 
        7. INVESTMENT INTENT. 
 
               7.1 Doe's Representations. As a condition to accepting this 
OPTION, and as a condition to its exercise, DOE makes the following 
representations and agreements, and represents, warrants and agrees that he will 
reaffirm such representations and agreements to be true and in full force and 
effect at and as of the time of any exercise of this OPTION: 
 
                      7.1.1 DOE has, by reason of DOE's business or financial 
        experience, the capacity to evaluate the merits and risks of an 
        investment in MCGRATH and to protect his interest in connection with the 
        issuance of this Option and the purchase of any OPTION SHARES. 
 
                      7.1.2 DOE is aware of MCGRATH's business affairs and 
        financial condition and has had access to such information about MCGRATH 
        as DOE has deemed necessary or desirable to reach an informed and 
        knowledgeable decision to acquire this OPTION and the OPTION SHARES. DOE 
        will purchase the OPTION SHARES for investment for his own account only 
        and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any 
        "distribution" thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 
        ("SECURITIES ACT"). 
 
                      7.1.3 DOE understands that this OPTION and the OPTION 
        SHARES have not been registered under the SECURITIES ACT by reason of a 
        specific exemption therefrom, which exemption depends upon, among other 
        things, the bona fide nature of his investment intent as expressed 
        herein. In this connection, DOE understands that, in the view of the 
        Securities and Exchange Commission ("COMMISSION"), the statutory basis 
        for such exemption may not be present if Doe's representation meant that 
        his present intention was to hold the OPTION SHARES for a minimum 
        capital gains period under the tax statutes, for a deferred sale, for a 
        market rise, for a sale if the market does not rise, or for a year or 
        any other fixed period in the future. 
 
                      7.1.4 DOE further acknowledges and agrees that the OPTION 
        SHARES must be held indefinitely unless they are subsequently registered 
        under the SECURITIES ACT or  
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        an exemption from such registration is available. DOE further 
        acknowledges and understands that MCGRATH is under no obligation to 
        register the OPTION SHARES. 
 
                      7.1.5 DOE is aware of the adoption of Rule 144 by the 
        COMMISSION, promulgated under the SECURITIES ACT, which (1) after one 
        year from the date the securities have been purchased and fully paid 
        for, permits limited public resale of securities acquired in a 
        non-public offering subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, 
        and (ii) after two years from the date the securities have been 
        purchased and fully paid for, permits persons who are not affiliates of 
        the issuer to sell an unlimited number of securities without 
        satisfaction of such conditions. 
 
                      7.1.6 DOE further acknowledges and understands that 
        MCGRATH may not be satisfying the current public information requirement 
        of Rule 144 at the time he wishes to sell the OPTION SHARES, and, if so, 
        DOE would be precluded from selling the OPTION SHARES under Rule 144 
        even if the one or two-year minimum holding periods had been satisfied. 
 
                      7.1.7 DOE further acknowledges that in the event all of 
        the requirements of Rule 144 are not met, compliance with Regulation A 
        or some other exemption from registration will be required, and that 
        although Rule 144 is not exclusive, the Staff of the COMMISSION has 
        expressed its opinion that persons proposing to sell private placement 
        securities other than in a registered offering and other than pursuant 
        to Rule 144 will have a substantial burden of proof in establishing that 
        an exemption from registration is available for such offers or sales and 
        that such persons and the brokers who participate in the transactions do 
        so at their own risk. 
 
               7.2 Legends. MCGRATH may place on the certificates evincing the 
OPTION SHARES appropriate legends referring to the restrictions on transfer set 
forth in Section 7.1 above and as may be required by the California Commissioner 
of Corporations. DOE understands that all certificates for OPTION SHARES may 
bear the following legend: 
 
        THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR THE 
        PURCHASER'S OWN ACCOUNT ONLY AND NOT WITH A VIEW TO, OR FOR RESALE IN 
        CONNECTION WITH, ANY DISTRIBUTION THEREOF. NO SALE OR DISPOSITION OF 
        THESE SHARES MAY BE EFFECTED WITHOUT (1) REGISTRATION OF SUCH SALE OR 
        DISPOSITION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND (2) 
        QUALIFICATION OF SUCH SALE OR DISPOSITION UNDER THE CALIFORNIA CORPORATE 
        SECURITIES LAW OF 1968, AS AMENDED, OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL 
        SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT SUCH REGISTRATION AND QUALIFICATION ARE 
        NOT REQUIRED UNDER THOSE ACTS. 
 
        8. RIGHTS NOT CONFERRED. This OPTION shall not confer upon DOE any right 
with respect to continuation of his position as a director of MCGRATH. 
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        9. NON-TRANSFERABLE. The OPTION evinced by this Agreement is not 
transferable otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution 
and shall be exercisable during DOE's lifetime only by DOE or DOE's duly 
appointed guardian or personal representative. Subject to the foregoing, this 
Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of any successors 
or assigns of MCGRATH and, to the extent herein provided, shall be binding upon 
and inure to the benefit of DOE's successors. 
 
                                       MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
 
 
                                       By 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
                                          Robert P. McGrath, Chief Executive 
                                          Officer 
 
 
 
 
                                        ---------------------------------------- 
                                        JOHN DOE 
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                                                                       EXHIBIT A 
 
 
To:     McGRATH RENTCORP 
        5700 Las Positas Road 
        Livermore, CA 94550 
 
        Attn:  Chief Financial Officer 
 
        Subject:  Notice of Intention to Exercise Stock Option 
 
        With respect to the stock option granted to John Doe on ______________ , 
1998 to purchase an aggregate of _____________ Thousand (_________) shares of 
MCGRATH's Common Stock as evinced by the Director's Non-Qualified Incentive 
Stock Option Agreement dated __________________ , 1998, this is official notice 
that the undersigned intends to exercise such option to purchase shares as 
follows: 
 
               Number of Shares:__________________ 
 
               Date of Purchase:__________________ 
 
               Mode of Payment:___________________ 
 
        In connection with such exercise, the undersigned hereby reaffirms that 
the representations and agreements set forth in Section 7.1 of the Agreement 
evincing such option are now and will be at and as of the time of such exercise 
true and in full force and effect with respect to the shares purchased. 
 
        The shares should be issued as follows: 
 
               Name:____________________________________________ 
 
               Address:_________________________________________ 
 
                       _________________________________________ 
 
                       _________________________________________ 
 
 
 
               Social Security Number:__________________________ 
 
 
 
 
                                    Signed:_____________________________________ 
 
                                    Date:_______________________________________ 
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 10.4 
 
 
 
                      OPTIONS GRANTED TO BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                    NUMBER OF       EXERCISE 
NAME                     GRANT DATE                  OPTIONS          PRICE 
                                                          
Jack Brooks              June 11, 1998               10,000       $   20.2500 
 
Ron Zech                 June 11, 1998               10,000       $   20.2500 
 
Bill Dawson              August 17, 1998             10,000       $   20.6875 
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 10.5 
 
                                MCGRATH RENTCORP 
                            INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT 
 
        This Agreement is entered into, effective as of October 1, 1997, between 
McGrath RentCorp, a California corporation, and                  ("Indemnitee"). 
 
        Whereas, it is essential to McGrath RentCorp to retain and attract, as 
directors, officers and other agents, the most capable persons available; and 
 
        Whereas, Indemnitee is a director and/or officer or other agent of 
McGrath RentCorp; and 
 
        Whereas, both McGrath RentCorp and Indemnitee recognize the increased 
risk of litigation and other claims currently being asserted against directors, 
officers and other agents of corporations; and 
 
        Whereas, in recognition of Indemnitee's need for substantial protection 
against personal liability in order to enhance Indemnitee's continued and 
effective service to McGrath RentCorp, and in order to induce Indemnitee to 
provide services to McGrath RentCorp as a director, officer or other agent, 
McGrath RentCorp desires to provide in this Agreement for the indemnification 
of, and the advancing of expenses to, Indemnitee to the fullest extent (whether 
partial or complete) permitted by law and as set forth in this Agreement and, to 
the extent insurance is maintained, for the coverage of Indemnitee under McGrath 
RentCorp's directors' and officers' liability insurance policies; 
 
        Now, therefore, in consideration of the above premises and of Indemnitee 
continuing to serve McGrath RentCorp directly or, at its request, with another 
enterprise, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties agree as 
follows: 
 
                             1. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS 
 
        As used in this Agreement, the capitalized terms listed below shall have 
the meaning ascribed to them as follows: 
 
        1.1 "BOARD" means the Board of Directors of McGrath RentCorp. 
 
        1.2 A "CHANGE IN CONTROL" shall be deemed to have occurred if: 
 
               1.2.1 at any time after the effective date of this Agreement, any 
        "person" (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the 
        Securities Act of 1934, as amended), other than a trustee or other 
        fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of McGrath 
        RentCorp or a corporation owned directly or indirectly by the 
        stockholders of McGrath RentCorp in substantially the same proportions 
        as their ownership of stock of McGrath RentCorp, becomes the "Beneficial 
        Owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under said Act), directly or 
        indirectly, of securities of McGrath RentCorp representing 30% or more 
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        of the total voting power represented by McGrath RentCorp's then 
        outstanding Voting Securities; or 1.2.2 during any period of two 
        consecutive years after the effective date of this Agreement (or if two 
        years have not elapsed since the effective date of this Agreement, such 
        shorter period), individuals who at the beginning of such period 
        constitute the Board and any new director whose election by the Board or 
        nomination for election by McGrath RentCorp's stockholders was approved 
        by a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then still in 
        office, who either were directors at the beginning of the period or 
        whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved, 
        cease for any reason to constitute a majority thereof; or 
 
               1.2.3 anytime after the effective date of this Agreement, the 
        stockholders of McGrath RentCorp approve a merger or consolidation of 
        McGrath RentCorp with any other corporation, other than a merger or 
        consolidation which results in the Voting Securities of McGrath RentCorp 
        outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by 
        remaining outstanding or by being converted into Voting Securities of 
        the surviving entity) at least 80% of the total voting power represented 
        by the Voting Securities of McGrath RentCorp or such surviving entity 
        outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation and such plan 
        of merger or consolidation is not abandoned or otherwise terminated 
        before completion; or 
 
               1.2.4 anytime after the effective date of this Agreement, the 
        stockholders of McGrath RentCorp approve a plan of complete liquidation 
        of McGrath RentCorp or an agreement for the sale or disposition by 
        McGrath RentCorp (in one transaction or a series of transactions) of all 
        or substantially all of McGrath RentCorp's assets and such plan or 
        agreement is not abandoned or otherwise terminated before completion. 
 
        1.3 "EXPENSES" means any expense, liability, or loss, including 
attorneys' fees, judgments, fines, ERISA excise taxes and penalties, amounts 
paid or to be paid in settlement, any interest, assessments, or other charges 
imposed thereon, and any federal, state, local, or foreign taxes imposed as a 
result of the actual or deemed receipt of any payments under this Agreement, 
paid or incurred in connection with investigating, defending, being a witness 
in, or participating in (including on appeal), or preparing for any of the 
foregoing in, any Proceeding relating to any Indemnifiable Event. 
 
        1.4 An "INDEMNIFIABLE EVENT" is any event or occurrence which takes 
place either prior to or after the execution of this Agreement, related to the 
fact Indemnitee: 
 
                1.4.1 is or was a director, an officer or other agent of McGrath 
RentCorp; or 
 
                1.4.2 while a director, officer or other agent is or was serving 
        at the request of McGrath RentCorp as a director, officer, employee, 
        trustee, agent, or fiduciary of another foreign or domestic corporation, 
        partnership, joint venture, employee benefit plan, trust, or other 
        enterprise; or 
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                1.4.3 is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of a 
        foreign or domestic corporation which is a predecessor corporation of 
        McGrath RentCorp or of another enterprise at the request of such 
        predecessor corporation; and 
 
related to anything done or not done by Indemnitee in any such capacity, whether 
or not the basis of the Proceeding is alleged action in an official capacity as 
a director, officer, employee, or agent or in any other capacity while serving 
as a director, officer, employee, or agent of McGrath RentCorp, as described in 
clauses 1.4.1 through 1.4.3 above. 
 
        1.5 "INDEPENDENT COUNSEL" is an attorney, law firm or member of a law 
firm, experienced in matters of corporate law, selected by McGrath RentCorp and 
approved by Indemnitee (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld), and 
who has not otherwise performed services for McGrath RentCorp, Indemnitee or any 
other party to the Proceeding giving rise to a claim for indemnification 
hereunder (other than in connection with other indemnification matters) within 
the last five years; provided, however, Independent Counsel shall not include 
any person or entity who, under the applicable standards of professional conduct 
then prevailing, would have a conflict of interest in representing either 
McGrath RentCorp or Indemnitee in an action to determine Indemnitee's rights 
under this Agreement. 
 
        1.6 A "PROCEEDING" is any threatened, pending, or completed action, 
suit, or proceeding, or any inquiry, hearing, or investigation, whether 
conducted by McGrath RentCorp or any other party, Indemnitee in good faith 
believes might lead to the institution of any such action, suit, or proceeding, 
whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or other. 
 
        1.7 The "REVIEWING PARTY" is any appropriate person or body consisting 
of a member or members of the Board or any other person or body appointed by the 
Board, none of which is a party to the particular Proceeding with respect to 
which Indemnitee is seeking indemnification; provided, however, after a Change 
in Control (other than a Change in Control approved by a majority of directors 
on the Board who were directors immediately prior to such Change in Control), 
the Reviewing Party shall be Independent Counsel. 
 
        1.8 "VOTING SECURITIES" are any securities of McGrath RentCorp which 
vote generally in the election of directors. 
 
                            2. AGREEMENT TO INDEMNIFY 
 
        2.1  GENERAL AGREEMENT. 
 
               2.1.1 In the event Indemnitee was, is, or becomes a party to, or 
witness or other participant in, or is threatened to be made a party to, or 
witness or other participant in, a Proceeding by reason of (or arising in part 
out of) an Indemnifiable Event, McGrath RentCorp shall indemnify Indemnitee from 
and against any and all Expenses to the fullest extent permitted by law, as the 
same exists or may hereafter be amended or interpreted (but in the case of any 
such amendment or interpretation, only to the extent such amendment or 
interpretation permits McGrath RentCorp to provide broader indemnification 
rights than were permitted prior thereto). 
 
 
 
                                      -3- 
 



   4 
 
 
               2.1.2 The rights to receive indemnification and the advancement 
of Expenses under this Agreement are not exclusive of any other rights to which 
Indemnitee may be entitled or subsequently entitled under any statute, McGrath 
RentCorp's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, by vote of the shareholders or 
the Board, or otherwise. To the extent a change in applicable law (whether by 
statute or judicial decision) or the Bylaws permits greater indemnification than 
is currently provided for an Indemnifiable Event, it is the intent of the 
parties that Indemnitee shall be entitled to such greater indemnification under 
this Agreement. 
 
        2.2 PARTIAL INDEMNIFICATION. If Indemnitee is entitled under any 
provision of this Agreement to indemnification by McGrath RentCorp for some or a 
portion of Expenses, but not, however, for the total amount thereof, McGrath 
RentCorp shall nevertheless indemnify Indemnitee for the portion thereof to 
which Indemnitee is entitled. 
 
        2.3 PROHIBITED INDEMNIFICATION. Subject only to Section 2.4 below, if 
applicable, no indemnification nor Expense Advance pursuant to this Agreement 
shall be paid by McGrath RentCorp: 
 
               2.3.1 In connection with any Proceeding initiated by Indemnitee 
        against McGrath RentCorp or any director or officer of McGrath RentCorp 
        unless: (a) McGrath RentCorp has joined in, or the Board has consented 
        to, the initiation of such Proceeding; (b) the Proceeding is one to 
        enforce indemnification rights under Section 6; or (c) the Proceeding is 
        instituted after a Change in Control and Independent Counsel has 
        approved its initiation; 
 
               2.3.2 On account of any Proceeding in which judgment is rendered 
        against Indemnitee for an accounting of profits made from the purchase 
        or sale by Indemnitee of securities of McGrath RentCorp pursuant to the 
        provisions of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
        amended, or similar provisions of any federal, state, or local laws; 
 
               2.3.3 To the extent Indemnitee settles or otherwise disposes of a 
        Proceeding or causes the settlement or disposal of a Proceeding without 
        McGrath RentCorp's express prior written consent (which shall not be 
        unreasonably withheld) unless Indemnitee receives court approval for 
        such settlement or other disposition where McGrath RentCorp had the 
        opportunity to oppose Indemnitee's request for such court approval or 
        the settlement is approved by Independent Counsel; 
 
               2.3.4 With regard to any judicial award if McGrath RentCorp was 
        not given a reasonable and timely opportunity, at its expense, to 
        participate in the defense of such action unless McGrath RentCorp's 
        participation in such Proceeding was barred by this Agreement or the 
        court in such Proceeding; nor 
 
               2.3.5 For any acts, omissions, transactions or circumstances for 
        which indemnification is prohibited by applicable state or federal law. 
 
For the convenience of Indemnitee, copies of Sections 204(a) and Section 317 of 
the California Corporations Code, the principal provisions which limit 
Indemnitee's right to indemnification, are provided to Indemnitee with this 
Agreement. Indemnitee is cautioned that indemnification may be  
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further limited by any changes to such laws or any other applicable law. McGrath 
RentCorp IS NOT OBLIGATED TO NOTIFY INDEMNITEE OF ANY SUCH CHANGES; further, 
McGrath RentCorp and Indemnitee are advised that the Securities and Exchange 
Commission believes indemnification for liabilities arising under federal 
securities laws is against public policy and is, therefore, unenforceable. 
 
        2.4 MANDATORY INDEMNIFICATION. Notwithstanding any other provision of 
this Agreement, to the extent Indemnitee has been successful on the merits 
(within the meaning of Section 317(d) of the California Corporations Code) in 
defense of any Proceeding relating in whole or in part to an Indemnifiable Event 
or in defense of any issue or matter therein, Indemnitee shall be indemnified 
against all Expenses incurred in connection therewith. 
 
                               3. EXPENSE ADVANCES 
 
        3.1 ADVANCE OF EXPENSES TO INDEMNITEE. Expenses incurred by Indemnitee 
in any Proceeding for which indemnification may be sought under this Agreement 
shall be advanced by McGrath RentCorp to Indemnitee within 20 days after receipt 
by McGrath RentCorp of a statement or statements from Indemnitee requesting such 
advance and reasonably evidencing the Expenses incurred by Indemnitee (an 
"Expense Advance"). Any dispute as to whether and to what extent Indemnitee 
shall be entitled to an Expense Advance shall be determined by the Reviewing 
Party upon submission by Indemnitee or McGrath RentCorp, and the provisions of 
Sections 6.2 through 6.4 below shall apply. 
 
        3.2 REPAYMENT OF EXPENSES BY INDEMNITEE. If it is ultimately determined 
that Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by McGrath RentCorp, 
Indemnitee hereby agrees to repay any amounts advanced by McGrath RentCorp under 
Section 3.1 above. Indemnitee agrees to execute any further agreements regarding 
the repayment of Expenses as McGrath RentCorp may reasonably request prior to 
receiving any such advance. Ultimate determination as to whether or not 
Indemnitee is entitled to be indemnified shall be made in accordance with 
Section 6 below. 
 
                   4. INDEPENDENT COUNSEL; THE REVIEWING PARTY 
 
        4.1 WRITTEN OPINIONS. Any opinion required in this Agreement to be given 
by the Reviewing Party or by Independent Counsel shall be given in writing to 
McGrath RentCorp and Indemnitee. 
 
        4.2 EXPENSES OF INDEPENDENT COUNSEL. McGrath RentCorp agrees to bear the 
reasonable fees and expenses of Independent Counsel, irrespective of the 
determination as to Indemnitee's entitlement to indemnification. McGrath 
RentCorp further agrees to indemnify such counsel fully against any and all 
expenses (including attorneys' fees), claims, liabilities, losses and damages 
arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the engagement of such 
Independent Counsel pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
                    5. NOTIFICATION AND DEFENSE OF PROCEEDING 
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        5.1 NOTICE OF CLAIM. Indemnitee shall give written notice to McGrath 
RentCorp promptly after Indemnitee has actual knowledge of any Proceeding as to 
which indemnity may be sought under this Agreement. The failure of Indemnitee to 
give notice, as provided in this Section 5.1, shall not relieve McGrath RentCorp 
of its obligations to provide indemnification under this Agreement; however, the 
amounts to which Indemnitee may be indemnified shall be reduced to the extent 
McGrath RentCorp may have been prejudiced by such failure. 
 
        5.2 DEFENSE. With respect to any Proceeding, McGrath RentCorp will be 
entitled to participate in the Proceeding at its own expense. Except as 
otherwise provided below, to the extent McGrath RentCorp so desires, it may 
assume the defense of any Proceeding with counsel reasonably satisfactory to 
Indemnitee. However, McGrath RentCorp shall not be entitled to assume the 
defense of any Proceeding (1) brought by McGrath RentCorp, or (2) as to which 
Indemnitee has reasonably determined there may be a conflict of interest between 
Indemnitee and McGrath RentCorp in the defense of the Proceeding and Indemnitee 
does in fact assume and conduct the defense. 
 
               5.2.1 If McGrath RentCorp assumes the defense, Indemnitee shall 
furnish such information regarding Indemnitee or the Proceeding in question, as 
McGrath RentCorp may reasonably request and as may be required in connection 
with the defense or settlement of such Proceeding and shall fully cooperate with 
McGrath RentCorp in every other respect. Except as provided in Section 5.3 
below, if McGrath RentCorp assumes the defense of the Proceeding, McGrath 
RentCorp shall take all necessary steps in good faith to defend, settle or 
otherwise dispose of the Proceeding. 
 
               5.2.2 After notice from McGrath RentCorp to Indemnitee of its 
election to assume the defense of any Proceeding, McGrath RentCorp will not be 
liable to Indemnitee under this Agreement or otherwise for any Expenses 
subsequently incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the defense of such 
Proceeding other than reasonable costs of investigation or as otherwise provided 
in clauses (i) through (iv) below. Indemnitee shall have the right to employ 
Indemnitee's own counsel in such Proceeding, but all Expenses related thereto 
incurred after notice from McGrath RentCorp of its assumption of the defense 
shall be at Indemnitee's expense, unless: (i) the employment of counsel by 
Indemnitee has been authorized by McGrath RentCorp; (ii) Indemnitee has 
reasonably determined there may be a conflict of interest between Indemnitee and 
McGrath RentCorp in the defense of the Proceeding, but Indemnitee does not, in 
fact, assume and conduct the defense; (iii) after a Change in Control, the 
employment of counsel by Indemnitee has been approved by Independent Counsel; or 
(iv) McGrath RentCorp shall not, in fact, assume and conduct the defense of such 
Proceeding. 
 
               5.2.3 Any Expenses incurred by McGrath RentCorp in defense of the 
Proceeding under this Section 5.2 (except in a situation described in clause 
(i), (ii) or (iv) of Section 5.2.2.) shall be considered Expenses advanced by 
McGrath RentCorp to Indemnitee under Section 3 above. 
 
        5.3 LIMITATION ON MCGRATH RENTCORP'S DISPOSITION OF ANY PROCEEDING. 
McGrath RentCorp may consent to a settlement or other disposition of all or any 
part of any Proceeding which McGrath RentCorp is defending under Section 5.2 
above without first obtaining the written  
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consent of Indemnitee, provided such settlement or other disposition does not 
cause Indemnitee to lose any material right to indemnification under this 
Agreement. 
 
                      6. INDEMNIFICATION PROCESS AND APPEAL 
 
        6.1  INITIAL REQUEST AND DETERMINATION. 
 
               6.1.1 To obtain indemnification under this Agreement, upon final 
resolution of the Proceeding for which indemnity is claimed hereunder, 
Indemnitee shall submit to McGrath RentCorp a written request for 
indemnification, including such documentation and information as is reasonably 
available to Indemnitee and is reasonably necessary to determine whether and to 
what extent Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification. A determination as to 
whether and to what extent the requested indemnification is proper shall be made 
by the Reviewing Party within sixty (60) days after receipt of such written 
request. 
 
               6.1.2 McGrath RentCorp may initiate a determination from the 
Reviewing Party as to whether and to what extent Indemnitee is entitled to 
indemnification at any time after final resolution of the Proceeding for which 
indemnity is claimed hereunder, subject to Indemnitee's rights to require such 
determination within a 60-day period. 
 
               6.1.3 Indemnitee shall cooperate with the Reviewing Party making 
the determination with respect to Indemnitee's entitlement to indemnification, 
including providing to such person(s) or entity any documentation or information 
which is not privileged or otherwise protected from disclosure and which is 
reasonably available to Indemnitee and reasonably necessary for such 
determination. All reasonable Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in so cooperating 
with the person(s) or entity making such determination shall be borne by McGrath 
RentCorp, irrespective of the determination as to Indemnitee's entitlement to 
indemnification. 
 
        6.2 SUIT TO ENFORCE RIGHTS. Regardless of any action or inaction by the 
Reviewing Party, if Indemnitee has not received advancement of Expenses, as 
described in Section 3 above, or full indemnification within sixty days after 
making a demand in accordance with Section 6.1 above, Indemnitee shall have the 
right to enforce his indemnification rights under this Agreement by commencing 
litigation in any court in the State of California having subject matter 
jurisdiction thereof and in which venue is proper seeking an initial 
determination by the court or challenging any determination by the Reviewing 
Party or any aspect thereof. Likewise, McGrath RentCorp may seek an initial 
determination by the court or challenge any determination by the Reviewing Party 
in the manner set forth above. McGrath RentCorp and Indemnitee each hereby 
consent to service of process and to appear in any such proceeding. Any 
determination by the Reviewing Party not challenged by Indemnitee or McGrath 
RentCorp through legal action within two years after final resolution of the 
Proceeding shall be binding on McGrath RentCorp and Indemnitee. The remedy 
provided for in this Section 6 shall be in addition to any other remedies 
available to Indemnitee or McGrath RentCorp in law or equity. 
 
        6.3 DEFENSE TO INDEMNIFICATION, BURDEN OF PROOF, PRESUMPTIONS AND 
EQUITABLE RELIEF. 
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               6.3.1 It shall be a defense to any action brought by Indemnitee 
or McGrath RentCorp concerning enforceability of this Agreement that it is not 
permissible under applicable law for McGrath RentCorp to indemnify Indemnitee 
for the amount claimed. 
 
               6.3.2 In connection with any such action or any determination by 
the Reviewing Party or otherwise as to whether Indemnitee is entitled to be 
indemnified hereunder, the burden of proving such a defense or determination 
shall be on McGrath RentCorp. 
 
               6.3.3 Neither the failure of the Reviewing Party or McGrath 
RentCorp (including its Board, Independent Counsel, or its stockholders) to have 
made a determination prior to the commencement of such action by Indemnitee that 
indemnification of the claimant is proper under the circumstances because he has 
met the standard of conduct set forth in applicable law, nor an actual 
determination by the Reviewing Party or McGrath RentCorp (including its Board, 
Independent Counsel, or its stockholders) that Indemnitee has not met such 
applicable standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create a 
presumption Indemnitee has not met the applicable standard of conduct. 
 
               6.3.4 For purposes of this Agreement, the termination of any 
claim, action, suit or proceeding, by judgment, order, settlement (whether with 
or without court approval), conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere, or 
its equivalent, shall not create a presumption Indemnitee did not meet any 
particular standard of conduct or have any particular belief or that a court has 
determined indemnification is not permitted by applicable law. 
 
               6.3.5 McGrath RentCorp agrees that its failure to make 
indemnification payments or Expense Advances to Indemnitee shall cause 
irreparable damage to Indemnitee, the exact amount of which is impossible to 
ascertain, and for this reason agrees that Indemnitee shall be entitled to such 
injunctive or other equitable relief as shall be necessary to adequately provide 
for such reasonably anticipated payments, said right to be in addition to all 
other rights or remedies available to Indemnitee hereunder. 
 
        6.4 INDEMNIFICATION FOR EXPENSES INCURRED IN ENFORCING RIGHTS. McGrath 
RentCorp shall indemnify Indemnitee against any and all Expenses incurred by 
Indemnitee in connection with any claim asserted against or action brought by 
Indemnitee against McGrath RentCorp for: 
 
               6.4.1 indemnification of Expenses or payment of Expense Advances 
        by McGrath RentCorp under this Agreement or any other agreement or under 
        applicable law or McGrath RentCorp's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws 
        now or hereafter in effect relating to indemnification for Indemnifiable 
        Events; or 
 
               6.4.2 recovery under directors' and officers' liability insurance 
        policies maintained by McGrath RentCorp; 
 
provided, however, McGrath RentCorp shall be obligated to so indemnify 
Indemnitee only if Indemnitee's claim or action results in the payment of all or 
part of the indemnification of Expenses, payment of Expense Advances, or 
recovery under insurance policies sought by Indemnitee. 
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                           7. INSURANCE; SUBROGATION. 
 
        7.1 LIABILITY INSURANCE. To the extent McGrath RentCorp maintains an 
insurance policy or policies providing directors' and officers' liability 
insurance, Indemnitee shall be covered by such policy or policies, in accordance 
with its or their terms, to the maximum extent of the coverage available for any 
Company director or officer. 
 
        7.2 NO DUPLICATION OF PAYMENTS. McGrath RentCorp shall not be liable 
under this Agreement to make any payment in connection with any claim made 
against Indemnitee to the extent Indemnitee has otherwise received payment 
(under any insurance policy, Bylaw, or otherwise) of the amounts otherwise 
indemnifiable hereunder. 
 
        7.3 SUBROGATION. In the event of payment under this Agreement, McGrath 
RentCorp shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the rights 
of recovery of Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and shall do 
everything that may be necessary to secure such rights, including the execution 
of such documents necessary to enable McGrath RentCorp effectively to bring suit 
to enforce such rights. 
 
                             8. STANDARD PROVISIONS. 
 
        8.1 CONTINUING COVERAGE. The indemnification provided under this 
Agreement shall continue as to Indemnitee for any action taken or not taken 
while serving in an indemnified capacity pertaining to an Indemnifiable Event 
even though Indemnitee may have ceased to serve in such capacity at the time of 
any Proceeding. 
 
        8.2 REMEDIES CUMULATIVE. The rights and remedies provided in this 
Agreement and by law shall be cumulative and the exercise of any particular 
right or remedy shall not preclude the exercise of any other right or remedy in 
addition to, or as an alternative of, such right or remedy. 
 
        8.3 NOTICES. All notices, requests, demands, and other communications 
under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been fully 
given (i) on the date of service if served personally, (ii) on the date of 
transmission if sent by facsimile transmission with printed proof of electronic 
receipt, (iii) on the date of delivery if delivered by a courier service with 
proof of delivery, or (iv) on the third business day after mailing if mailed by 
first class mail, certified - return receipt requested, postage prepaid, to the 
following addresses: 
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        If to McGrath RentCorp, then to:    McGrath RentCorp 
                                            5700 Las Positas Road 
                                            Livermore, CA 94550 
                                            Attn: President 
                                            Fax:                1-510-453-3200 
 
 
        With a copy to:                     Christopher Ream, Esq. 
                                            1717 Embarcadero Road 
                                            Palo Alto, CA 94303 
                                            Fax:                1-650-857-1288 
 
 
        If to Indemnitee, then to:          ______________________ 
                                            c/o McGrath RentCorp 
                                            5700 Las Positas Road 
                                            Livermore, CA 94550 
                                            Fax:                1-510-453-3200 
 
Any party hereto may change its address set forth above for notices by giving 
notice to the other party hereto in accordance with the terms of this Section. 
 
        8.4 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. This Agreement shall be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their 
respective successors (including any direct or indirect successor by purchase, 
merger, consolidation, or otherwise to all or substantially all of the business 
and/or assets of McGrath RentCorp), assigns, spouses, heirs, and personal and 
legal representatives. McGrath RentCorp shall require and cause any successor 
(whether direct or indirect by purchase, merger, consolidation, or otherwise) to 
all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of McGrath RentCorp 
expressly to assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and 
to the same extent that McGrath RentCorp would be required to perform if no such 
succession had taken place. This Agreement may not be assigned without the prior 
written consent of the other parties hereto, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. 
 
        8.5 ENTIRE AGREEMENT; MODIFICATION; WAIVER. This Agreement constitutes 
the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject matter 
contained herein and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, 
representations and understandings of the parties. No supplement, modification 
or amendment to this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by 
the parties charged. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall 
be deemed, or shall constitute, a waiver of any other provision, whether or not 
similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver. No waiver shall be 
binding unless executed in writing the party making the waiver. 
 
        8.6  CONSTRUCTION. 
 
               8.6.1 The titles and subtitles used in this Agreement are used 
for convenience only and are not to be considered in construing or interpreting 
this Agreement. 
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               8.6.2 A reference herein to any section shall be deemed to 
include a reference to every section the number of which begins with the number 
of the section specifically referred to (e.g., a reference to Section 1.2 
includes a reference to Sections 1.2, 1.2.1, 1.2.2, 1.2.3 and 1.2.4). 
 
               8.6.3 Any reference in this Agreement to the indemnity provisions 
of the Bylaws, the California Corporations Code or to any applicable law shall 
refer to such provisions as they shall be amended from time to time or to any 
successor provision, except that any change in McGrath RentCorp's Articles of 
Incorporation or Bylaws shall only apply with respect to Indemnifiable Events 
occurring subsequent to such change. 
 
               8.6.4 Any ambiguous terms in this Agreement will not be construed 
against McGrath RentCorp for drafting this Agreement. 
 
        8.7 APPLICABLE LAW. The rights and obligations under this Agreement 
shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of 
California applicable to contracts between California residents made and to be 
performed entirely within such State. 
 
        8.8  SEVERABILITY. 
 
               8.8.1 Any provision of this Agreement, which is prohibited or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction, shall be ineffective in such jurisdiction to 
the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the 
remaining provisions of this Agreement, and any such prohibition or 
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. 
 
               8.8.2 In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this 
Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable 
in any respect, the meaning of such provision shall be construed (to the extent 
feasible) so as to render the provisions valid and enforceable, and if no 
feasible construction would save the provision, its invalidity, illegality or 
unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement; rather 
this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable 
provision had never been contained herein. 
 
        8.9 LEGAL ADVICE. INDEMNITEE IS AWARE THAT THIS AGREEMENT WAS PREPARED 
BY COUNSEL FOR MCGRATH RENTCORP. INDEMNITEE IS ADVISED TO SEEK INDEPENDENT 
COUNSEL TO REVIEW THIS AGREEMENT ON HIS BEHALF PRIOR TO THE EXECUTION OF THIS 
AGREEMENT. 
 
        In Witness Whereof, this Agreement has been entered into as of the date 
first written above. 
 
 
                                       MCGRATH RENTCORP 
 
                                       by 
- ------------------------------------      -------------------------------------- 
        [Indemnitee]                      Dennis C. Kakures, President 
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THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM MCGRATH 
RENTCORP'S QUARTERLY REPORT (10Q) FOR QUARTER ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 1998 AND IS 
QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH. 
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